
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 30th November, 2022 at 2.00 pm in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number 07833 047153. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.ukdemocratic.services@liverpool
cityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
 A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1 APOLOGIES  

   

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 29 
September 2022. 

  (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

GOVERNANCE 
 

4 AUDIT COMMITTEE FUNCTION  

 To consider a report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services and 
the Portfolio Holder for Policy, Resources and Reform.   

  (Pages 7 - 20) 

  

INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

5 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Head of Internal Audit. 

  (Pages 21 - 44) 

6 ANNUAL FRAUD UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Head of Internal Audit. 

  (Pages 45 - 126) 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

7 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Head of Internal Audit. 

  (Pages 127 - 152) 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

FINANCE 
 

8 LCRCA EXTERNAL AUDIT 21/22  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director for Corporate Services. 
 

  (Pages 153 - 334) 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Audit & Governance Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Thursday, 29th September, 2022 the 
following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

 Councillor James Hansen 
Vice-Chair of the Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Robert Austin, David Burgess-Joyce, Pat Moloney and Graham Morgan. 
  
14 APOLOGIES  
 
 Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors David Baines, Edna 
Finneran, Mike Wharton and Independent Member, Jean Gleave. 
 
15 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 There were no declarations of interest submitted. 
 
16 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 27 July 2022 were approved as an 
accurate record.   
 
17 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit which provided an 
overview of the internal audit work completed in the second quarter of 2022-23, in 
accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23. 

 
 Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, advised that the report set out the work that 
had been undertaken and included the following key points:- 
 

·  a summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 
·  details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 
·  an update on the implementation of recommendations; 
·  a summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 
·  an update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance 

indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP); and 

·  an update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

 
 Members of the Committee were given the opportunity to ask questions on the report.  
 
 Councillor Graham Morgan referred to section four on page 110, relating to gifts and 
hospitality and declarations of interest. He asked for detail on the type of risk identified during 
review. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 Councillor Morgan also referred to the twelve recommendations classed as a high 
priority, five of which were awaiting a response from Manager and asked why there was a 
delay in the response. 
 
 Laura Williams advised that the key point was that there were a number of 
improvements to the system that the audits identified as being required. The reason that a 
number of the recommendations were awaiting response was because the findings had only 
recently issued. Discussions had taken place with the relevant Managers with agreement in 
terms of the improvements to the  system that were required.  
 
 Laura Williams added that this piece of work was the only one completed within the 
period that had a moderate opinion. It was of slight concern as usually with a system like this, 
you would expect compliance to be the issue but actually there were some quite fundamental 
system issues in this instance. Some improvements to the system would be required, hence 
the number of high priority recommendations and the largest opinion to ensure that those 
issues were being highlighted. 
 
 Councillor Morgan responded, stating that Combined Authority Managers to provide 
the answers to the questions raised by Auditors in a timely manner and asked if updates 
could be included in future reports. 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce agreed with Councillor Morgan’s comments. 
 
 Councillor Burgess-Joyce referred to asset shrinkage. The organisation had many 
assets and a lot of organisations have lost a large amount of materials, particularly during the 
pandemic, electronic or otherwise. He asked if this was picked up during the audit. 
 
 Laura Williams stated that there was an element of counter fraud audit work built into 
the plan, details of which were picked up. There were two aspect to the issue. The first was 
proactive counter fraud work, being visible in the business and using that work to raise the 
profile of counter fraud issues. This work was carried very frequently and featured 
prominently. The second aspect was awareness raising around fraud, which again, was 
something that the Audit Team were heavily involved in. The fraud section of the report 
details  awareness raising with senior managers to ensure that they were aware of their 
fraud, bribery and corruption responsibilities as in theft of assets. Audit also ensure that staff 
across the business were aware of their responsibilities as well and what to do if they 
suspected any wrong doing and this was continually promoted amongst the workforce. Laura 
also added that ‘International Fraud Awareness Week’ was coming up in November, which 
was another opportunity to highlight the policies and procedures around fraud, bribery and 
corruption. There had not been any instances of theft, but the results would be relayed had 
there been any concerns in that regard. The  proactive work being undertaken provided 
assurance that the systems and processes in place were robust in order to deal with those 
situations should they arise. 
 
 Councillor Burgess-Joyce appreciated the work that was being undertaken in relation 
to fraud but commented that his question was more around the sort of physical assets of the 
organisation such as bilking and if a note of those instances had been made as the amounts 
could be considerable over the financial year.  
 
 Laura Williams advised that this would be identified through proactive counter fraud 
work should they exist, or through the reporting process which would then be investigated.  
 
 John Fogarty, Executive Director for Corporate Services added that there were 
processes in place for items of value. For example, the non-IT type assets principally around 
engineering stores and mechanical stores in relation to Tunnels or Ferries, there were 
management checks and system checks and audit would look at whether those checks were 

Page 2



being carried out by the relevant Officers. Likewise, in relation to the IT inventory, there were 
systems to make it easier to track equipment, particularly portable IT equipment through 
remote monitoring systems. Again, the role of audit would be ensure that systems and 
processes were effective, not to look for missing inventory items. If those systems were not 
in place, then Laura Williams would raise it as an issue. 
 
 RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
18 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 
 The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit which provided an 
update in respect of the system of corporate risk management and the activity that had been 
undertaken in continuing to embed the system during the second quarter of 2022-23. The 
report also presented the updated Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook for 
approval. 

 
 Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, advised that the report detailed the key 
activities undertaken to embed the system of corporate risk management and included the 
following key points:- 
 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made 
since the last report; 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation; 
and 

 a summary of the key updates made to the Corporate Risk Management 
Policy and Handbook. 

 
Members of the Committee were given the opportunity to ask questions on the report. 

 
 The Vice-Chair, Councillor James Hansen referred to the current economic crisis and 
the potential for rates of fraud to increase. He asked how prepared for that was the City 
Region and also were preparations in place for the potential effects of the economic crisis 
and the potential risks to the business, particularly in relation to interest rate rises. 
 
 Laura Williams responded and stated that in terms of fraud, there had already been a 
situation of enhanced fraud risk for some time as a result of the pandemic with changes to 
ways of working. As the fraud risk had already been heightened, there was no anticipated 
change for some time. In terms of recession, economic difficulties, etc, that that risk 
continued to present itself. 
 
 Laura Williams added that as mentioned in the previous report, a considerable 
amount of time was spent on counter fraud work and fraud awareness. This focus would 
continue to ensure that across the audit work any areas of weakness would be identified or 
areas where developments may be necessary. Also, as part of the fraud awareness piece 
was around ensuring that management was also in a heightened state of awareness around 
fraud and the organisational approaches to that. Laura commented that from an audit 
perspective, a lot of time was spent concentrating on those matters and the Audit Team were 
well placed to support the organisation in that regard. 
 
 In terms of the corporate risk around financial sustainability, Laura Williams stated 
that it was mentioned three or four meetings ago and as a committee in terms of what were 
the emerging issues arising as a result of economic difficulties. There was a corporate risk 
identified around financial sustainability, which related to the points raised.  The next review 
of the Corporate Risk Register was due to commence so this may be reviewed in terms of 

Page 3



the level of risk compared to previously and whether any additional actions were required in 
relation to specific issues.  Laura indicated that the action plan currently in place for the risk 
as it has existed was well placed, but there could be further pressures. Any further public 
sector austerity would present some further challenges. There was an opportunity for these 
issues to be looked at as part of the upcoming review to ensure that the risk register was 
updated and as reflective of the activity that needed to happen to support the business 
through this period. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to page 58 of the agenda.  The performance 
for the risk register was at 88% and showing as amber. He asked what the level was 12 
months ago and what it was hoped to be shortly. 
 
 Laura Williams advised that the information for this indicator had started to be 
collected relatively recently, so the information for the previous 12 months was not available. 
She estimated that the figure would have been around the 30% or 40% mark.  There were a 
number of areas of the business that had risk registers , but not necessarily compliant with 
the policy. The aim to is to ensure that everybody was treating risk in the same way which 
allowed risks to be compared and to be measured consistently across the organisation. The 
trajectory had been very positive over the last 12 months and 100% was ultimately the aim, 
which was within our grasp. The ideal was to make sure that the quality of the risk register 
was there, which was one of the items that was brought out through the audit. Work would 
continue in that regard to ensure quality and consistency throughout the organisation. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce commended Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
and Natasha Bryan, Risk Manager for the quality of their work in relation to the risk register 
which was very impressive. 
 
 RESOLVED – That: 

 
(i) the report be noted; and 
 
(ii) the updated Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook, be approved. 

 
19 EXTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21  
 
 The Committee considered the report of the Director of Corporate Services, 
introduced by Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance which provided the final 
conclusions and findings of the Mazars, the external auditors for the audit of the annual 
accounts for 2020 21.  
 
 Mark Dalton, Senior Partner from Mazars advised the Committee that the report was 
a new style actual auditors annual report which under the new code of audit practice for 2021 
replaced the annual audit letter that the committee had received in previous years. The 
report had been discussed and agreed with management and provided a summary of the 
work undertaken by Mazars in relation to the year ending the 31st of March 2021. 
 
 Mark Dalton confirmed that on 5 November 2021 an unqualified opinion was issued 
on the Combined Authority’s financial statement which also includes a new style value for 
money commentary. 
 
 Mark Dalton drew the Committee’s attention to the following:- 
 

 Pages 111 214 of the agenda provided details of their view on arrangements 
under the three specified reporting criteria - financial sustainability, governance 
and improving the three E's; 

Page 4



 No significant weaknesses in the arrangements at the Combined authority had 
been identified and there was no requirement to raise any value for money 
recommendations; 

 This was a good outcome and overall the auditors annual report was a positive 
report for the Authority; 

 Page 117 of the agenda provided information on the fees for audit work as your 
auditors for 2021, in line with those highlighted in the audit strategy 
memorandum presented to the July committee meeting; and 

 Government had provided £15m additional funding to meet the increased costs 
with the Authority’s share being £18,730. 

 
Mark Dalton concluded that report was designed to be read by a wider audience, 

including members of the public and should be published on the Combined Authority 
website.  
 
 Members of the Committee were given the opportunity to ask questions on the report. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to page 117 of the agenda and the 
additional costs relating to enquiries from and correspondence with a local elector. He asked 
for further details. 
 
 Mark Dalton responded stating that in 2021 a number of correspondence was 
received containing a number of questions in relation to the financial statements and local 
electors are within their rights to raise questions to the external auditors as well as to the 
Authority. There were a significant number of those types of questions last year which 
required consideration and response where appropriate. It was right and proper, that as a 
result, a charge for our time associated with that. There had already been a number of 
similar requests this year so far so it was also likely that there would be some additional fees 
in the 2021/22 year. 
 
 Councillor Pat Moloney asked if the query received from the local elector was 
considered reasonable or could it be described as otherwise? 
 
 Mark Dalton stated that it was right and proper for them to consider the 
reasonableness of those questions. If there were matters of significance that that the local 
elector had raised and formal action as auditors was required, the Committee would be made 
aware, but there were no matters arising to bring to the Committee's attention. 
 
 Councillor Graham Morgan commented that it was good to see that if somebody does 
raise concerns, that they were addressed and answers are provided. He was pleased that in 
relation to value for money arrangements, no weaknesses had been identified, as well as a 
good outcome in relation to the governance arrangements. . He felt that this was a good 
outcome for the Combined Authority.  
 
 RESOLVED – That the external auditor’s report on the annual Statement of Accounts 
of the Combined Authority attached at Appendix One to the report, be noted and approved. 
 
20 EXTERNAL AUDIT 2021/22 PROGRESS UPDATE  
 
 The Committee considered the report of the Director of Corporate Services, 
introduced by Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance which provided an update on 
progress made by the external auditors, Mazars against the audit for the Combined 
Authority’s financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2022.  
 

Page 5



 Dawn Watson, Audit Manager, advised the Committee that the report covered two 
years as 2021 statements were still open. She added that Mark Dalton had covered a lot of 
the detail but an unqualified audit opinion was issued in late 2021 and there were no new 
matters to bring to the attention of the Committee. 
 
 Dawn Watson indicated that the one remaining responsibility for 2021 was the review 
of whole of government accounts. National Audit Office (NAO) group instructions had been 
received, but they were waiting on the NAO to select a sample of bodies for additional 
testing. Once advised of who needs the additional testing, completion of any work necessary 
will be undertaken and the audit certificate that formally closes the 2020-21 year can be 
issued. 
 
 In relation to 2021-22, planning and some early work was completed at the early part 
of 2022 and the Audit Strategy Memorandum was presented to the Committee in July. There 
were no changes to that plan to bring to the Committee’s attention. The audit of the financial 
statements was currently in progress and the findings from this work would be reported to the 
next Committee meeting. 
 
 Dawn Watson also advised that completion of the work was subject to a resolution of 
a national accounting issue relating to infrastructure assets. An agreed solution was awaited 
that would provide a way forward before this area could be progressed.  
 
 In terms of the 2021 -22  Value for Money commentary, Dawn Watson advised that 
the plan was to report this within three months of signing the audit opinion, in line with the 
NAO guidance. 
 
 Dawn Watson concluded by advising that there were some links to various 
publications at the back of the report which may be of interest. 
 
 RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
21 CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 
 The Committee considered the report of the Monitoring Officer which provided details 
of recent updates to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority’s Code of Corporate 
Governance. 
 
 Louise Outram, Deputy Chief Legal Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer, stated that 
the Code of Corporate Governance was an important document to ensure that the Combined 
Authority discharged its statutory duties, but also complied with best practice guidance. The 
document was attached as Appendix One to the report and had been compiled as per 
SOLACE and CIPFA guidance.  The document also highlighted the Nolan principles, 
affirmed their importance to support compliance and adherence as indicated in the 
SOLACE/CIPFA guidance.  
 
 RESOLVED – That the updated Code of Corporate Governance, be approved. 

 
 
Minutes 14 to 21 received as a correct record on the 30 day of November 2022. 
 
 

 

Chair of the Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 10.31 am)

Page 6



 
Report Title 

 
Audit Committee Function 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  None, for information only. 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 

Is this a Key Decision No 
 

Is the report urgent? No 
 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call-in 
 

N/A 

Local Authorities affected  All Constituent Local Authorities 
 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Delegation(s) sought  None 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region   

A Stronger City Region   

A Cleaner City Region   

A Connected City Region   

A Vibrant City Region  

 
Climate Change Implications 
 

 
No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes  see paragraph 4.1 

Risk and Mitigation implications Yes see paragraph 4.2 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 

Louise Outram, Secretary to  Merseytravel  
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
louise.outram@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 

Appendices 
 

Yes  

Background Documents No 
 

 
  

Page 8

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:louise.outram@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

Liverpool City Region Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 30 November 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services  
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE FUNCTION  
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 Merseytravel took the decision to remove its Audit, Risk and Governance Board and 

to establish new arrangements at its meeting on 8 August 2022. 
 
1.2 This report details the background to this decision and the governance 

arrangements agreed by the Combined Authority to fulfil the functions that were 
carried out by the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Audit & Governance Committee note the contents of this 

report and the revised terms of reference as agreed by the Combined Authority. 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 The Combined Authority at its meeting on 14 October 2022 approved proposals to 

merge audit and governance arrangements for both the Combined Authority and 
Merseytravel.  Such an approach will provide for improved transparency and 
efficiency for both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel.  The arrangements 
enable the Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee to have oversight 
of  governance relating to the two statutory entities (Combined Authority and 
Merseytravel), including internal control, risk management and financial 
management, to inform decision making. 

 
3.2 Prior to the election of the Metro Mayor to the Combined Authority, Merseytravel as 

a statutory body had established its own arrangements for assurance over its 
internal controls, risk and financial management and governance.  These 
arrangements took place in the form of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board 
(ARG Board). 

 
3.3 The ARG Board met regularly on a quarterly basis and made an effective 

contribution and provided assurance to Merseytravel. 
 
3.4 Members will appreciate that Merseytravel is deemed, through the Combined 

Authority Constitution, to be an officer of the Combined Authority whilst it maintains 
a statutory status as a Passenger Transport Executive and is a distinct Executive 
body/legal entity.    

 
3.5 Now that the Combined Authority has become fully established in the conduct of its 

own internal control and governance arrangements, officers considered it timely to 
review the arrangements for Merseytravel.   

Page 9



 
3.6 Whilst there remains a clear legal distinction between the Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel, the internal control framework and risk management arrangements 
are blended.  The legal entities share their Corporate Services, which includes 
Internal Audit, Legal and Finance services. 

 
3.7 Merseytravel therefore took the decision on 8 August 2022 that the ARG Board 

should be removed.  Merseytravel also made a recommendation to seek the 
approval of the Combined Authority for its Audit and Governance Committee to 
extend its remit to have oversight of Merseytravel matters of audit, risk, governance 
and finance to inform Merseytravel in its role as decision-maker (“those charged 
with governance”).  

 
3.8 The Combined Authority considered the proposed changes on 14 October 2022 and 

approved the broadening of the remit of the Audit and Governance Committee and 
the associated changes to the Constitution. The Combined Authority recognised 
that the reports received by the Committee already contained information relating to 
Merseytravel. 

 
3.9 In making this change, the Combined Authority recognised the importance of 

ensuring that the skills, knowledge and competence of the Audit and Governance 
Committee are optimised.  Therefore, a programme of investment in training for 
Committee members is underway, culminating in establishing a self-assessment of 
Audit and Governance Committee effectiveness, which will foster a regime of 
continuous development and improvement.   

 
3.9 The amended Terms of Reference for the Audit and Governance Committee are 

shown at Appendix A.  These reflect the suggested broader role for the Committee 
in providing oversight of Merseytravel matters and also take the opportunity to 
complete their alignment with best practice for the sector, as detailed in the CIPFA 
document “Audit Committees: Practical Guidance”. 

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Legal Implications 
 
 There is no requirement in law for Merseytravel to have an audit committee.  

However, the proposal to merge existing audit committee arrangements promotes 
best practice, transparency and efficiency.  Furthermore, the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS) mandate that all such public sector bodies should have an 
audit committee function that is independent of executive functions.   
 

 The Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee would not take on any 
additional decision-making role in respect of Merseytravel matters, as this would be 
contrary to the Transport Act 1968.   

 
4.2 Risks and Mitigation 
 
 There is a risk that the skills and competence of the Audit and Governance 

Committee are not sufficient to enable it to exercise its role effectively.  A 
programme of training sessions, culminating in an annual self-assessment, reported 
to the Committee and supported by an action plan, is intended to support the 

Page 10



development of the Committee and reduce this risk.  The expansion of the 
Committee to include an additional independent member is intended to strengthen 
the membership further and broaden its knowledge and experience. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The removal of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board of Merseytravel provides an 

opportunity to strengthen the governance of the whole organisation by encouraging 
Audit and Governance Committee oversight of the internal control, governance and 
risk management framework, and strengthening the assurance provided to 
Merseytravel. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate 
Services   

METRO MAYOR S. ROTHERAM 
Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources  

 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Audit and Governance Committee approved  Terms of Reference  
 
Background Documents:  
 
None  
 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

 

PART 3 – SECTION E 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

CONTENTS 

 

 

No.   Section 

1.   Membership 

2.   Chairing the Committee 

3.   Appointment 

4.   Quorum 

5.   Meeting and Procedures 

6.   Delegation 

7.   Statement of Purpose 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



E. AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

1. Membership 

1.1 The Audit and Governance Committee will be composed of 7 Members as follows:- 

(a) 6 elected Members from the voting Members of the Combined Authority and the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and 

(b) 1 Independent Member. 

 

2 Chair of the Committee 

2.1 The Chair shall be appointed annually from amongst the voting membership of the 

Committee at its first meeting following the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority and 

before proceeding to other business. 

 

3 Appointment 

3.1 The Combined Authority shall appoint an Audit and Governance Committee at the 

Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, which shall consist of:- 

 

(a) Members appointed from the voting Members of:- 

(i) Combined Authority; and 

(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with 

(iii) another elected voting Member as a Substitute Member of the Audit and Governance 

Committee to act in the absence of the Member appointed above, in such a manner that the 

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee taken as a whole will reflect, so far as 

reasonably practicable, the balance of political parties for the time being prevailing among 

Members of the Constituent Councils when taken together. 

 

(b) at least one Independent Person, to be appointed through the prescribed procedure and 

who:- 

(i) is not a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of the Combined Authority; 

(ii) is not a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of a Parish Council for which the Combined 

Authority is the Principal Authority; 

(iii) is not a relative, or close friend, of a person within sub-paragraph (i) or (ii); and 

(iv) was not at any time during the 5 years ending with an appointment:- 

(1) a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of the Combined Authority;  

(2) a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of a Parish Council for which the Combined 

Authority is the principal authority; and 

 

Page 14



(c) such non-voting Members may be Co-opted from other organisations in such manner and 

at such times as the Audit and Governance Committee may decide. 

 

4 Quorum. 

4.1 No business of the Audit and Governance Committee shall be transacted unless at least 

two-thirds of the voting Members are present. 

 

5 Meetings and Procedure 

5.1 The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny 

Arrangements, meeting Standing Orders, access to information rules and other Standing 

Orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

6 Delegation 

6.1 The Committee may establish such Sub-Committees, Panels and ad-hoc Task and 

Finish Groups as it considers expedient to assist it. 

 

7 Statement of Purpose 

7.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined Authority’s 

Corporate Governance Arrangements. Its main objectives are to:- 

 provide an independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance and 

reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and financial standards; 

 provide independent assurance to the Combined Authority and Merseytravel of 

the adequacy of governance, risk management, internal control and financial 

management. It provides independent review of the Combined Authority’s and 

Merseytravel’s governance, risk management and internal control and oversees 

internal audit and external audit, helping to ensure that efficient and effective 

assurance arrangements are in place; and 

 promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Combined Authority 

Members. 

 

8 Functions 

8.1 The Combined Authority has delegated to the Audit and Governance Committee, the 

following roles in order to advise the Combined Authority and Merseytravel. 

Governance, risk and control 

(a) to review the Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s corporate governance 

arrangements against the good governance framework, including the ethical framework and 

to consider the local code of governance 

(b) to satisfy itself that the Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s Annual Governance 

Statement properly reflects the governance environment and any actions required to 

Page 15



improve it, taking into account the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion on the overall adequacy 

and effectiveness of the Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s framework of governance, 

risk and internal control, and demonstrate how governance supports the achievements of the 

Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s  objectives; 

(c) to consider the Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s arrangements to secure value 

for money and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these 

arrangements; 

(d) to consider the Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s framework of assurance and 

ensure that it adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel; 

(e) to monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the Combined 

Authority and Merseytravel; 

(f) to monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the Committee; 

(g) to consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 

implementation of agreed actions; 

(h) to review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the Combined Authority 

and Merseytravel from fraud and corruption; 

(i) to monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources; and 

(j) to review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant partnerships or 

collaborations; 

Internal Audit 

(a) to consider the effectiveness of the Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s risk 

management arrangements and the internal control environment. Review the risk profile of 

the organisation and assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues, including 

partnerships with other organisations; 

(b) to monitor the effectiveness of the internal control environment, including arrangements 

for ensuring value for money and for managing the Combined Authority’s and Merseytravel’s 

exposure to the risks of fraud and corruption; 

(c) to approve the Internal Audit Charter in respect of the Combined Authority and to 

recommend approval to the Merseytravel Board in respect of Merseytravel; 

(d) to approve the Code of Ethics for Internal Audit in respect of the Combined Authority and 

to recommend approval to the Merseytravel Board in respect of Merseytravel; 

(e) to review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers of internal 

audit services and to make recommendations; 

(f) to approve the risk-based internal audit plan in respect of the Combined Authority and to 

recommend approval to the Merseytravel Board in respect of Merseytravel, including internal 

audit’s resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and any 

work required to place reliance upon those other sources; 

(g) to support the effectiveness of the internal audit process and promote the effective use of 

internal audit within the assurance framework including commissioning internal audit work 

where a significant concern exists;  

Page 16



(h) to approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and resource 

requirements in respect of the Combined Authority and to recommend approval to the 

Merseytravel Board in respect of Merseytravel; 

(i) to make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of Internal Audit to 

determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations; 

(j) to oversee internal audit’s independence, objectivity, performance and professionalism; 

(k) to consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from additional roles 

or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the Head of Internal Audit. To approve and 

periodically review safeguards to limit such impairments in respect of the Combined 

Authority and to recommend approval to the Merseytravel Board in respect of Merseytravel; 

 

(l) to consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on internal audit’s performance during 

the year, including the performance of external providers of internal audit services. These 

will include:- 

• updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of concern and 

action in hand as a result of internal audit work; 

• regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 

(QAIP); 

• reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform to the Public 

Sector Internal Audit (PSIAS) and Local Government Application Note (LGAN), 

considering whether the non-conformance is significant enough that it must be 

included in the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 

(m) to consider the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and Opinion:- 

• the statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN and the results 

of the QAIP that support the statement – these will indicate the reliability of the 

conclusions drawn by internal audit; and 

• the opinion of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined Authority’s 

framework of governance, risk management and internal control together with the 

summary of the work supporting the opinion – these will assist the committee in 

reviewing the Annual Governance Statement. 

(n) to consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 

(o) to receive reports outlining the action taken where the Head of Internal Audit has 

concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be unacceptable to the 

Combined Authority or Merseytravel or there are concerns about progress with the 

implementation of agreed actions; 

(p) to contribute to the QAIP and in particular, to the external quality assessment of internal 

audit that takes place at least once every five years; 

(q) to consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the Annual 

Governance Statement, where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit Regulations; 

(r) to provide free and unfettered access to the Audit and Governance Committee Chair for 

the Head of Internal Audit, including the opportunity for a private meeting with the 

Committee. 

Page 17



External audit 

(a) to support the independence of external audit through consideration of the external 

annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues raised by Public Sector 

Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA); 

(b) to consider the annual letter, reports and recommendations of external audit and 

inspection agencies and their implications for governance, risk management or control, and 

monitor management action in response to the issues raised by external audit; 

(c) to comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value 

for money; 

(d) to commission work from external audit where a significant concern exists; and 

(e) to advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between external audit 

and internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant bodies. 

Financial reporting 

(a) to review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether appropriate 

accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the 

financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the 

Combined Authority or Merseytravel and 

(b) to consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on issues 

arising from the audit of the accounts; 

Standards 

(a) to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members; 

(b) to assist Members of the Combined Authority to observe the Combined Authority’s Code 

of Conduct for Members; 

(c) to advise the Combined Authority on the adoption, revision or replacement of the 

Combined Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members and the Combined Authority’s 

Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints that Combined Authority Members have failed to 

comply with the Combined Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members (“the Authority’s 

Arrangements”); 

(d) to monitor the operation of the Combined Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members and 

the Authority’s Arrangements; 

(e) to advise, train or arrange to train Members of the Combined Authority to observe the 

Combined Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members; 

(f) to determine, in accordance with the Authority’s Arrangements, whether a Member has 

failed to comply with the Combined Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members and, if so, to 

determine what action (if any) to take in respect of the Combined Authority Member, such 

actions to include:– 

• publication of the findings of the Combined Authority’s Standards Committee in 

respect of the Subject Member’s conduct; 

• reporting the findings of the Combined Authority’s Standards Committee to the 

Combined Authority for information; 

Page 18



• recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member should be 

censured; 

• instructing the Combined Authority’s Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the 

Subject Member; or 

• recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member should be 

removed from all appointments to which the Subject Member has been appointed or 

nominated by the Combined Authority; and 

(g) to determine appeals against the Monitoring Officer’s decision on the grant of 

dispensations. 

(h) to form an Investigating and Disciplinary Committee for the purposes of the Disciplinary 

Procedure in relation to the Combined Authority’s Chief Officers, as per Part 6, Section F of 

the Constitution. 

Accountability arrangements 

(a) to report to the Combined Authority and to Merseytravel on the Committee’s findings 

conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Authority’s governance, risk management and internal control frameworks; financial 

reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions; 

(b) to report to the Combined Authority on the performance of the Committee in relation to its 

Terms of Reference and the effectiveness of the Committee in meeting its purpose; and 

(c) to publish an annual report on the work of the Committee. 

Amendments to the Constitution 

(a) to consider proposed constitutional amendments. 

Information Management 

(a) to determine on behalf of the Combined Authority, information management policies and 

procedures and monitor their application; and 

(b) to report to the Combined Authority on an annual basis, the up-to-date position regarding 

information management policies, procedures and their application.  

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
Internal Audit Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  
 

No 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  
 

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents No 

  

Page 21

Agenda Item 5

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 30 November 2022 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work completed in the 
third quarter of 2022-23, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a)  notes the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of the Combined Authority in the third quarter of 2022-23.  The report 
highlights the following key points: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 
 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 
 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations; 
 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance 
indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP); and 

 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

 
 

4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 

It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 
for the management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose 

Page 22



a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal Audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plan 2022-23.  This report demonstrates how the provision of 
available Internal Audit resource has been utilised to provide appropriate assurance 
to the organisation. 

 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 

 
 

Appendices: 
 
Internal Audit Update  
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
                         

 
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

30 November 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 

 

P
age 25



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 

       Page 
 

1. Introduction             2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery         3 
 

3. Core Audit              4 
 

4. Responsive Audit            7  
 

5. Implementation of Recommendations        11 
 

6. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme                15 
 

7. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards                  17 
 

 
Appendices 

 
A - Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update                 18 
 
B - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels            19   

   
       

P
age 26



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 2 
  

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the third quarter of 2022-23, in respect 

of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23.   
 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee to facilitate the discharge of obligations as defined in its 

Terms of Reference to highlight the outcomes of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
organisation‟s governance, risk, and internal control environment.   

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (2017) as: “an independent, objective assurance and 

consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation‟s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and governance processes”. 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is: “to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations made previously; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service‟s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  

P
age 27



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 3 
  

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, five audits were completed. These are shown in Table 1: 
  

Audit Title Organisational Risk 
Opinion 

Entity 

Combined 
Authority  

 

Merseytravel 

Treasury Management Minor Y  

VAT Minor Y  

Application Control - Homelessness - In-Form   Minor Y  

Bus Reform Moderate  Y 

IT Back-up Management  Minor Y  
                                                            Table 1 

 
2.1.2 Appendix A gives a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23, showing the status of each item of audit work that 

was contained within the Plan approved by the Committee at its meeting on 30 March 2022 and Merseytravel at its meeting 
on 19 April 2022.  

                                                                                                                                                    

P
age 28



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 4 
  

3.  Core Audit 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 The “core audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to areas of audit work that are either statutory 

requirements, requirements of government or are areas of key risk.  Coverage of these areas is considered essential to 
delivering a comprehensive assurance on the effectiveness of internal control, governance, and risk management.   

 
3.2 Work Completed 
 
3.2.1 Three audits were completed in the period: 
 

 Combined Authority (including corporate) 

 Treasury Management 

 VAT 

 Application Control - Homelessness - In-Form   
 
3.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

3.3.1 All three audits received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means that a satisfactory level of assurance on the 
effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the organisation by the 
recommendations made is at a low level.  

 
3.4 Work in Progress 
 
3.4.1 The following items of work are in progress: 
 

 Merseytravel 

 Capital Project – Kingsway Tunnel Drainage Pipework; and 

 The Beatles Story – Payroll. 

P
age 29



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 5 
  

 Combined Authority (including corporate): 

 Environment, Energy and Net Zero (draft report issued); 

 Performance Management - Data Quality (draft report issued);  

 City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (draft report issued); 

 Creditors and Cheque Control; 

 Business Continuity Management: 

 Application Control - Comments Management; and 

 Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards. 
 
3.5 Recommendations of Note  
 
3.5.1 The core audits finalised within the period identified two recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown in 

Table 2: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Treasury Management The Counter-party List included in the Treasury Management 
Practices and in the „Cash23‟ monitoring spreadsheet must be 
reviewed and updated, to ensure they correspond and provide 
greater clarity. 
 

Extensive progress has been made in 
implementation.   

VAT In order to provide staff with sufficient advice and guidance to 
help ensure compliance with VAT regulations and to comply with 
the requirements of the Merseytravel Constitution, the VAT 
Manual originally produced in October 2018 should be: 
 

 reviewed and updated if required, in particular to incorporate 
guidance on Construction Industry Tax Deductions, as 
required by the Constitution 27.4(d); and, 

 made available to staff, as required by the Constitution 27.3, 
e.g. on OnePlace and by issuing it to any specific staff who 
would be likely to require it. 

 

VAT Manual will be reviewed 

                                                          Table 2 

 

P
age 30



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 6 
  

3.5.2 Improvement in those areas highlighted for attention will be monitored by Internal Audit as part of the follow up process and 
reported to the Executive Leadership Team for oversight.  

 

  

P
age 31



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 7 
  

4.  Responsive Audit 
 
4.1 Background 
  
4.1.1 The “responsive audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to work to be conducted in response to identified 

areas of significant risk to the organisation. So as to ensure that Internal Audit work is relevant and risk-based, meaning that 
this element of the Plan is not prescribed in advance, but is developed as the result of ongoing consultation and engagement 
with senior management so as to ensure it adds the value that is required and provides assurance on the key areas of risk. 

 
4.2 Work Completed 
 
4.2.1 Two audits were completed in the period: 

 

 Merseytravel 

 Bus Reform 
 

 Combined Authority (including Corporate) 

 IT Back-up Management 
 
4.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

4.3.1 The audit of Bus Reform received an organisational risk opinion of “moderate”, and this indicates that the audit identified 
weaknesses that present a moderate risk to the organisation, and that the risks identified should be considered for inclusion 
within service risk registers (if these have not already been included). The audit of IT Back-up Management received an 
organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means that a satisfactory level of assurance on the effectiveness of the internal 
controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the organisation by the recommendations made is at a low 
level.  

 
 
 

P
age 32



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 8 
  

4.4 Recommendations of Note  
 
4.4.1 The responsive audits finalised within the period identified two recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown 

in Table 3: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Bus Reform In order to ensure sufficient supporting evidence is retained by 
the Combined Authority of the data used as the basis for the 
modelling and assumptions in business cases, copies of all such 
data should be retained securely by the CA for an appropriate 
period. This will reduce the risk of insufficient details being 
available should queries arise about the modelling or if the 
modelling requires subsequent review and revision. 
 

The majority of source data is held on 
an archived share point site and a 
request has been made to the project 
consultants for any original data which 
came direct to themselves (from bus 
operators) following a query being 
made. Once collated this data will be 
saved securely and kept as evidence 
and assurance. 
 

Bus Reform Where key figures in a business case are calculated by external 
consultants, sufficient supporting working papers should be held 
by the CA to show how these calculations have been made and 
agreed by appropriate officers, to provide some assurance on 
their accuracy and reasonableness and to enable figures to be 
revised more easily should this be required for future iterations 
of the business case. 
 

Data books which outline all 
assumptions are available and have 
been tested with key internal 
stakeholders. This process is being 
repeated as we develop our in-house 
affordability model, which is checking 
all figures added and is itself being 
externally verified. 
 

                                                          Table 3 

4.5 Work in Progress 
 
4.5.1 Table 4 below shows the following items of work that are in progress: 
 

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

Payment Card Industry 
Data Security Standard 
(PCI DSS) Compliance 
 

Combined 
Authority 

Corporate system that ensures the organisation 
operates within the law and mitigates risks of 
data security breaches and associated potential 
fines and reputational damage.  

Corporate Risk 2: Resilience 
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
fails to develop and maintain robust 
arrangements to ensure business resilience 

P
age 33



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 9 
  

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

(Draft report issued) 
 

 
 

and continuity. 
 

Money Laundering 
 
(Draft report issued) 

Combined 
Authority 

Corporate system that ensures the organisation 
operates within the law and mitigates risks of 
financial loss and associated potential fines and 
reputational damage.  
 
 

Corporate Risk 2: Resilience 
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
fails to develop and maintain robust 
arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity. 
 

Freeport 
 
(Draft report issued) 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Programme, Project, 
Contract Management theme. Work concerns 
key risks relating to project and programme 
control management and delivery, in order to 
deliver schemes on time and within budget and 
to harness projected outcomes for the City 
Region. 
 

Corporate Risk 5: Economic Prosperity  
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
does not contribute positively to economic 
prosperity within the City Region. 

Know Your Customer 
Checks 
 
(Draft report issued) 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Supply Chain 
Management theme. Work concerns the 
increasing global risks in relation to suppliers, 
and how the organisation seeks to operate in a 
resilient manner without undue delays or 
reputational damage. 
 

Corporate Risk 2: Resilience 
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
fails to develop and maintain robust 
arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity. 
 

Adult Education Budget 
 
(Draft report issued) 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Programme, Project, 
Contract Management theme.  Work concerns 
key risks relating to project and programme 
control management and delivery, in order to 
deliver schemes on time and within budget and 
to harness projected outcomes for the City 
Region. 
 

Corporate Risk 5: Economic Prosperity  
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
does not contribute positively to economic 
prosperity within the City Region 
 

Use of Personal E-mail 
 
(Draft report issued) 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered further to a request from the SIRO. 
Work concerns the information management 
risks arising from use of personal e-mail when 
undertaking official business. 

Corporate Risk 2: Resilience 
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
fails to develop and maintain robust 
arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity. 

P
age 34



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 10 
  

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

 

Housing Programmes - 
Retrofit, Sustainable 
Warmth etc. 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Programme, Project, 
Contract Management theme.  Work concerns 
key risks relating to project and programme 
control management and delivery, in order to 
deliver schemes on time and within budget and 
to harness projected outcomes for the City 
Region. 
 

Corporate Risk 3: Environment  
There is a risk that the City Region does not 
achieve its ambition of being net zero carbon 
by 2040. 
 

                                                          Table 4 

 
4.6 Advice, Guidance and Consultancy 

 

4.6.1 During the period, the service has provided advice and guidance in a number of areas: 

 Attending Delivery Boards to advise on audit and risk matters, and to contribute to Board development; 

 Continued involvement in providing advice on major projects, including bus reform, and rolling stock; and 

 Contributing to the development of new schemes such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, by providing input on the role 

of Internal Audit in this area. 

 

  

P
age 35



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 11 
  

5.  Implementation of Recommendations 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate. 

 

5.1.2 Significant work continues to be undertaken with members of the Senior and Executive Leadership Teams to encourage 
completion of outstanding recommendations, particularly those that are long-standing.  This includes attendance at 
management team meetings and provision of reports detailing recommendations outstanding.  This has generated positive 
engagement and action on progressing the issues, and consequently a number of recommendations have been closed 
during the period. Work continues with managers to encourage the timely implementation of recommendations, with 
particular attention being paid to older recommendations. 

 
5.2 Combined Authority 

 

5.2.1 Table 5 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Combined Authority specific systems: 

 

P
age 36



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 12 
  

 
                       Table 5 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue
More than 2 

months overdue
High Overdue Notes

Corporate Development & Delivery

2021-22 Organisational Development Ethics / Standards of Conduct 0 2 0 2 2 0 n/a

2021-22 Organisational Development Learning & Development 2 4 0 6 5 4 1 Awaiting revised implentation dates

2022-23 HR - Strategy & Systems Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest 7 4 1 10 3 0 1 Revised implementation dates provided

2021-22 HR - Operations Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review 4 9 7 6 6 5 1 Awaiting revised implentation dates

2021-22 HR - Strategy & Systems Absence Management 0 7 4 3 3 1 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2020-21 HR - Operations Payroll 0 5 5 1 1 1 n/a Awaiting revised implentation date

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Procurement Cards 1 5 5 1 1 1 1 Awaiting revised implentation date

2019-20 HR - Operations Recruitment and Selection 2 10 8 4 4 4 1 Revised implementation dates provided

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Time & Attendance 1 6 7 0 0 0 n/a

2018-19 HR - Strategy & Systems Travel, Accommodation & Expenses 0 3 2 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery Backup Management 0 6 0 3 0 0 n/a

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery Cyber Security Response 1 3 1 4 0 0 n/a

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery IT - Asset Management 0 7 2 5 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2019-20 IT - Service Delivery IT - Service Continuity 0 11 9 2 2 2 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2019-20 IT - Service Delievry Patch & Vulernability Management 0 1 1 0 0 0 n/a

Corporate Services

2022-23 Accountancy VAT 1 4 0 5 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Accountancy Treasury Management 1 2 1 3 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Accountancy Creditors 0 3 2 1 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Accountancy ESIF 1 3 0 4 0 0 0

2021-22 Internal Audit Risk Management 1 2 2 1 0 0 0

2021-22 Legal Procurement & Prepaid Cards 0 1 1 0 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Legal Insurance Claims 2 0 0 2 0 0 0

2021-22 Procurement Procurement 0 7 4 3 3 0 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2019-20 Procurement Commissioning 2 2 1 3 3 3 1 Awaiting revised implentation dates

2019-20 Procurement Procurement 0 1 0 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2017-18 Procurement Procurement 0 8 8 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

Investment & Delivery

2022-23 Homelessness Application Control - In-Form  0 3 0 3 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Investment Future Innovation Fund - Tranche 2 1 3 0 4 0 0 0

2021-22 Investment SIF2 Assurance Framework 1 1 1 1 0 0 0

2021-22 Investment Investment Models 0 3 2 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 Programme Delivery Race Equality 0 7 5 2 2 2 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2020-21 Investment / PMO / Finance Pre Payment Assurance 0 3 0 3 3 3 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

Place

2021-22 Tidal QS Procurement 0 10 9 1 1 1 n/a Awaiting revised implentation date

2020-21 Policy Development Active Travel Fund 0 4 4 0 0 0 n/a

2019-20 Customer Delivery Business Continuity 5 14 18 1 1 1 0 Awaiting revised implentation date

Policy Strategy & Government Relations

2022-23 Evidence, Research & Intelligence Monitoring & Evaluation Indicator Framework 5 1 0 6 3 0 3 Awaiting revised implentation dates

Other

2021-22 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 21-22 1 1 0 2 1 1 1 Revised implementation date provided

Recommendations

P
age 37



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 13 
  

5.2.2 Two recommendations remain open from reports issued prior to 2019-20 (Travel, Accommodation and Expenses 2018-19 
and Procurement 2017-18).  Both relate to the need to update organisational policies. It was previously reported that 
implementation was expected by the end of September 2022 in both cases, but neither of the documents have yet been 
updated.  Revised dates have been set, and it is imperative that implementation is achieved within this timescale. 

 
5.2.3 A number of recommendation due dates have elapsed in the period, and whilst a number have agreed revised 

implementation dates with Internal Audit, a number of recommendation owners have yet to agree revised dates.  The 
importance of setting achievable implementation dates for recommendation dates is emphasised by the internal audit team in 
their work, but it is equally important that managers focus on meeting the set timescales and do not seek to extend these 
unnecessarily. 

 
5.3 Merseytravel 

 
5.3.1 Table 6 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Merseytravel specific systems:  

 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue
More than 2 

months overdue
High Overdue Notes

Place

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Health, Safety & Wellbeing 3 6 7 2 1 1 1 Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Application Control - SCADA Control 0 6 2 4 1 0 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 AM - Technical Services Seacombe Ferry Landing Stage - Capital Project 3 4 3 4 0 0 0

2022-23 Bus - Bus Development Bus Reform 2 0 0 2 0 0 n/a

2020-21 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 10 10 0 0 0 n/a

2019-20 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 4 3 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2022-23 Customer Delivery Application Control - Docustore 1 5 4 2 0 0 0

2021-22 Customer Delivery Health Safety & Wellbeing - Operational Transport 2 4 6 0 0 0 0

2021-22 Customer Delivery Fast Tag & T-Flow Account Management 0 5 5 0 0 0 n/a

2019-20 Customer Delivery Catering Concession - Contract Management 0 5 5 0 0 0 n/a

2019-20 Customer Delivery Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery 3 2 4 1 1 1 0 Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 Customer Operations (Ferries) Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 2 4 5 1 0 0 0

2020-21 Police Operations (Tunnels) CCTV 1 8 8 1 1 1 0 Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 The Beatles Story Information Governance 1 10 3 8 2 0 0 Revised implementation dates provided

2021-22 Rail - Concession Development Rail Operators - Ticket Stock Control 0 9 9 0 0 0 n/a

2021-22 Rolling Stock Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project 3 1 4 0 0 0 0

Recommendations

P
age 38



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 14 
  

                                             

5.3.2 There are a number of recommendations for which implementation dates have elapsed in the period, and revised 
implementation dates have been agreed with Internal Audit in all cases.  Particularly in respect of older reports, it is 
imperative that implementation is achieved within the revised timescale. 

 
 
  

P
age 39



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 15 
  

6.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
 
6.1 Performance Update 
 
6.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
6.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus reported to 

senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides senior 
management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
6.1.3 Table 9 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The result of the external assessment (August 2021) details 
that the service fully complies with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards.  The annual internal self-
assessment has also been completed and this confirms 
continued compliance (see s7.2 of this report). 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides 
the Board with a view on how effective management 
action is in responding to recommendations. 

100% 100% No variance 
There are no concerns in respect of recommendations made 
in 2021-22 and 2022-23 to date. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels are low. 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 

100% N/A Not applicable 
The annual survey is undertaken in Q4. 

P
age 40



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 16 
  

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at a 
strategic level. 

 

       Table 9                                          

 
6.2 Resources 
 
6.2.1 The service has one vacancy which it is hoping to fill in time for quarter 1 of 2023-24.   
  

P
age 41



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 17 
  

7. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
7.1 External Assessment 

 
7.1.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in August 2021.  

 
7.1.2 The outcome of this assessment was that the service fully conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and it was 

reported to the September 2022 that implementation of the recommendations is completed.   
 

7.2 Internal Self – Assessment 

7.2.1 In accordance with the Standards, an annual self-assessment must be completed to assess the compliance of the service 
with the Standards, so as to assess the impact of any changes to working practices, or indeed any changes to the Standards 
themselves.  

 
7.2.2 The Standards have not changed since the external assessment was carried out in August 2021.  The self-assessment has 

been updated however, to reflect the revised arrangements arising from the recent removal of the Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board from Merseytravel. 

 
7.2.3 The results of the self- assessment were that the service is assessed as continuing to be compliant with the Standards.  

  

P
age 42



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 18 
  

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update 
 

  

Auditable Area LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

CORE

IT Application Control - Docustore Y Completed

IT Application Control - In-Form Y Completed

IT Application Control - Comments Management Commenced

Business Continuity Management Y Commenced

Staffing & Capacity Y

Payroll Y

Key Financial Systems - VAT Y Completed

Key Financial Systems - Treasury Management Y Completed

Key Financial Systems - Creditors and Cheque COntrol Y Commenced

Annual Governance Review Y

Risk Management Y

Environment, Energy and Net Zero Y Draft Report

Procurement Y

Proactive Counter-Fraud Y

Performance Management - Data Quality Y Draft Report

Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards Y Commenced

Financial Sustainability Y

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement Y Draft Report

Investment Schemes / Assurance Frameworks Y

Capital Schemes - Kingsway Tunnel Drainage Piepwork Y Y Commenced

Rolling Stock Y

Transport Operators Y

ICT Technical Audit Y

RESPONSIVE

Bus Reform Y Completed

Corporate Governance - Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest Y Completed

Grant Assurance Y Ongoing

Programme / Project / Contract Management - Freeport Y Draft Report

Supply Chain Management - Know Your Customer Y Draft Report

Monitoring & Evaluation Indicator Framework Y Completed

PCI DSS Compliance Y Draft Report

Money Laundering Y Draft Report

Housing Programmes - Retrofit, Sustainable Warmth etc. Y Commenced

Adult Education Budget Y Draft Report

Use of Personal e-mails Y Draft Report

Governance Arrangements - Policy Compliance Y

Use of Consultants Y

COUNTER FRAUD

Recruitment and Selection Y Commenced

Rail Operators - Stock Control Y

Fast Tag / T Flow Account Management Y

LEP

LEP - Governance Annual Review Y

LEP - Grant Claim Submission Y

BEATLES STORY

Beatles Story - Payroll Y Commenced

Beatles Story - Business Continuity Management Y

Entity

P
age 43



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 19 
  

Appendix B: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 44



 
Report Title 

 
Annual Fraud Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt?   No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices 
 

Yes  

Background Documents No 

  

Page 45

Agenda Item 6

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 30 November 2022 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

ANNUAL FRAUD UPDATE  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this annual report is to provide an update in respect of managing 

the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption in the organisation.  It details the activity that 
has been undertaken during the last year to develop the organisation’s approach to 
managing this risk, and the activities planned and in progress by Internal Audit to 
support this. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a) notes the report;  
 

(b)  approves the revised and updated Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy; 
and 

 
(c) notes that the following counter-fraud protocols have been reviewed but no 

significant changes requiring the approval of the Committee have been 
made: 

 

 Anti-Bribery Protocol;  

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol; 

 Surveillance Protocol; and 

 Investigation Protocol. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 To support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms of 

Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken in relation to managing 
the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption.  The report highlights the following key 
points: 

 Background detailing relevant offences and the roles of Internal Audit and 
management in fraud matters; 

 Detail on the recently completed self-assessment exercise on CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local Government 
(2014) and the associated actions; 

Page 46



 Update on the proactive and reactive counter-fraud work undertaken by Internal 
Audit; and 

 Details on how an anti-fraud culture is being embedded into the organisation. 
 

The report concludes by confirming that the suite of counter-fraud protocols has 
been reviewed and highlights the key changes to the fully revised and expanded 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy, which also highlighting that in respect of the 
remaining protocols, no significant changes requiring the approval of the Committee 
have been made.  The review of the Money Laundering Policy is pending and will 
be reported to the Committee once this has been completed. 

 
 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Legal Implications 
 

Local Authorities have a statutory duty to have arrangements in place for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs under the Local Government Act 1972. Part of 
discharging this duty relates to ensuring that effective arrangements are in place to 
prevent, detect and deter fraud.  Fraud, bribery and money laundering are criminal 
offences defined in legislation.  
 

4.2 Risks and Mitigation 
  
 The risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is present in any organisation, and it is 

important that the organisation has assessed its level of fraud risk, and that a range 
of actions is put in place to reduce this risk to a tolerable level.  This report outlines 
these issues and how the organisation, supported by Internal Audit, can ensure the 
continued development of an anti-fraud culture. 

 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding an anti-fraud 

culture and a robust and effective system for the management of the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption.   

 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Annual Fraud Update  
Appendix 2 – Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy 
Appendix 3 - Bribery Protocol 
Appendix 4 - Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol 
Appendix 5 - Surveillance Protocol 
Appendix 6 - Investigation Protocol 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

ANNUAL FRAUD UPDATE 
 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

30 November 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

P
age 49



 
 

Contents 
 

    
Page 

  
1. Introduction           1    
 
2. Background           2   
    
3. Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption      6 
 
4. Proactive Fraud Work         11 
                
5. Reactive Fraud Work          12 
 
6. Embedding an Anti-Fraud Culture        13 
 
 
      
 
 
 

   

  

P
age 50



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 1 
 
 

1.   Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a detailed annual update on activity and plans in place to manage the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption in the organisation. It supplements the details provided in the Internal Audit Updates presented to 
each meeting of this Committee. 

 
1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference.  It is intended to assist in continuing the progress made to date in 

embedding an anti-fraud culture into the organisation. 

 

1.3 The report covers: 

 

 Background detailing relevant offences and the role of Internal Audit in fraud matters; 

 Detail on the recently completed self-assessment exercise on CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud 

and Corruption in Local Government (2014) and the associated actions; 

 Update on the proactive counter-fraud work undertaken by Internal Audit; 

 Update on reactive counter-fraud work undertaken by Internal Audit; and 

 Details on how an anti-fraud culture is being embedded into the organisation. 

 

The report concludes by confirming that the suite of counter-fraud protocols has been reviewed and highlights the key 

changes to the fully revised and expanded Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy and Protocol.  The report also highlights 

that in respect of the remaining protocols, no significant changes requiring the approval of the Committee have been made. 

The review of the Money Laundering Policy is pending and will be reported to the Committee once this has been completed. 

 

  

P
age 51



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 2 
 
 

2. Background  
 

2.1 Defining Fraud and Corruption Offences 

2.1.1 Section 1 of the Fraud Act 2006 defined a general offence of fraud and three ways in which it may be committed: 
 

 Fraud by false representation; 

 Fraud by failing to disclose information; and 

 Fraud by abuse of position.  
 
Fraud by false representation requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 The person makes the representation knowing that it is or might be false or misleading.  
 
Fraud by failing to disclose information requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and 

 Failure to disclose information where there is a legal duty to disclose.  
 
Fraud by abuse of position requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 Abuse of a position where one is expected to safeguard another person’s financial interests. 
 

P
age 52



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 3 
 
 

2.1.2 The Bribery Act 2010 has defined the following offences that collectively may be termed “corruption”: 
 

 Offering, promising or giving a bribe; 

 Requesting or agreeing to receive a bribe; 

 Bribery of a foreign public official; and  

 The corporate offence of failing to prevent a bribe. 
 

It is worthy of note that the legislation states that it will be a defence against the corporate offence if an organisation has 
“adequate procedures” in place to prevent bribery.  
 

2.2 Public Sector Statistics 

2.2.1 It is estimated that fraud costs the government between £33 and £55 billion every year (www.gov.uk) and much of this goes 
undetected. 

 

2.2.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Counter Fraud Centre (CFC) identifies the main areas 
of fraud within the sector.  Within those areas, the following are of relevance to the Combined Authority: 

 Procurement; 

 Debt; 

 Insurance claims; 

 Economic and voluntary sector (grant fraud); 

 Recruitment; and 

 Insider fraud – payroll / expenses/ abuse of work time or position. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 53

http://www.gov.uk/


  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 4 
 
 

2.3 Role of Internal Audit 
 
2.3.1 The role of Internal Audit in respect of counter-fraud is to: 
 

 Prepare and maintain a suite of relevant counter-fraud protocols for the organisation; 

 Promote an anti-fraud culture by raising awareness of fraud issues amongst officers and members, including through the 
provision of counter-fraud training; 

 Facilitate the identification of fraud risks and the subsequent management of these through service delivery areas; 

 Undertake proactive audit work to prevent and detect fraud, including the review of fraud controls (where relevant) in each 
audit review; and 

 Undertake the investigation of frauds perpetrated against the organisation or emanating from within the organisation, 
where this is deemed appropriate, including the subsequent reporting of findings, conclusions and recommendations to 
senior management. 

 
The Head of Internal Audit is also the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO), which entails acting as the 
main contact for receiving reports of suspected money laundering and carrying out the associated reporting.  In respect of 
the Confidential Reporting (“Whistleblowing”) Protocol, the Head of Internal Audit is also designated as one of the recipients 
of such reports, along with Legal and HR officers, but also has the role of monitoring the effectiveness of the Protocol. 

 
2.4 Role of Management 
 
2.4.1 Whilst Internal Audit has an important role to play in supporting the organisation to manage the risk of fraud, it is vital to 

remember the key role of management.  The role of the Executive and Senior Leadership Teams is detailed in the Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption Strategy and Protocol as: 

 
“Executive Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service have responsibility for implementing the anti-fraud culture in 

their Directorates, and for ensuring that there is an effective system of internal control in place so as to manage the risk of 
fraud, bribery and corruption in their services.  Executive and Senior Leaders should understand the actions to take if they 

P
age 54



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 5 
 
 

have suspicions or receive reports of suspected fraud, bribery and corruption, and they should be champions of good 
counter-fraud practice and demonstrate ethical conduct. 

 
In the event that there is evidence that a significant act of fraud, bribery or corruption has been committed, or where a 
significant weakness in the internal control framework has been found, ELT members are required to implement or facilitate 
the implementation of actions to improve prevention or detection (usually recommendations set out in an Internal Audit 
Report).  In the event that there is evidence that a significant fraud, bribery or corruption offence has been perpetrated, the 
Executive Director of Corporate Services would take the decision on referral to the Police, based upon relevant advice.” 

 
   
  

P
age 55



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 6 
 
 

3. Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption  
 
3.1 CIPFA published the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local Government in 2014. The 

Code is not mandatory, but it represents best practice, and compliance with the principles set out in the Code enables the 
organisation to demonstrate effective financial stewardship of public funds. 

 
3.2 The Code has established a common set of principles for managing the risk of fraud and corruption in local authorities.  
 
3.3 The principles are: 
 

 Acknowledge the responsibility for countering fraud and corruption; 

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

 Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
3.4 Beneath each of these principles, there is a number of performance statements that are used to evaluate the effectiveness 

of the organisation in managing the risk of fraud and corruption.  The document takes the form of a self-assessment that 
examines all aspects of the organisation’s strategic focus on and response to, the risk of fraud and corruption. 

 
3.5 The self-assessment indicated 82% compliance with its requirements – which means that the organisation is meeting the 

standard set out in the guidance.  This is a significant improvement from the level achieved last year of 52% and is due to 
the sustained efforts of Internal Audit to address the areas of weakness identified in last year’s assessment namely raising 
awareness of fraud, and through adding significant additional content to the revised Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy.   

 
3.6 However, it is clear from the results of the assessment that the main area for focus in the coming year is the need for the 

organisation to identify and assess its fraud risks and ensure that appropriate measures are in place to manage these risks.  
This will inform the overall assessment of fraud risk across the organisation, which will then be used to influence the 

P
age 56



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 7 
 
 

direction of the fraud strategy of the organisation.  It is therefore of the utmost importance that the process of populating 
fraud risks in service and project risk registers is undertaken as a matter of urgency.   

 
3.7 The outcomes against each of the principles are detailed in the table below. The compliance levels for each standard in the 

2021-22 assessment are given so as to demonstrate the direction of travel: 
 

Principle Compliance Level 
2022-23 

Compliance Level 
2021-22 

Key Areas for Development 

Acknowledge 
Responsibility 

83% - Meeting the 
standard 

63% - Good level of 
performance 

 Continuation of Internal Audit activity 
carried out since the 2021-22 self-
assessment to develop fraud awareness, 
with the objective of encouraging the 
Executive and Senior Leadership Teams 
to promote fraud awareness more 
explicitly and to explore actively 
opportunities for fraud 
prevention/detection. 

Identify Risks 48% - Basic level of 
performance 

41% - Basic level of 
performance 

 Not sufficient corporate awareness of 
significant fraud risks 

 Escalation of significant fraud concerns 
does not happen as a matter of course 
 

Develop a Strategy 99% - Meeting the 
standard 

1% - Not meeting 
requirements 

 No significant actions arising 

Provide Resources 92% - Meeting the 
standard 

85% - Meeting the standard  No significant actions arising 

Take Action 90%- Meeting the 
standard 

72% - Good level of 
performance 

 No significant actions arising 

 
 

P
age 57



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 8 
 
 

3.8 The following table details the actions arising from the assessment, including those from 2021-22.  One new action has been 
added which focuses on the most significant area of weakness arising from the assessment, relating to risk identification and 
assessment.  Action 6 remains open and is a matter of continued focus.  It is worthy of note that whilst Internal Audit will 
facilitate and support the organisation to implement the necessary actions, engagement and input across the organisation, 
and particularly the support of the Executive and Senior Leadership Teams, will be necessary so as to ensure success.  

 
Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 

Due Date 
Progress Update 

1 All risk owners must assess the fraud risks 
associated with the service or project they 
manage and formulate proportionate 
responses to these risks.   
This will facilitate the escalation of significant 
fraud risks where necessary. 

Risk owners 
 
 

31 March 2023  

2 Encourage the Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams to raise awareness of 
counter-fraud issues with their teams, 
including promoting take-up of counter-fraud 
training, discussion of fraud risks and 
controls and exploring opportunities for fraud 
detection and prevention. 
 

Internal Audit to 
facilitate 
 
ELT/SLT to action 

31 March 2022 Completed 
 
The Head of Internal Audit discussed fraud 
with the leadership teams on a number of 
occasions during 2021-22 and 2022-23, and 
this continues as a regular event. 
Examples include fraud awareness updates 
delivered to SLT meetings, issue of updates 
regarding take-up of fraud awareness e-
learning, and the inclusion of fraud risks on 
risk registers for consideration by all Heads 
of Service/Assistant Directors. 
 

3 Risk Management Policy to be updated to 
make explicit mention of fraud risk and its 
treatment, including the escalation of 
significant fraud risks. 
 

Risk Manager 30 September 2022 Completed 
The Corporate Risk Management Policy and 
Handbook has been reviewed and updated 
to include specific mention of fraud risk, and 
fraud risks have been included within the 
corporate risk register template. 

P
age 58



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 9 
 
 

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

4 Support the development of fraud risk 
assessment by facilitating fraud risk 
workshops with areas of the business where 
fraud risks are highest and ensuring that the 
results of the workshops are used to inform 
Service Risk Registers.  
Establish regime of regular reminders to 
update fraud risks in Service Risk Registers, 
including consideration of any new/emerging 
fraud/corruption risks. 
Consider the use of fraud loss estimates to 
inform the risk assessment. 

Risk Manager/Audit 
Manager 

31 March 2022 Completed 
Joint audit and risk workshops were 
delivered during International Fraud 
Awareness Week 2022 to explore fraud risk 
and ensure this is adequately reflected within 
Service Risk Registers.  These sessions will 
be offered again in the months ahead. 

5 Utilising the data gathered from the fraud risk 
assessment, compile and implement a 
Counter- Fraud Strategy for the organisation.  
Once compiled, the effectiveness of the 
Strategy should be evaluated and reported, 
including within the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input from 
ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022 Completed 
The Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy 
has been fully updated to include all 
necessary content.  Following approval, the 
Strategy will be issued to all staff. 

6 Monitor the take-up levels of the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning and follow up to 
completion with Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams as necessary. 

Head of Internal 
Audit 

Ongoing In progress 
72% of the workforce have completed the e-
learning package - a significant increase in 
the last year (previously at 49%).  Individual 
email reminders were sent to every member 
of staff yet to complete the training, as part 
of International Fraud Awareness Week. 

7 Monitor the quality and completeness of how 
fraud risks are dealt with in Committee 
reports and provide input to report authors to 
support the written guidance. 

Risk Manager Ongoing Completed 
The Risk Manager reviews all the quality of 
risk content in all Committee reports and the 
heightened awareness of fraud risks means 
that this is now a particular focus.  

Table 1 

P
age 59



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 10 
 
 

 
3.9 This Committee will continue to be kept appraised of the implementation of the actions identified as a result of the self-

assessment through the regular Internal Audit Updates. 
  

P
age 60



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 11 
 
 

4.   Proactive Fraud Work 
 
4.1 Internal Audit Plan 
 
4.1.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 includes 30 days for proactive counter-fraud work across both Merseytravel and the 

Combined Authority.  It is also of note that key anti-fraud controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other 
audits within the Plan such as Creditors, Payroll and Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest.   

 
4.1.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus shown in Table 2:  
 

Audit Title Days Allocated Progress 

Recruitment and Selection 15 Commenced 

Rail Operators - Stock Control 15 Not yet commenced 

Fast Tag / T-Flow Account Management 10 Not yet commenced 
                            Table 2 

 
4.2 National Fraud Initiative 

 
4.2.1 Internal Audit oversees and co-ordinates the organisation’s involvement in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI). This is a 

national exercise, and it is a requirement that the organisation participates. The main NFI data matching is undertaken every 
two years, the results of these matches are fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 

4.2.2 Data from the Payroll, Creditors and concessionary travel systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website and 
are matched with data within and between participating bodies so as to identify potential frauds and errors. On receipt of the 
results, the organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches.  

 
4.2.3 The organisation has submitted its data for the 2022 exercise and matches are expected to be released in January 2023. 
 

P
age 61



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 12 
 
 

5. Reactive Fraud Work 
 

5.1 There is a provision of 58 audit days in the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 for the investigation of allegations of fraud, bribery or 
corruption. 

 
5.2 Internal Audit will become involved in the investigation where the allegation requires the specialist skills possessed by the 

service.  Such work can entail examination of key records, interviewing staff to obtain information, and evaluation of 
evidence, culminating in the production of a report for management giving recommendations that detail actions to address 
issues identified.  Such reports will conclude on whether, on the basis of the work undertaken, the allegation is believed to 
be founded or not.  The report will often also include details of improvements to the system of internal control more widely, 
so as to strengthen the anti-fraud controls in place.   

 
5.3 During 2022-23 to date, there has not been any significant referrals made to Internal Audit.   
 

5.4 It is also a requirement of the Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy that Internal Audit is notified of any frauds detected 
within the organisation, and so far, this year, no such reports have been received. 

 
 
  

 
 
 
  

P
age 62



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 13 
 
 

6. Embedding an Anti-Fraud Culture 
 
6.1 Fraud Risk 
 
6.1.1 A Fraud Risk Register was prepared in the past for Merseytravel, and this contained specific transport-related fraud risks.  

However, the risks identified had not been placed under the “ownership” of members of Senior Leadership Team (SLT), so 
the Risk Register did not highlight the specific actions to be taken in respect of each risk, and so there was no reflection of 
how the risks were being managed.  In addition, by being held by Internal Audit, the Register gave the false impression that 
it is the responsibility of Internal Audit to manage fraud risks. 

 
6.1.2 So as to make the identification and management of fraud risk more effective, by bringing this under the direct attention of 

members of Senior Leadership Team, an exercise is underway to review and update the identified fraud risks.  Rather than a 
single set of fraud risks being held centrally, each SLT member has relevant fraud risks contained within their Service Risk 
Register.  This is so they can evaluate the risk for their service, look at how the risk is being managed within the context of 
their service, and propose actions for the continued management of the impact and/or likelihood of each risk.  The Internal 
Audit service has held and continues to offer workshops to support managers in highlighting and managing fraud risks. 

 
6.1.3 The risks under consideration are: 
  

Generic risks – which would apply to most organisations: 
 

 Cyber and information; 

 Tangible assets; 

 Bribery; 

 Procurement; 

 Creditors; 

 Debtors; 

 Treasury Management; 

P
age 63



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 14 
 
 

 Insurance; 

 False Accounting; 

 Money Laundering; 

 Payroll; and 

 Recruitment.  

 

Specific risks – which relate to the activities of this organisation: 

 

 Misuse of grant funding; 

 Improper use of powers; 

 Falsification of records; 

 Concessionary travel; and 

 Ticketing. 

 
6.2 Engagement with Fraud Groups 
 
6.2.1 Internal Audit participates in the Mersey Region Fraud Group, which is comprised of the constituent local authorities within 

the Combined Authority area.   
 
6.2.2 Internal Audit also contributes to the North West Chief Audit Executives Counter-Fraud Sub-Group, which develops practical 

solutions to mitigate current and emerging fraud risks and responds to sector-related change and challenges.   
 
6.2.3 As both of these Groups comprise local authorities, which have a different range of services and associated fraud risks, 

there can be limited applicability to the Combined Authority of some of the activities being undertaken.  The Head of Internal 
Audit engages frequently with her counterparts in other Mayoral Combined Authorities so as to share experiences and 
knowledge, and a comparison of fraud risks has been undertaken so as to ensure that relevant fraud risks have been 
encompassed. 

P
age 64



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 15 
 
 

 
6.3 Training and Awareness 
 
6.3.1 In June 2019, an e-learning package on Fraud Awareness was developed and launched to all staff.  The package is a basic 

introduction, and covers fraud, bribery, corruption and money laundering, and the key actions employees should take to 
prevent and detect fraud in their areas of responsibility. To date, 72% of employees have undertaken the training, and direct 
follow up work with Departments to boost the take-up rates continues, including during International Fraud Awareness Week 
2022, when targeted emails to staff who have not completed the training will be sent.  

 
6.3.2 A fraud awareness campaign was undertaken during November 2022, to coincide with International Fraud Awareness Week.  

The aim of the week is to heighten the awareness of the scale of fraud in the public sector, and the key focus this year was 
encouraging all employees to complete the Fraud Awareness e-learning course (as highlighted in 6.3.1 above), and to report 
any concerns they may have. “Lunch and learn” sessions were held with managers, posters were placed around the main 
office buildings, and the Intranet was used to issue reminders to staff.  The Head of Internal Audit also reminded the 
Executive and Senior Leadership Teams of their fraud responsibilities and the heightened fraud risks that may be suggested 
as a result of the increased cost of living and the after-effects of the pandemic. 

 
6.4 Protocol Framework 
 
6.4.1 Internal Audit has responsibility for maintaining the organisation’s counter-fraud protocols.  These form an important part of 

the management of fraud risk by setting the tone, culture and expectations of the organisation. 
 
6.4.2 The most significant change has been in relation to the Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy.  This has been significantly 

expanded (and renamed) to cover the requirements of the CIPFA Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption self-
assessment.  All changes and additions are highlighted on the document for ease of review, but the key changes are: 

 

 Inclusion of a foreword by the Chief Executive to demonstrate executive sponsorship; 

 Reaffirming the role of executive and senior leaders in relation to counter-fraud; 

 Inclusion of detail on fraud risks and control measures; 

P
age 65



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 16 
 
 

 Inclusion of section on potential sanctions for fraud offences; and 

 Detail on how the Strategy will be monitored and evaluated. 
 

  The other protocols in place comprise the following, which have received their annual review and are presented for 
information.  No significant changes have been made to these: 

 

 Anti-Bribery Protocol;  

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol; 

 Surveillance Protocol; and 

 Investigations Protocol. 
 

6.4.3 The Money Laundering Protocol is undergoing a more significant review following the results of internal audit work in this 
area, and the revised protocol will be presented to the Committee for approval at the earliest opportunity. 

 
6.4.4 Once each protocol receives approval, it is disseminated to staff, like all policies across the organisation, via the 

Insight4Policies (“I4P”) system, which requires staff to read and acknowledge understanding of the policy.  
Acknowledgement levels of the protocols issued previously is at 87%, which is a very positive level.  Follow up work is 
ongoing with Departments to remind all staff to read and acknowledge the protocols. 

 
6.4.5 During the year to date, there have been no reports made to Internal Audit under any of these protocols. It is important that 

the profile of such protocols continues to be raised so that staff feel confident and comfortable in making any reports they 
deem necessary, and that they are aware of their responsibilities in doing so.  An absence of reports under the protocols 
could indicate a lack of awareness or confidence in these matters.  Ongoing work to promote the policies and ensure staff 
awareness and basic training in fraud matters should secure a more positive culture where staff feel able to report any 
issues concerning them.  

 

P
age 66



  
 

Annual Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 17 
 
 

6.5 Monitoring and Evaluation 
 
6.5.1  Given the significant progress that has been made in the results of the self-assessment, arising from the review of the Fraud, 

Bribery and Corruption Strategy, it is important that the effectiveness of the Strategy is monitored and evaluated. 
 
6.5.2 The implementation of the Strategy will commence once it has received approval from this Committee and from 

Merseytravel.  This will consist of continued awareness-raising and discussion with management, and issue to all staff to 
ensure staff awareness, and reinforcement through the risk management function. 

 
6.5.3 As this implementation progresses, it is hoped that fraud awareness will increase tangibly, with the following indicators 

showing positive movement: 
 

 An increase in the inclusion of populated fraud risks on risk registers; 

 Improvement in the level of fraud risk awareness demonstrated by staff, for example in their interactions with Internal 
Audit; 

 An increase in fraud referrals, whilst not positive in itself, would indicate growing awareness and confidence to make a 
report; and 

 An increase in completion levels of the Fraud Awareness e-learning. 
 

6.5.4 These indicators will be reflected upon in this report in November 2023, once the Strategy has had time to embed. 
 
  
 
 
 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption  
Strategy  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v5.1 

Approved By Audit and Governance Committee: 30 
November 2022 

Merseytravel: 12 December 2022 (TBC) 

Created Date January 2016 

Reviewed Date November 2022 

Date of Next Review November 2023 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose that 

that for which it is supplied without the written permission of the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

 

Page 69



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 2 
 

Contents 
 
 
   Page 
 

 Version Control   2 
 

 Foreword by the Chief Executive   3 
 

1. Introduction   4 
 
2. Objectives   5 
 
3. Statement   6 
 
4. Responsibilities   9 

 

5. Managing the Risk of Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 11 
 
6. Monitoring and Evaluation 19 

 
7. Appendices 20 

 

Appendix A – Defining Fraud Offences 20 
 
Appendix B – Fraud Reporting Summary 22 

 
  
  

Page 70



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 3 
 

Version Control 

Version Date Author Comment 

v5.1 November 2022 Laura A. Williams Significant review 
to accommodate 
items from CIPFA 
self-assessment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 4 
 

Foreword by the Chief Executive 
 
 
The driving purpose of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) is to 
make a difference to the lives of the 1.6m residents that we serve, working in 
partnership to build a fairer, stronger and cleaner city region where no one is left 
behind. Achieving this requires us to drive best value from the resources available to 
us and ensure that they are properly safeguarded.   
 
This strategy is an important building block, demonstrating the need for us to all have 
a clear and strong focus on preventing and detecting fraud, bribery and corruption. 
The LCRCA is committed to ensuring that its fraud, bribery and corruption risks are 
managed effectively, allegations are investigated effectively, and perpetrators are 
appropriately sanctioned. 
 
This document sets out our approach and is an essential read for all.  
 

 
Katherine Fairclough 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
  
  
  

 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 72



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 5 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Fraud, bribery and corruption are not only damaging to the finances of the 

organisation, but they damage confidence in public services. 
 
1.2 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and Merseytravel (hereafter referred 

to as “the organisations”) are committed to ensuring that the risks of fraud, 
bribery and corruption are managed effectively, and that decisive action is taken 
where these offences are found to have been committed. 

 
1.3 This Strategy sets out the organisations‟ approach to managing the risk of 

fraud, bribery and corruption, and how an anti-fraud culture is established and 
promoted.  This is an over-arching document that complements the suite of 
protocols in place relating to specific fraud, bribery and corruption matters, such 
as the Anti- Bribery Protocol, Anti-Money Laundering Protocol, Confidential 
Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol, Surveillance Protocol and Investigation 
Protocol, as well as conduct policies such as the Gifts, Hospitality and 
Declarations of Interest Policy. 

 
1.4 This Strategy covers all employees including agency and temporary workers, 

but also covers external individuals such as suppliers, contractors and 
customers in their dealings with the organisations.  There are specific provisions 
within the Confidential Reporting (“Whistleblowing”) Protocol concerning 
applicability of the protocol. 

 
1.5 This Strategy will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of 

Internal Audit. In the case of significant changes, the Strategy will be presented 
for approval to the Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  
However, as a minimum, the Strategy will be presented for re-approval every 
five years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 6 
 

2. Objectives 
 
2.1 The objectives of this Strategy are to: 
 

 Protect the organisations valuable financial resources to ensure these are 
used to deliver the Corporate Plan;  

 Create and promote a robust „anti-fraud‟ culture across the organisation 
which highlights the organisations zero tolerance of fraud, bribery and 
corruption;  

 Create an environment that enables the reporting of any genuine suspicions 
of fraudulent activity and emphasises that the rights of people raising 
legitimate concerns are properly protected;  

 Promote an effective framework of control and governance relating to fraud 
risk; 

 Confirm the key responsibilities of officers and members in managing the 
risk of fraud, bribery and corruption;  

 Demonstrate how the organisations comply with the CIPFA best practice 
guidance Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local Government 
(2015). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 7 
 

3. Statement 
 
3.1 The organisations are committed to a zero-tolerance approach to fraud, bribery 

and corruption in all their activities. Such an approach is key to ensuring that 
the organisation makes best use of public funds and is able to deliver its 
Corporate Plan. 

 
3.2 The organisations are determined to identify any fraud, bribery and corruption 

carried out by employees who abuse their positions of trust, contractors who 
abuse their relationship or customers who try to obtain assets or services to 
which they are not entitled, and to take appropriate action in respect of such 
matters. 

 
3.3 The organisations expect employees to demonstrate the highest standards of 

conduct at all times, in accordance with the principles set out by the Committee 
on Standards in Public Life (set out in the Code of Corporate Governance within 
the Constitutions): 

 

Principle Definition 

 
 
 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the 
public interest. 
 
 
 
 

 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves 
under any obligation to people or organisations that 
might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain 
financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 
 

 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions 
impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best evidence 
and without discrimination or bias. 
 

 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for 
their decisions and actions and must submit themselves 
to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in 
an open and transparent manner. Information should 
not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 
 

Selflessness 

 

Page 75



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 8 
 

 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 
 

 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in 
their own behaviour and treat others with respect. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour 
wherever it occurs.  

 
3.4 Fraud, bribery and corruption are serious offences and employees will face 

disciplinary action (and potentially criminal prosecution) if there is evidence that 
they have been involved in these activities.  It is also expected that external 
individuals and organisations, including suppliers, contractors and customers 
will act with honesty and integrity in their dealings with the organisations. 

 
3.5 The organisations encourage employees to raise any concerns about fraud, 

bribery and corruption.  Such concerns should be raised with the employee‟s 
manager.  This depends, however, on the seriousness and sensitivity of the 
issues involved and who is suspected of the malpractice and if necessary, there 
are other ways for the employee to raise concerns.  These are listed in the 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol, which also contains further 
guidance for potential whistleblowers.  Suspected money laundering should be 
raised with the Money Laundering Reporting Officer only and details must not 
be shared with other officers. 

 
3.6 The organisations will investigate consistently any allegations or suspicions of 

fraud, bribery or corruption relating to the organisation irrespective of whether it 
is perpetrated from inside the organisations (employees) or by external parties 
(suppliers, contractors or customers).  

 
3.7 The organisations will refer to the appropriate authorities any person who 

commits fraud, bribery or corruption against them. In addition, such offences will 
also be considered under the organisations‟ disciplinary policies.  

 
3.8 The organisations fully support the Police and other external agencies in the 

fight against fraud, bribery and corruption in the public sector. 
 
 
 
 

4. Responsibilities 
 
Chief Executive   
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for the organisations‟ fraud, bribery and 
corruption management arrangements.  This involves setting the tone of the 
organisations so that an anti-fraud culture is embedded and ensuring that an effective 

Page 76



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 9 
 

system of internal controls to manage the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is in 
place. 
 
Executive and Senior Leadership Teams (ELT) (SLT) 
Executive Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service have responsibility for 
implementing the anti-fraud culture in their Directorates, and for ensuring that there is 
an effective system of internal control in place so as to manage the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption in their services.  Executive and Senior Leaders should 
understand the actions to take if they have suspicions or receive reports of suspected 
fraud, bribery and corruption, and they should be champions of good counter-fraud 
practice and demonstrate ethical conduct. 
 
In the event that there is evidence that a significant act of fraud, bribery or corruption 
has been committed, or where a significant weakness in the internal control framework 
has been found, ELT members are required to implement or facilitate the 
implementation of actions to improve prevention or detection (usually 
recommendations set out in an Internal Audit Report).  In the event that there is 
evidence that a significant fraud, bribery or corruption offence has been perpetrated, 
the Executive Director of Corporate Services would take the decision on referral to the 
Police, based upon relevant advice. 
 
Managers 
Managers have a key role in maintaining effective systems of internal control in 
respect of their areas.  They also have the responsibility of ensuring that their staff 
understand their role in behaving with honesty and integrity.  Managers should also be 
aware that they may be asked to provide advice to staff and to receive reports of 
suspicions of fraud, bribery and corruption.   
 
All Employees  
All employees have responsibility for being aware of the risks of fraud, bribery and 
corruption, to comply with established internal controls designed to prevent and detect 
fraud, and to act with integrity and honesty in their work.  They have a responsibility to 
report to management any concerns they may have. 
 
Merseytravel Meeting 
This group has overall oversight of the internal control and governance arrangements 
for Merseytravel, and has responsibility for approving its fraud, bribery and corruption 
protocols. 
 
Audit and Governance Committee  
This Committee has responsibility for the monitoring and review of the effectiveness of 
internal control and governance arrangements and overseeing the continued 
development of these arrangements, including in respect of fraud, bribery and 
corruption. They also monitor progress in addressing any fraud-related issues reported 
to it, including those identified through Internal Audit reports. 
 
The Audit and Governance Committee has responsibility for approving fraud, bribery 
and corruption protocols on behalf of the Combined Authority. 
 
Internal Audit  

Page 77



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 10 
 

The Head of Internal Audit has a responsibility, under the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards, to review the organisations‟ arrangements for managing the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption, and evaluate their effectiveness in preventing and detecting 
fraud, bribery and corruption. 
 
The role of Internal Audit in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption is to: 
 

 Prepare and maintain a suite of relevant fraud, bribery and corruption protocols for 
the organisations; 

 Promote an anti-fraud culture by raising awareness of fraud, bribery and corruption 
issues amongst officers and members; 

 Advise management in the identification and management of fraud, bribery and 
corruption risks; 

 Undertake proactive audit work to prevent and detect fraud, bribery and corruption; 
and 

 Undertake the investigation of frauds perpetrated against the organisations or 
emanating from within the organisations, where this is deemed appropriate, 
including the subsequent reporting of findings, conclusions and recommendations 
to the relevant member(s) of the Executive Leadership Team (ELT). 

 
It is worthy of note that it is not the responsibility of Internal Audit to manage fraud, 
bribery and corruption risks across the organisations, or to establish the organisation‟s 
fraud, bribery and corruption culture.  Internal Audit supports the implementation of the 
culture and supports management to understand its fraud, bribery and corruption risks. 

 
The Head of Internal Audit is also the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO), which entails acting as the main contact for receiving reports of suspected 
money laundering and carrying out the associated reporting. 
 
External Audit 
The external auditor has a responsibility, as part of their statutory duties, to ensure that 
the organisations have adequate arrangements in place for the prevention and 
detection of fraud, bribery and corruption. 
  

Page 78



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 11 
 

5. Managing the Risk of Fraud, Bribery and  
Corruption 

 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local 
Government (2015) 
 
5.1 CIPFA published the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption in Local Government in 2015. The Code is not mandatory, but it 
represents best practice, and compliance with the principles set out in the Code 
enables the organisations to demonstrate effective financial stewardship of 
public funds. 

 
5.2 The principles are: 
 

 Acknowledge the responsibility for countering fraud and corruption; 

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

 Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
5.3 The Head of Internal Audit undertakes an annual self-assessment of the 

organisations‟ arrangements against the requirements of the Code of Practice. 
The outcomes of these assessments are presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee, and any actions arising are monitored through this 
forum. This process ensures that the implementation of this Strategy is subject 
to regular monitoring, that the success of the Strategy can be measured and 
that actions are clearly defined, with target dates of implementation and clear 
intended outcomes. 

 
5.4 In demonstrating how the organisations meet the requirements of the Code of 

Practice, the key elements of the internal control framework are set out in the 
following paragraphs. 

 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Risks 
 
5.5 In order to structure the organisations‟ responses to the prevention, detection 

and management of fraud risks, it is important that the risks are known and 
understood.  It is incumbent on every Assistant Director/Head of Service to 
ensure that within their Service Risk Registers, they have considered and 
reflected the fraud, bribery and corruption risks faced by their services, and 
have reflected the controls in place to manage these risks and also reflected 
any additional actions they may wish to take to reduce the risk‟s likelihood 
and/or impact. 

 
5.6 The main types of fraud, bribery and corruption risks are: 
 

 Tangible assets – including misappropriation of items such as cash, cash 
equivalents (such as travel tickets) or stock; 

Page 79



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 12 
 

 Payroll and Payments – manipulation or falsification of documents such as 
a timesheet or payment request so as to receive a payment to which the 
person is not entitled; 

 Procurement – manipulation of tendering systems so as to obtain work 
unfairly, suppliers or contractors making spurious claims for payment, 
bribery and corruption in relationships with suppliers and contractors which 
may result in those organisations receiving work/payments to which they 
are not entitled or is not in the public interest; 

 Cyber and information – exploiting weaknesses in security to obtain data, 
hold the organisation to ransom or breach privacy and/or data protection for 
personal gain;   

 Debtors – falsifying documents in order to evade payment, or generate a 
refund to which the individual/organisation is not entitled; 

 Treasury Management –falsification of details so as to make a spurious 
payment or being inappropriately influenced to obtain a loan that is not 
required or not obtaining the loan lowest interest rate in exchange for 
personal gain; 

 Insurance – fictitious or exaggerated accounts of incidents (such as a 
personal accident) in order to receive a payment; 

 False accounting – this is usually a method used to hide or disguise 
fraudulent activity, by presenting spurious items in a particular way intended 
to evade detection, such as miscoding a transaction; 

 Recruitment – provision of false data by an applicant so as to obtain 
employment unfairly; 

 Grant funding – funding provided to external organisations may not be 
used in accordance with the grant conditions, and records may be falsified 
so as to obtain funding under false pretences.  

 Concessionary travel and ticketing – falsification of documents so as to 
obtain concessionary travel to which the individual is not entitled, use of 
tickets outside of prescribed conditions;   

 Money laundering – use of CA systems to add a veneer of respectability to 
funds that have emanated from the proceeds of crime; and 

 Bribery – abuse of one‟s power/influence in order to generate a financial or 
other personal gain. 

 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Risk Control Measures 
 
5.7 There is a variety of specific control measures that can be utilised within 

systems and processes to reduce the risk of fraud occurring or to increase the 
likelihood of its detection.  Such measures should be incorporated appropriately 
into the design and operation of systems, and reflected within documented 
procedures, as a key part of the organisation‟s defence mechanisms to reduce 
the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption occurring.  These include the following 
main types: 

  

 Separation of duties – ensuring that no single person controls all aspects 
of a system or process, for example the raising and making of a payment;  

 Organisation – having a clear organisational structure where there is a 
clear understanding of key roles and responsibilities;  

Page 80



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 13 
 

 Accounting and arithmetic – these relate to systems such as coding and 
budget management which are designed to identify unusual items of 
expenditure, overspends or attempts to conceal theft.  Arithmetic controls 
relate to the use of control totals and reconciliations to highlight unusual 
items that are out of line with expectations; 

 Physical – these are controls that are used to safeguard tangible assets 
e.g. cash and stock from theft or damage.  Examples include use of safes 
for storage of items of value, and building access controls; 

 Supervision – supervision of staff to ensure they are undertaking their role 
competently; 

 Personnel – ensuring that staff are appropriate for their roles, adequately 
trained and demonstrating a commitment to the corporate culture and 
values; 

 Authorisation and approval – the presence of clear delegated authorities 
and processes to ensure that decisions are made and executed only by 
those with appropriate authority; and 

 Management – effective management through activities such as planning, 
monitoring, reporting and follow up, so as to identify areas of weakness or 
inadequate performance that may hint at fraudulent activity. 

 
Corporate Policy Framework 
   
5.8 There is a comprehensive corporate policy and protocol framework in place, 

which details the requirements, considerations and key internal controls to 
prevent and detect fraud, bribery and corruption.  The key policies/protocols 
are: 

 

 Anti-Money Laundering Protocol; 

 Anti-Bribery Protocol; 

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol; 

 Surveillance Protocol; 

 Investigation Protocol; 

 Information Management Policy Framework; 

 Constitution – including Code of Corporate Governance and Financial 
Regulations; 

 Guidelines on Cash Handling; 

 Guidance on Travel and Expenses; 

 Gifts and Hospitality and Declaration of Interests Procedure; 

 Officer Code of Conduct; and 

 Risk Management Policy. 
 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Prevention 
 
5.9 One of the key elements of managing the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is 

ensuring that there are preventative measures in place that make the offences 
more difficult to undertake.  Prevention seeks to establish physical, logical and 
procedural barriers to discourage fraud, bribery and corruption, by implementing 
cost-effective countermeasures to prevent or reduce the identified risk: 

 

Page 81



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 14 
 

 It is the responsibility of management to ensure that there are effective 
internal controls in place to prevent and detect fraud, bribery and corruption.  
It is incumbent on ELT and SLT members to establish and ensure the 
effective operation of such controls within their areas of responsibility.  ELT 
and SLT members are also responsible, in conjunction with their managers, 
for ensuring that their staff are aware of relevant policies, protocols and 
procedural documents, and that the requirements within these are being 
followed.  

 

 Officers must follow the requirements set out in the organisations‟ policies, 
protocols and any local procedures implemented by management.  This 
includes the requirements contained within the Conditions of Employment 
issued upon appointment to their role.  

 

 Internal Audit plays an important preventative role in reviewing the controls 
established by management to prevent fraud, bribery and corruption and 
making recommendations to management where improvements in the 
design of, or compliance with, internal controls are required.  Internal Audit 
develops and delivers an annual risk-based Internal Audit Plan that gives 
consideration to fraud, bribery and corruption risk and makes provision for 
the investigation of allegations into irregularity. The Internal Audit Plan is 
informed by the organisations‟ risk registers, which include fraud risks. 

 

 The system of internal control is the set of measures established in order to 
provide reasonable assurance of effective and efficient operations, reliability 
of internal financial control and reporting, and compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations.  The effectiveness of the system of internal control in 
preventing and detecting fraud, bribery and corruption is reported upon in 
the Annual Governance Statement.  This Statement is supported by the 
Head of Internal Audit‟s Annual Opinion, expressed in the Annual Report. 

 

 All the organisations‟ systems and processes should be fully documented, 
kept up to date, and made available to the staff operating those systems.  A 
lack of systems documentation reduces control and creates the opportunity 
for unacceptable practices to occur without check, inevitably weakening the 
system‟s operation.  It should be clear to all involved what the processes 
are to achieve the system‟s objectives. Documenting the system ensures 
that everybody involved is aware of the authorised process for undertaking 
the various stages of the system‟s operation. This awareness, together with 
the management authorisation of a documented system, establishes a 
culture of formality that assists the prevention of the introduction of informal 
changes.  Documenting a system provides clarity of purpose and intent, 
both for the operator of a system and any interested third party. 

 

 It is a prerequisite to sound control that duties involved in financial 
transactions are as separated as possible. Financial Regulations 
specifically state that the principle of "separation of duties" should be 
observed in the calculating, checking and recording of sums payable and 
receivable from the duties of collection and disbursing of such sums; and in 

Page 82



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 15 
 

other obvious areas of susceptibility. The separation of duties principle is an 
important preventative control over fraudulent and corrupt practices. 

 

 Authorisation controls are there to ensure that approval has been granted to 
allow a particular course of action.  

 

 Other controls such as physical security, management oversight and 
accounting controls, as detailed in 5.7 should also be employed as 
appropriate in the prevention and detection of fraud, bribery and corruption. 

 

 The Executive Director of Corporate Services has a statutory duty to ensure 
the proper administration of the organisations‟ financial affairs. Accordingly, 
Financial Regulations have been developed and outline the systems, 
procedures and responsibilities of employees in relation to financial activity. 

 

 The Executive Director of Corporate Services may, from time to time, 
supplement the Financial Regulations by other documents, such as 
Financial Instructions relating to detailed procedures.  These are considered 
as part of the Financial Regulations and have the same status and 
authority.  

 

 Recruitment and selection of employees is a key preventative measure in 
the fight against fraud, bribery and corruption and it is important to take 
effective steps at the recruitment stage to establish, as far as possible, the 
previous record of potential employees, in terms of propriety and integrity 
and the veracity of their statements in respect of qualifications.  The 
recruitment of employees is therefore required to be in accordance with the 
organisations‟ Recruitment and Selection Policy.  In particular, written 
references are sought directly from referees regarding the disciplinary 
record of potential employees before employment offers are made. 

 

 All employees should be aware of the Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of 
Interest Policy and associated guidance.  

 

 Employees must ensure that they avoid situations where there is a potential 
for a conflict of interest to arise or be perceived to have arisen. Effective 
separation of duties provides assurance that decisions made are based 
upon appropriate sources, so as to avoid accusations of the improper 
disclosure of confidential information.  There is a duty on relevant 
employees to declare pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests by completing 
a Declaration of Interests form on an annual basis, whenever their 
circumstances change and prior to embarking on procurement activity.  

 

 Fraud Awareness training is provided to all employees of the organisations 
in the form of e-learning, but employees should be made aware of all fraud, 
bribery and corruption risks pertinent to their role as part of on-the-job 
training.  Staff are also required to read and acknowledge understanding of 
corporate policies and protocols, including those relating to fraud, bribery 

Page 83



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 16 
 

and corruption and conduct.  There is an ongoing programme of fraud 
awareness activity, including during the annual International Fraud 
Awareness Week, which is intended to highlight topical issues and remind 
staff of their key responsibilities.   

 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Deterrence 
 
5.10  There is a range of measures in place to deter employees from engaging in 

fraud, bribery or corruption: 
 

 The organisations have a well-established and fully implemented 
disciplinary process.  It is important in maintaining an anti-fraud culture 
within the organisations, that all offences are dealt with in a consistent 
manner and that minor unethical practices are not overlooked (such as 
petty theft or small-scale expenses fraud) or dealt with in an unduly lenient 
manner.  

 

 Where there is evidence of fraud, bribery or corruption (or other potential 
criminal offence), the matter will be referred to the Police (via Action Fraud) 
for investigation, who in turn may refer the matter to the Crown Prosecution 
Service to consider prosecution. It is recognised that it may not always be in 
the public interest to refer cases for criminal proceedings. 

 

 Where a fraud, bribery and corruption offence has been proven and a 
financial loss has been suffered, the organisations will seek to recover the 
full value of any loss from the perpetrators.  This may involve civil 
proceedings being instigated through the courts. 

 

 Where appropriate, the organisations will publicise successful actions it has 
taken against fraudsters. 

 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Detection 
 
5.11 The organisations actively seek to detect any incidents of fraud, bribery and 

corruption, to allow it to respond openly, promptly and responsibly to any 
suspected cases.  All employees, suppliers, contractors and customers have an 
important role to play in the detection and reporting of fraud, bribery and 
corruption: 

 

 The organisations encourage anyone who knows or suspects any 
inappropriate behaviour to report it.   
 

 There are specific reporting arrangements for suspicions of bribery and 
money laundering, and these are detailed in the respective protocols.  For 
suspicions of fraud, including theft, reports should be made in the first 
instance to the employee‟s line manager in the first instance (or another 
appropriate manager in the event that the line manager is under suspicion) 
and the Head of Internal Audit should be informed.   
 

Page 84



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 17 
 

 The Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol provides advice and 
guidance on how specific matters of concern may be raised and aims to 
give employees the confidence to raise concerns internally.  The Protocol is 
regularly reviewed to ensure it is compatible with current legislation and to 
assess its effectiveness and raising awareness of the protocol is part of all 
fraud awareness campaigns.  Employees are expected to act reasonably 
and in the public interest when utilising the whistleblowing process.  If it is 
proven that an allegation has not been made in the public interest, this will 
be regarded as serious or gross misconduct. 

 

 SLT members must act in accordance with the Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Protocol to support any members of staff who have „blown 
the whistle‟.  They must instigate appropriate disciplinary procedures should 
the result of any investigation identify evidence of fraud, bribery or 
corruption. 

 

 Budgetary control is important in identifying fraudulent activity at significant 
levels.  SLT members, managers, budget holders and business 
accountants have a responsibility to be aware of the transactions affecting 
budget lines under their control.  They should ensure that all transactions 
correspond to expectations and that any anomalies are investigated and 
corrected. 

 

 Whilst it is management's responsibility to prevent and detect fraudulent 
and corrupt activity, Internal Audit conducts a programme of audits 
designed to test for signs of inappropriate activity.  Internal Audit utilises 
fraud detection techniques and data analytics to extend audit coverage.  In 
particular, use is made of Computer Assisted Audit Techniques (CAATs) to 
undertake targeted testing on high-risk areas and transactions, such as 
payroll, creditors and debtors. 

 

 Where appropriate, the organisations engage in data sharing initiatives to 
facilitate fraud detection, such as the National Fraud Initiative (NFI). Such 
initiatives are carried out in accordance with data protection, and other 
relevant legislation.  The results of such exercises are fully reviewed, and 
matches investigated, with appropriate action taken where fraud is 
detected, including to recover losses. 

 

 For the purposes of the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption, 
the organisations will work jointly with other agencies and will share 
intelligence data with these agencies as appropriate. These agencies 
include, but are not limited to Merseyside Police, HM Revenue and 
Customs and Local Authorities. 

 
Investigation of Allegations of Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
 
5.12 The aim of any investigation is to establish the facts surrounding the allegation 

that has been made, so as to establish whether there is evidence of fraud, 
bribery or corruption. 

Page 85



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 18 
 

 
5.13 Cases for investigation must be notified to Internal Audit, in accordance with the 

Investigation Protocol. The Head of Internal Audit will liaise with relevant 
members of SLT and potentially ELT to determine the investigative action 
required and to establish the best route for the investigation to take, for example 
by Assistant Director/Head of Service, Internal Audit, or the Police. 

 
5.14 The Head of Internal Audit will ensure that all investigations it carries out comply 

with the Investigation Protocol, other relevant organisational directives and the 
law. 

  
5.15 Following the conclusion of an investigation undertaken by Internal Audit, an 

Internal Audit Report will be produced and directed to the relevant members of 
ELT/SLT.  The report will reflect any matters arising from the investigation and 
make recommendations to improve internal controls and reduce the risk of 
fraud, bribery and corruption.  This will also include recommendations regarding 
any further action to be taken in respect of the perpetrator. 

 
Sanctions 

5.16  The organisations will act upon the basis of the evidence obtained through the 
investigation to arrive at a view on how the perpetrators of fraud, bribery and 
corruption will be sanctioned. 

 
5.17 The organisation has a range of sanctions at its disposal, including those within 

the Disciplinary Policy, recovery of any financial losses incurred, and referral to 
the Police.   

 
5.18 Where there is evidence of a financial loss suffered by the organisation, all 

reasonable steps will be taken to recover the loss, which may include the cost 
incurred by the organisation in undertaking an investigation (for example where 
significant time has been spent or external experts have had to be engaged at 
cost). 

 
5.19 Where it appears that a criminal offence may have been committed, the 

organisations will ordinarily inform the Police (the final decision of referral to the 
Police will be a matter for the Executive Director of Corporate Services), so that 
they can carry out a criminal investigation. The Police may refer the matter to 
the Crown Prosecution Service to determine whether a prosecution will be 
pursued.  

 
5.20 The organisation will, as appropriate and being cognisant of legal and public 

interest considerations, publicise all successful prosecutions for fraud, bribery 
and corruption. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 19 
 

6. Monitoring and Evaluation 
 
6.1 It is the responsibility of the Head of Internal Audit to monitor and evaluate the 

effectiveness of the Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy, as set out within 
this document and implemented by the organisation. 

 
6.2 The Head of Internal Audit reports regularly on relevant fraud, bribery and 

corruption matters to ELT and the Audit and Governance Committee and on an 
annual basis presents a summary report which highlights the results of the 
evaluation and the actions that are required to increase the Strategy‟s 
effectiveness.  The report includes key pieces of data that are considered 
indicators of effectiveness, such as: 

 

 numbers of frauds investigated; 

 number of whistleblows received; and 

 take-up of fraud awareness training. 
 
6.3 Responsibility for implementation of the actions arising from the report is likely 

to sit across the organisation, with Internal Audit taking the lead on updating 
relevant protocols and this Strategy as part of its annual review process, but 
also broader recommendations regarding fraud awareness, understanding and 
compliance issues.  ELT and SLT are required to take the lead on embedding 
the Strategy and fraud culture within their respective areas, so that there is 
clarity on the organisation‟s stance and a consistent approach to the issues. 

 
6.4 The Audit and Governance Committee has the opportunity to comment on and 

scrutinise the report and evaluation and make its own recommendations on how 
the Strategy and its implementation could be improved. 

  

Page 87



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 20 
 

Appendix A 
 
Defining Fraud Offences 
 
The main offences are summarised below, however, please refer to the legislation at 
www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the relevant Acts of Parliament. 
 
Fraud 
Section 1 of the Fraud Act 2006 defined a general offence of fraud and three ways in 
which it may be committed: 

 

 Fraud by false representation; 

 Fraud by failing to disclose information; and 

 Fraud by abuse of position.  
 

Fraud by false representation requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 The person makes the representation knowing that it is or might be false or 
misleading.  

 
Fraud by failing to disclose information requires: 

  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and 

 Failure to disclose information where there is a legal duty to disclose.  
 

Fraud by abuse of position requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  
Abuse of a position where one is expected to safeguard another person‟s financial 
interests.  
 
Bribery and Corruption 
 
The Bribery Act 2010 has defined the following offences: 
 

 Offering, promising or giving a bribe; 

 Requesting or agreeing to receive a bribe; 

 Bribery of a foreign public official; and  

 The corporate offence of failing to prevent a bribe. 
 
It will be a defence against the corporate offence if an organisation has “adequate 
procedures” in place to prevent bribery.  
 
 

Page 88

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 21 
 

Money Laundering  
 
Money laundering offences are found in Part 7 of Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002 („POCA‟). 
 
Money laundering describes offences concerning the possession, concealment, 
conversion, transfer or making of arrangements relating to the proceeds of crime. This 
is not limited to money or cash. 
 
Money laundering is defined in the POCA as “the process by which the proceeds of 
crime are converted into assets which appear to have a legitimate origin, so that they 
can be retained permanently or recycled into further criminal enterprises”. 
 
Money laundering can be broken down into two categories: 

 Those who commit offences and then launder the proceeds of those criminal 
offences. The criminal offences are referred to as “predicate offences”. 

 Those whose only criminal involvement is to launder the proceeds of crime 
committed by others. 

  

Page 89



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 22 
 

Appendix B 
 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Reporting Summary 
 
This is a summary only – for the detail, please refer to each of the relevant fraud, 
bribery and corruption protocols on OnePlace. 
 

Type of Concern 
and summary of legal 

basis 
 

Who can 
raise a 

concern 

Who can 
receive the 

concern 

Key Items to Note 

Fraud 
Fraud Act 2006 

 Fraud by false 
representation; 

 Fraud by failing to 
disclose information; 
and 

 Fraud by abuse of 
position 

 Includes theft. 
 

Employees Line 
managers 
Head of 
Internal 
Audit 

 

Please notify Head of 
Internal Audit when 
fraud concern is 
highlighted 

Bribery 
Bribery Act 2010 

 Offering, promising or 
giving a bribe; 

 Requesting or agreeing 
to receive a bribe; 

 Bribery of a foreign 
public official; and  

 The corporate offence 
of failing to prevent a 
bribe. 

 

 Reporting should take place in accordance 
with the Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Policy 

Money Laundering 
Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002 

 Possession, 
concealment, 
conversion, transfer or 
making of 
arrangements relating 
to the proceeds of 
crime. This is not limited 
to money or cash. 

 
 

Employees Money 
Laundering 
Reporting 
Officer 
(MLRO) – 
role held by 
Head of 
Internal 
Audit (HoIA) 
- only 

 No details should 
be given to any 
other staff member 
as they could be 
implicated in any 
offence.   

 Report must be 
made direct to the 
MLRO using the 
reporting form in 
the Money 
Laundering 
Protocol 

Confidential Reporting Employees Line  Disclosures in the 

Page 90



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy Page | 23 
 

Type of Concern 
and summary of legal 

basis 
 

Who can 
raise a 

concern 

Who can 
receive the 

concern 

Key Items to Note 

(“whistleblow”) 
Public Interest Disclosure 
Act 1995. Employee has a 
belief that any of the 
following, has, will or may 
occur: 
 

 a criminal offence;  

 failure to comply with 
any legal obligation to 
which he is subject; 

 a miscarriage of justice; 

 endangering the health 
or safety of any 
individual;  

 environmental damage; 
or 

 that any matter above 
has been or may be 
deliberately concealed. 

 

including 
agency / 
temporary 
workers, 
and 
trainees 

managers 
Head of 
Internal 
Audit 
Head of 
People and 
OD 
Monitoring 
Officer 

public interest are 
not always badged 
as whistleblows – 
the Protocol 
details the criteria 

 Please notify HoIA 
for monitoring 
purposes  

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v4.3 

Approved By Audit and Governance Committee: 30 
November 2022 

Merseytravel: 12 December 2022 (TBC) 

Created Date May 2016  

Reviewed Date November 2022 

Date of Next Review November 2023 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose that 

that for which it is supplied without the written permission of the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

 
 
 

Page 93



   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

 Version Control 2 
 

1. Purpose 3 
 

2. Definition 3 
 
3. Statement 3 
 
4. Scope 4 

 
5. Evaluation 5 
 
6. Responsibilities 5 

 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 2 
 

Version Control 
 

Version Date Author Comment 

v4.3 November 2022 Laura A. Williams Reviewed, no 
changes made 

 
 
 

Page 95



   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 3 
 

1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this protocol is to demonstrate how the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) are 
committed to taking a proactive approach to managing the risks associated with 
bribery. Having such a protocol is a key element of demonstrating the organisations’ 
compliance with the Bribery Act 2010. 
 
 

2. Definition 
 
Bribery is the provision of a financial or other advantage to someone to encourage that 
person to perform their functions or activities improperly or to reward that person for 
having already done so. 
 
 

3. Statement 
 
The organisations are committed to combating bribery and determined to identify 
employees who abuse their positions of trust or consultants, contractors or suppliers 
who abuse their relationship with the organisations. The organisations have a zero-
tolerance attitude to acts of bribery by anyone associated with the organisations or 
acting on their behalf. 
 
In order to limit its exposure to bribery the organisations will: 
  

 Inform employees how to recognise and prevent the use of bribery by themselves 
and others. 

 

 Encourage the reporting of any suspicion of bribery and treat such reports 
appropriately in accordance with the organisations’ Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Protocol. 

 

 Investigate allegations of bribery and assist the Police or other external agencies in 
any prosecution. 

 

 Take disciplinary action against any employee(s) involved in bribery.  
 
The organisations prohibit the activities detailed in the Bribery Act 2010, and the main 
offences are summarised below (please refer to the legislation at 
www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the provisions of the Bribery Act 2010). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 4 
 

1. Bribing another person 
 
This can occur where a person:  
 

 offers, promises, or gives a financial or other advantage to another person, and 
intends the advantage: 
 
 to induce a person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity, or 
 to reward a person for the improper performance of such a function or activity. 

  

 offers, promises, or gives a financial or other advantage to another person, and 
knows or believes that the acceptance of the advantage would itself constitute the 
improper performance of a relevant function or activity. 

 
2.  Being bribed 
 
This can occur where a person: 
 

 requests, agrees to receive, or accepts a financial or other advantage intending 
that, in consequence, a relevant function or activity should be performed improperly  

 

 requests, agrees to receive, or accepts a financial or other advantage, and the 
request, agreement or acceptance itself constitutes the improper performance by 
the person of a relevant function or activity. 

 

 requests, agrees to receive, or accepts a financial or other advantage as a reward 
for the improper performance of a relevant function or activity. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
This protocol applies to all employees. It is expected that agents, consultants, 
contractors, suppliers and any other people or bodies associated with the 
organisations will act in a manner consistent with this policy. 
 
This protocol is not meant to prohibit the following activities, providing these are 
proportionate, compliant with the guidance detailed in the Gifts and Hospitality Policy 
and properly recorded in accordance with that Policy: 
  

 the giving or receiving of appropriate gifts; 
 

 the provision or acceptance of appropriate hospitality;  
 

 the use of any recognised fast-track process which is available to all on payment of 
a fee.  

 
Inevitably, decisions as to what is acceptable may not always be easy.  If there is 
doubt as to whether a potential act constitutes bribery, the matter should be referred to 

Page 97



   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 5 
 

the relevant Head of Service or if necessary, the Head of Internal Audit. However, 
where doubt exists, a prudent approach is advisable. 
 
 

5. Evaluation 
 
This protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of Internal 
Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the protocol will be presented for approval to 
the Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a minimum, the 
protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
 
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for deploying this protocol across the 
organisations. 
  
Heads of Service are responsible for maintaining effective systems of internal control 
to protect against bribery and report any suspicions where these exist. 
 
 
 

Page 98



 
 

Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Protocol 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v5.2 

Approved By Audit and Governance Committee: 30 
November 2022 

Merseytravel: 12 December 2022 (TBC) 

Created Date May 2016 

Reviewed Date November 2022 

Date of Next Review November 2023 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose that 

that for which it is supplied without the written permission of the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

Page 99



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

 Version Control          2 
 

1. Purpose 3 
 

2. Definitions 3 
 

3. Statement 4 
 
4. Scope 4 
 
5. Evaluation 5 
 
6. Responsibilities 5 

 

7. Guidance 6
  
 How to Raise a Concern 6 
 
 Anonymous Allegations 6 
 
 Untrue Allegations 7 

 
 How a Concern will be responded to      7 
 
 How the Matter can be taken further      8 

 
8. Appendices 9 

 
Appendix A: Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 9 
 
Appendix B: Contact List 10 

 
Appendix C: Confidential Reporting Form 11 

  
 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 2 
 

Version Control 
 

Version Date Author Comment 

v5.2 November 2022 Laura A. Williams Reviewed, no 
significant changes 
made. 

Page 101



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 3 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This protocol establishes the arrangements for the reporting of concerns 
(“whistleblowing”) by an employee and others, including agency / temporary workers, 
contractors and trainees of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority or 
Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”). It outlines how a concern 
can be raised internally, rather than overlooking the matter or “blowing the whistle” 
externally. 
 
The organisations have adopted this Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol 
and associated guidance to advise those to whom the protocol applies how to raise 
concerns confidentially and without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination or 
disadvantage. 
 
This protocol and guidance aim to:  
 

 Encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns; 

 Reassure you that the organisations take Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) 
seriously; 

 Provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback on any 
action taken; 

 Ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are aware of how 
to pursue them if you are not satisfied; and  

 Reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or victimisation if 
you have a reasonable belief that you have made any disclosure in the public 
interest and in accordance with the Protected Disclosure Provisions. 

 
This Protocol does not replace the Corporate Complaints Procedure, Disciplinary 
Policy, Grievance Policy or the Health and Safety Incident Reporting Procedure, and 
reference should be made to these policies in determining the appropriate route for 
raising the concern. 
 
 

2. Definitions 
 
Confidential Reporting or “Whistleblowing” is the term used when an employee raises 
a concern about wrongdoing or malpractice in the workplace that has a public interest 
aspect to it. Officially, this is called “„making a disclosure in the public interest”. 
Whistleblowing is important to protect and reassure the workforce, and to maintain a 
healthy working culture and an efficient organisation. 
 
A grievance or private complaint is a dispute about an employee‟s own employment 
position and has no public interest dimension. The Grievance Policy exists to enable 
an employee or group of employees to raise a “grievance” or complaint relating to their 
own employment. 
 
 
 

Page 102



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 4 
 

3. Statement 
 
The organisations will: 
 

 Investigate all concerns which fall within the scope of this Protocol; 

 Respond quickly when concerns are raised; 

 Inform persons bringing concerns forward of the outcome of any investigation 
subject to legal constraints; 

 Implement appropriate actions to remediate any wrongdoing proven as a result of 
the whistleblowing concern, and learn appropriate lessons; 

 Treat all concerns in confidence and make every effort not to reveal the identity of 
the whistleblower without consent, unless required by law; 

 Not tolerate harassment of employees or any other person who brings forward a 
concern;  

 Endeavour to ensure that employees are not discriminated against or suffer 
detriment as a result of raising a concern; and 

 Take appropriate action in the event of an individual suffering detriment as a result 
of raising a concern. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
This Protocol covers employees and others, including agency and temporary workers, 
and trainees. There is no minimum period of service and no age limits. 

 
The organisations‟ Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol is intended to 
cover any concerns that fall within the scope of a “protected disclosure” under the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998. This relates to “any disclosure of information 
which, in the reasonable belief of the worker making the disclosure, tends to show one 
or more of the following: 
 
a. that a criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely to be 

committed; 
 
b. that a person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any legal 

obligation to which they are subject; 
 
c. that a miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur; 
 
d. that the health or safety of any individual has been, is being or is likely to be 

endangered; 
 
e. that the environment has been, is being or is likely to be damaged; or 
 
f. that information tending to show any matter falling within any one of the preceding 

paragraphs has been, is being or is likely to be deliberately concealed. 
 

Page 103



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 5 
 

Protection for employees who “whistleblow” is documented in the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998.  A summary of the main provisions of the PIDA is 
attached at Appendix A of this protocol (please refer to the legislation at 
www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the provisions of the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 1998). 
 
 

5. Evaluation 
 
This Protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of Internal 
Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the Protocol will be presented for approval to 
the Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a minimum, the 
Protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
 
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation of 
the procedures detailed in this Protocol. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for the implementation and day-to-day 
monitoring of this Protocol and making staff aware of this Protocol. 
 
The organisations are committed to the highest legal, ethical and moral standards in 
the conduct of their business. In line with that commitment it is expected that 
employees who are either aware of malpractice, or suspect it, will report it in 
accordance with this Protocol. 
 
When bringing forward a concern it is the responsibility of individual employees to 
have a reasonable belief that the concern raised is substantially true and is made in 
the public interest. An employee doing so in the public interest will be protected 
against recriminations, victimisation or harassment. This applies even if, after 
investigation, the disclosure is found to be incorrect or unfounded. 
 
All concerns will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made not to reveal 
the identity of the Whistleblower without consent, unless required by law. However, a 
Whistleblower may be asked to make a statement or come forward as a witness, for 
example, during disciplinary proceedings. 
 
If an allegation is found to have been made when known to be false, this will not be 
protected as the disclosure cannot be in the public interest. Such allegations will be 
treated as serious misconduct and may result in disciplinary action against the 
employee who made the disclosure. 
 
The organisations will uphold the principles of employment and criminal law and 
protect as far as it is reasonable to do so, the rights of any person accused of 
wrongdoing.   
 

Page 104

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 6 
 

Any investigation into allegations of potential malpractice will be conducted with 
confidentiality and will not influence or be influenced by any disciplinary or redundancy 
procedures that already affect you. 
 
All employees should familiarise themselves with this Protocol and if necessary, seek 
clarification from their Line Manager, or any of the officers detailed in the contact list at 
Appendix B. 
 
 

7. Guidance 
 
How to Raise a Concern 
 
Where you have a concern that falls under the scope of the Protocol, the organisations 
encourage you to raise your concern internally, rather than overlooking the matter or 
“blowing the whistle” externally. You should normally raise your concern initially with 
your immediate supervisor or manager. However, depending on the seriousness and 
sensitivity of the matter you may choose to raise your concern outside of your direct 
line management. A list of contact officers with whom a concern can be confidentially 
raised or further advice and guidance can be sought is attached at Appendix B.   
 
A concern may be raised verbally or in writing. The earlier you express the concern the 
easier it is for the organisations to take appropriate action. There is a reporting form at 
Appendix C, which will assist you in reporting the relevant details of the concern. All 
confidential reports received are also reported to the Head of Internal Audit for 
monitoring purposes. 
 
Although you are not expected to prove beyond doubt the truth of an allegation, you 
will need to demonstrate to the person contacted that there are reasonable grounds for 
your concern. 
 
You may wish to consider discussing your concern with a colleague first and you may 
find it easier to raise the matter if there are two (or more) of you who have the same 
concern.  
 
You may invite your trade union, professional association representative, a friend or 
legal advisor to be present during any meetings or interviews in connection with the 
concern you have raised.  
 
Anonymous Allegations 
  
You are encouraged to put your name to your allegation whenever possible. A concern 
expressed anonymously can be more difficult to investigate / substantiate but will be 
considered at the organisations‟ discretion. 
 
In exercising this discretion, the factors to be considered would include: 
 

 The seriousness of the issues raised; 

 The credibility of the concern; and 

Page 105



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 7 
 

 Available evidence / sources from which to substantiate the concern. 
 

Untrue Allegations 
 
In accordance with the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, there is no 
requirement for disclosures to be true in order for whistleblowers to receive statutory 
protection. Therefore, if you report a suspicion of malpractice that is found not to be 
substantiated following an investigation, you will be protected under the Confidential 
Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol. 
 
However, any allegation that you make which you know to be false is not protected, as 
the disclosure would not be in the public interest. This could result in formal 
disciplinary action being taken against you. 
 
How a Concern will be responded to 
 
The organisations will respond to your concern. However, investigating your concern is 
not the same as either accepting or rejecting them. 
 
There may be a range of issues raised under this Protocol and, depending upon the 
nature of the concern, the most appropriate officer to investigate will be determined.  
 
A Concern or allegation which falls within the scope of specific policies and procedures 
(for example, discrimination issues) will normally be referred for consideration under 
those procedures. 
 
In order to protect individuals and those that are the subject of a concern, initial 
enquiries will be made to decide whether an investigation is appropriate and, if so, 
what form it should take, in accordance with the Investigation Protocol. If appropriate, 
an issue may be referred to the Police or to the organisations‟ appointed External 
Auditor. 
 
Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for investigation.  
If urgent action is required, this will be taken before any investigation is conducted. 
 
Within ten working days of a concern being raised, the person to whom you made the 
disclosure in the first instance will write to you: 
 

 Acknowledging that the concern has been received; 

 Indicating how the organisations propose to deal with the matter; 

 Estimating how long it will take to provide a final response; 

 Telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made; 

 Supplying you with information on staff support mechanisms and; 

 Telling you if no further investigations will take place and the reason/s for this. 
 
Officers investigating your concern may need to contact you to obtain further 
information or clarify points raised. Where any meeting is arranged, you can be 
accompanied by a union or professional association representative or a workplace 
colleague. 

Page 106



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 8 
 

The organisations will take steps to minimise any difficulties that you may experience 
as a result of raising a concern.  For instance, if you are required to give evidence in 
criminal or disciplinary proceedings, arrangements will be made for you to receive 
advice about the procedure, if you require it. 
 
In the event that a colleague makes a protected disclosure and suffers any detriment, 
the organisations can be vicariously liable for the actions of the perpetrator, unless 
they can demonstrate they took all reasonable steps to prevent this happening.  
Employees can also be personally liable if they subject a colleague to a detriment in 
such regard. 
 
The organisations accept that you need to be assured that the matter has been 
properly addressed. Thus, subject to legal constraints, you will be informed of the 
outcome of any investigation. 
 
How the Matter can be taken further 
 
The Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol documents how concerns can be 
raised internally and how the organisations will deal with these.  If you are not satisfied 
with the organisations‟ response you may wish to contact the following: 
 

 The External Auditor; 

 Your Trade Union; 

 Your local Citizens Advice Bureau or Solicitor; 

 Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations; 

 The Police; 

 Your Member of Parliament. 
 
If you do report the matter externally, you should ensure that you do not disclose 
confidential information acquired during your employment unless it falls within the 
qualifying criteria for protected disclosures. Premature or inaccurate media exposure 
or adverse publicity may cause needless reputational damage, impede a proper 
investigation or cause unnecessary distress to individuals. 

  

Page 107



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 9 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 
 
PIDA builds on existing employment protection legislation in the Employment Rights 
Act 1996. It makes it unlawful to subject a worker to any detriment for making what is 
known as a “Protected Disclosure”. Further provisions on whistleblowing are also 
included in the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013. 
 
The “Protected Disclosure” provisions have two aims: 
 
1. To ensure concerns about malpractice is brought to the attention of the appropriate 

person who can deal with the issue quickly and effectively - and who can be held 
accountable if the concerns are not dealt with properly; 
 

2. To encourage whistle-blowers to behave responsibly (for example to avoid leaking a 
story to the media). 

 
There are three legal definitions of what constitutes a „protected disclosure‟: 
 
1. Nature of the Disclosure 
 

To be a protected disclosure, the disclosure must be about the commission of a 
criminal offence, a breach of any legal obligation, a miscarriage of justice, a risk to 
health and safety or damage to the environment. 

 
2. Disclosure to Whom? 
 
 A protected disclosure may be made: 
 

(a) To the worker‟s employer; 
(b) To the person having legal responsibility for the matter that is subject to the 

disclosure; 
(c)  In accordance with the employer‟s whistle-blowing procedure; 
(d) To the worker‟s legal advisor. 

 
3. Worker‟s State of Mind 
 

The person making the disclosure must reasonably believe that the information 
disclosed tends to show one of the matters outlined above so the disclosure can 
constitute the subject matter of a protected disclosure. 
 
The Act places responsibilities on the actions of whistleblowers. To be protected by 
the Act, the disclosure must not be made for personal gain and must be made in the 
reasonable belief that the allegation is substantially true and is made in the public 
interest. Furthermore, the disclosure will only be protected if a number of additional 
pre-conditions are satisfied. These include raising the matter internally or with a 
prescribed person, or if this has not been done it is because the person must 
reasonably believe that they will be subject to detriment by their employee. 

Page 108



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 10 
 

 
APPENDIX B 

November 2022 
 

Financial Probity and Malpractice Issues: 
Internal Audit (7th Floor, Mann Island) 
Executive Director of Corporate Services   07764 517501  
Head of Internal Audit  07713 095315  
Audit Manager  07702 958753  
  
Human Resource/Staffing Issues: 
People and Customer Development (9th Floor, Mann Island)        
Head of People and Organisational Development 07720 352168  
HRD Operations Manager  07545 423993  
HRD Strategy and Systems Manager   07736 286192  
Health and Safety Business Partner 07850 027668 
  
  
Legal Issues and Advice: 
Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement (7th Floor, Mann Island) 
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 07720 352140  
Deputy Chief Legal Officer & Deputy Monitoring Officer 07710 691531  
Legal Services Manager  07545 422198 
 
External Auditors: 
Mark Dalton, Mazars  0113 394 5316 or  
   07795 506766   

 
Independent Advice: 
 
Protect is a whistleblowing charity that provides independent support and advice: 
Website: www.protect-advice.org.uk  
Protect Confidential Whistleblowing Advice Line: 020 3117 2520 
 

  

Page 109

http://www.protect-advice.org.uk/


 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 11 
 

APPENDIX C 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol 

Confidential Reporting Form 
  
1. Please describe the nature of your concern  

 
 
 

2. Please give all background information relevant to your concern including key dates, people and 
organisations involved. 

 
 
 

3. Have you reported the concern to any other person or organisation? 
If you have, please provide the details of this 

 
 
 

4. What are the reasons for the concern?  

 
 
 

5. How do you think the matter should be resolved?  

 
 
 

6. Do you have any personal interest in the matter? 

 
 
 

 

Person raising the concern: Form completed by (if not the person raising 
the concern): 

Name: Name: 

Employee Number: Employee Number: 

Post Title: Post Title: 

Signed: Signed: 

Date: Date: 

  

Form received by:  

Name:  

Employee Number:  

Post Title:  

Signed:  

Date:  

 

Page 110



 

 
 

Surveillance Protocol 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v4.2 

Approved By LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee: 30 November 2022 

Merseytravel: 12 December 2022 (TBC) 

Created Date February 2016 

Reviewed Date November 2022 

Date of Next Review November 2023 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose that 

that for which it is supplied without the written permission of the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

 

Page 111



 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

 Version Control 2 
 

1. Purpose 3 
 
2. Definitions 3 

 

3. Statement 3 
 
4. Scope 4 
 
5. Evaluation 4 
 
6. Responsibilities 4 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   
   
 
 

Page 112



 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 2 
  

Version Control 
 

Version Date Author Comment 

v4.2 November 2022 Laura A. Williams Reviewed, no 
changes made. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113



 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 3 
  

 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This Protocol provides a framework for the conduct of covert surveillance by the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel (hereafter 
referred to as “the organisations”) in a manner that will ensure all legal obligations are 
met, particularly in relation to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). 
 
The legal basis for processing any data gathered via surveillance arises from the 
employee’s contract of employment and surveillance will only be undertaken when the 
organisations believe that it is necessary in the public interest to protect funds and 
assets or in the investigation of possible criminal activity.  
 
 

2. Definitions 
 
Surveillance is defined as including: 
  

 The targeted observation or listening to individual persons, their movements, their 
conversations or their other activities; or  

 The recording of anything observed or listened to in the course of surveillance; and  

 Surveillance by or with the assistance of a surveillance device.  
 
Surveillance should not be confused with routine employee monitoring in the day-to-day 
course of business which the organisations undertake having due regard to the Officer 
Code of Conduct.  
 
Monitoring is a routine and non-targeted management function that can be used for 
reasons such as establishing that quality of work produced meets required standards; 
safe working practices are being followed; and / or policies are being complied with. It 
generally involves the reviewing of pre-existing recorded, captured or reported material. 
 
Surveillance will only be undertaken in response to a specific allegation or concern, 
which would typically relate to a suspicion of fraud, irregularity or non-compliance with 
policy or procedure. Any enquiries of this nature will be undertaken in accordance with 
the Investigation Protocol and in compliance with the Guidance for Officers Undertaking 
Surveillance. 
 
 

3. Statement 
 
The organisations support the objectives of the Human Rights Act (HRA) 1998, the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulations, the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000, the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 and the 
Employee Practices Code.  
 

Page 114



 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 4 
  

Please refer to the legislation at www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the 
provisions of the relevant Acts of Parliament. 
 
The following guiding principles shall form the basis of any covert surveillance activity 
undertaken by the organisations: 
 

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken where it is deemed necessary to 
achieve the desired aims; 

 

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken where it is considered proportionate to 
do so; 

 

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken in a manner that it is proportionate; 
 

 Adequate regard shall be had to individuals’ rights and freedoms, including those 
who are not the target of the covert surveillance; 

 

 All authorisations to carry out covert surveillance shall be granted by designated 
Authorising Officers specified in section 6 of this protocol; and 

 

 Any member of staff who is subject to disciplinary action as a result of covert 
surveillance has the right to view the original copies of authorisation forms and 
appropriate related documentation. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
The protocol applies to all employees. 
 
 

5. Evaluation 
 
Evaluation of the protocol will be undertaken as appropriate by the Head of Internal 
Audit, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer and the Head of People and 
Organisational Development. 
 
In the case of significant changes, the Protocol will be presented for approval to the 
Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a minimum, the 
Protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
  
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Executive and the Executive Director of Place (in their capacity as the 
Director General of Merseytravel) and all Executive Directors will fulfil the role of 
Authorising Officers. 
 

Page 115

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 5 
  

The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for deploying this Protocol across the 
organisations. 
  
The Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer is responsible for oversight; ensuring that 
the use of surveillance by the organisations is consistent with the Surveillance Protocol. 
 
The Head of People and Organisational Development is responsible for ensuring that 
surveillance undertaken to facilitate disciplinary investigations is carried out in 
accordance with internal policies and procedures. 
 
Officers involved in any part of the surveillance process are responsible for ensuring 
that this Protocol is complied with. 

Page 116



 

 
 

Investigation Protocol 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v4.3 

Approved By Audit and Governance Committee: 30 
November 2022 

Merseytravel: 12 December 2022 (TBC) 

Created Date March 2016 

Reviewed Date November 2022 

Date of Next Review November 2023 

 

This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose that 

that for which it is supplied without the written permission of the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

 

Page 117



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

 Version Control          2 
 

1. Purpose 3 
 
2. Scope 3 
 
3. Types of Investigation 4 

 
 Financial Irregularity, Fraud, Dishonesty and Corruption 4 
 
 Employee Conduct 5 
 
 IT Equipment, Systems and Data 6 
 
 Allegations made against third parties 7 

 
4. Conduct of an Investigation 7 

 
5. Reporting 8 
   
6. Actions Following a Completed Investigation 8 

 
7. Deviations 9 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 2 
 

Version Control 
 

Version Date Author Comment 

v4.3 November 2022 Laura A. Williams Review conducted 
and no changes 
made. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 3 
 

 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This Protocol has been written to ensure that, wherever possible, a consistent process 
is followed whenever Internal Audit undertakes any investigation into any allegations 
or suspicions of fraud, bribery or corruption. It seeks to outline the roles, 
responsibilities, principles and approach that will be adopted by Internal Audit during 
any investigation into allegations or suspicions of fraud or the inappropriate conduct of 
an employee. It outlines the expectations and principles that should be adopted, not 
only by Internal Audit, but also by other parties involved, including, but not limited to, 
Human Resources and Development, IT and relevant Management. 
 
If any allegation or suspicion is found to be substantiated, the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) 
have a responsibility and commitment to: 
 

 Take necessary action to stop any continuing losses to the public purse or adverse 
impact to the delivery of corporate objectives and activities; 

 Act to minimise the impact to the organisations, both financial and reputational; 

 Recover any lost assets (financial, physical, data or otherwise); 

 Identify those responsible and ensure that appropriate sanctions are applied; 

 Inform relevant external parties or professional bodies where appropriate (e.g. 
Police, Information Commissioner’s Office) and seek to pursue prosecution or civil 
remedy where appropriate; 

 Establish any control issues arising from the investigation and action that should be 
taken to address these; and 

 Provide feedback, if appropriate, to individual(s), in accordance with the Confidential 
Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol. 

 
Where allegations or suspicions are not substantiated, the organisations are 
committed to: 
 

 Identifying any lessons that can be learnt as a result of the investigation, including 
any improvements in internal control that can be made; 

 Demonstrating, where necessary, that a thorough and fair investigation has been 
undertaken; and 

 Providing feedback, if appropriate, to individual(s) who made the allegation, in 
accordance with the Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol. 

 
 

2. Scope 
 
This Protocol does not affect the authority granted to Internal Auditors under the 
organisations’ respective Constitutions to: 

 

 have right of access to any of the organisations’ premises, if requested; 

Page 120



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 4 
 

 have right of access to all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control 
systems, if requested; 

 receive any information and explanation considered necessary concerning any 
matter under consideration; 

 require any employee of the authority to account for cash, stores or any other 
authority assets under his/her control; 

 access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when appropriate 
and required; and 

 directly access the Chief Executive / Executive director of Place (in their capacity as 
Merseytravel Director General), Chair of the Audit Committee when appropriate. 

 
This Protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of Internal 
Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the Protocol will be presented for approval to 
the Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a minimum, the 
Protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
 

3. Types of Investigation 
 
Financial Irregularity, Fraud, Dishonesty and Corruption 
 
Fraud and corruption are illicit and unauthorised activities, undertaken, often covertly, 
by an individual or group for personal gain.  
 
Typically, fraud is an offence resulting from dishonest behaviour that intentionally 
allows the fraudster, or a third party, to gain personally, or to cause loss to another. 
Formal definitions are stated in the Fraud Act 2006. Corruption can take many forms 
but its defining characteristic is the collusion of parties to manipulate a specific 
outcome. This may be fraud, or could be offering, soliciting or acceptance of an 
inducement or reward in order to influence improperly the actions of another or the 
failure to disclose an interest in order to benefit financially or otherwise. 
 
Fraud and corruption are deliberate acts (or deliberate omissions to act), relating to an 
individual, or a third party and include (but are not limited to) the following, however 
please refer to the legislation at www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the 
provisions of the relevant Acts of Parliament: 
 

 Theft and misuse of assets, including cash, physical assets, intellectual assets, data 
and property; 

 Manipulation or misreporting of financial information or data; 

 Deception and misrepresentation; 

 Offering or accepting bribes or inducements from third parties, or offering bribes or 
inducements to third parties; 

 Conspiracy to breach laws or regulations; and 

 Fraudulent completion of official documents. 
 
If an officer receives an allegation of fraud or corruption it must be reported 
immediately to the Head of Internal Audit.  

Page 121

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/35/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 5 
 

 
If this is not possible, it may be reported to the Chief Executive or Executive Director of 
Corporate Services, or the Executive Director of Place (in their capacity as the 
Merseytravel Director General).  
 
Immediate steps will be taken to protect and preserve evidence, where appropriate. To 
facilitate this, the Head of Internal Audit (or appointed Officer) will liaise with relevant 
officers, as required, including (but not limited to) Human Resources, IT, relevant 
Executive Directors and Managers. All action taken will be in accordance with relevant 
Policies, Procedures and protocols.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit, or a Senior Officer appointed by the Chief Executive or 
Executive Director of Corporate Services, or the Executive Director of Place (in their 
capacity as the Merseytravel Director General) for this purpose, will, as a matter of 
urgency, undertake an initial review of the allegation or suspicion to establish whether 
a detailed investigation is required.  
 
Staff may be informally interviewed at this stage but will be informed that any 
discussions are for fact-finding purposes only. Staff may be accompanied by a Trade 
Union representative or workplace colleague at this interview. Whilst these preliminary 
discussions are not disciplinary hearings, staff should be made aware that any 
statement made or notes retained could be used as evidence in a disciplinary hearing, 
should one be necessary.   
 
Following preliminary enquiries, if a full investigation is considered necessary, then the 
Head of Internal Audit (or appointed officer) will notify the Chief Executive or Executive 
Director of Corporate Services, or the Executive Director of Place (in their capacity as 
Merseytravel Director General) who will appoint a Lead Investigating Officer, as 
appropriate. 
 
If further Internal Audit work is required, the Head of Internal Audit will appoint suitably 
trained and experienced officers to undertake this. 
 
Anonymous complaints/allegations/incidences will only be investigated if there is 
sufficient information on which to commence initial enquiries. No further action will be 
taken against employees if allegations made against them are found to be malicious, 
vexatious or false. However, if an employee is found to have made an allegation 
against another which is found to be frivolous, malicious or for personal gain, their 
actions may be regarded as serious or gross misconduct, and subject to disciplinary 
procedures. 
 
Employee Conduct 
 
Not all investigations will relate to matters of financial irregularity, fraud or corruption. 
Investigations may arise which relate to employee conduct issues such as: 

 

 General conduct; 

 Performance; 

 Health and safety; 

Page 122



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 6 
 

 Bullying and harassment; and 

 Alcohol and substance misuse. 
 

If suspicions of general misconduct are identified by Internal Audit during the course of 
routine Internal Audit work, the Head of Human Resources will be immediately 
informed, in order that the matter can be addressed by Human Resources in 
accordance with disciplinary procedures. Internal Audit will provide any relevant 
evidence that has been obtained during the course of their work, to facilitate and 
inform this process. 

 
Investigations may arise which are borne from concerns regarding both conduct and 
fraud. These may be identified from a number of sources and may include (but are not 
limited to): 

 

 Falsification of time and attendance; 

 Misuse of equipment; and 

 Manipulation of expenses. 
 

In cases such as these, if concerns have not been identified or reported directly to 
Internal Audit, Management should ensure that the Head of Internal Audit is promptly 
informed in order that an assessment of the general control environment can be 
undertaken and any control issues arising can be identified and resolved. Internal 
Audit can assist in the collation of evidence and statistical analysis to support such 
investigations. 

 
In these circumstances, the matter should be referred to the relevant Executive 
Director who will take into consideration the cross-cutting nature of the investigation 
and determine how the investigation is to be conducted, and by whom. 

 
I.T Equipment, Systems and Data 

 
Investigations may arise as the result of the misuse of the organisations’ IT equipment 
or manipulation of systems or data. Such action is likely to be in breach of the IT 
Acceptable Use Protocol or Mobile Devices Acceptable Use Protocol, and may be 
identified through a number of sources, including routine internal audit work, general 
monitoring of systems, tip-offs, CCTV footage or management concerns. 

 
Examples of investigations which may arise through misuse of corporate IT equipment 
include (but are not limited to): 

 

 Internet, telephone, mobile device or email misuse; 

 Manipulation or falsification of data held in business systems; 

 Theft or corruption of data; 

 Use of unlicensed and / or unauthorised software; 

 Unauthorised copying of copyrighted material; 

 Virus contamination; 

 Reconfiguration or manipulation of IT security systems / password misuse; and 

 Unauthorised use of removable media. 
 

Page 123



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 7 
 

As part of the investigation process, IT network records along with internet, telephone 
and e-mail usage will be examined as appropriate. 
 
In rare and exceptional circumstances, the Head of Internal Audit and Chief Executive 
or Executive Director of Corporate Services, or the Executive Director of Place (in their 
capacity as Merseytravel Director General) may use their statutory powers to obtain 
access to records, outside of the above Protocol. 

 
Access to CCTV images is controlled by the CCTV Code of Practice and requires a 
written record of access request and approval. 

 
Allegations made against third parties 
 
An allegation may be received by the organisations which relates to a third party, such 
as a contractor or partner organisation. 
 
In this event, the Head of Internal Audit and Chief Executive or Executive Director of 
Corporate Services, or the Executive Director of Place (in their capacity as 
Merseytravel Director General) should be informed and in discussion with the relevant 
Head(s) of Service, the matter will be considered on a case-by-case basis and a 
decision will be made on the necessary course of action. 
 
 

4. Conduct of an Investigation 
 
Immediate steps will be taken to protect and preserve all evidence. This may include: 
 

 Suspension of staff; guidance on suspension is available in the Discipline and 
Grievance Toolkit; 

 Securing of computer records on systems, desktop PC’s, laptops, mobile devices, 
telephone records, e-mail accounts and records of internet usage; 

 Suspension of IT network access rights; 

 Securing of written records (original documents where possible); 

 Securing of physical assets; and 

 Photographic evidence (including CCTV images). 
 
All records and assets relating to the investigation will be retained in a secure location 
with controlled access. 
 
Every investigation is unique, and the approach will depend upon the specific details of 
the case. However, the following principles will be observed when undertaking an 
investigation: 
  

 The investigation will be undertaken with due urgency, consistent with completing a 
thorough and proportionate review; 

 Full records of the investigation will be maintained; 

 Comprehensive notes will be made of all interviews, observations, monitoring and 
surveillance; 

Page 124



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 8 
 

 The Human Resources Department will lead on all matters where formal disciplinary 
procedures are required, providing support and advice to the Investigating Officers; 

 Confidentiality will be respected and maintained; 

 Effective two-way communication channels will be maintained between all relevant 
parties; 

 Compliance with relevant legislation, including Data Protection, Employment 
legislation (including ACAS Guidelines) and Human Rights legislation will be 
observed; and 

 The Head of Internal Audit and/or Lead Investigating Officer, in consultation with the 
Executive Director of Corporate Services  will consider whether disclosure to 
external organisations should be made, such as the Police, Information 
Commissioner, HMRC or professional bodies etc. 

 
There may be times when it will be necessary for the organisations to carry out 
surveillance as part of the investigation. In such cases this will be undertaken in 
accordance with the Surveillance Protocol and in compliance with the Guidance for 
Officers Undertaking Surveillance. 
  
 

5. Reporting 

 
At the conclusion of an investigation, the Lead Investigating Officer will produce a 
report detailing the findings and conclusions. The Investigation Report may include 
Reports provided by other Investigating Officers, including Internal Audit and IT, 
dependent on the nature of the case. Prior to the distribution of report, advice may be 
sought from the Legal department, if appropriate. 
 
Contributing Investigating Officers, including Internal Audit and IT may be required to 
attend a disciplinary hearing and present evidence, if appropriate and required. 
 
Human Resources should inform Internal Audit of the result of any hearing for which 
there has been Internal Audit involvement. 
 
 

6. Actions Following a Completed Investigation 
 
Following the outcome of an investigation, the Head of Human Resources and / or the 
Head of Internal Audit, in conjunction with the relevant Executive Directors should 
determine any further action necessary to protect the organisations and their 
reputation. These actions may include: 
 

 Attempt to recover assets or losses; 

 Notification to other Agencies or Partner Organisations; 

 Referral to the Police, Action Fraud or other regulatory body; 

 Referral to professional body; 

 Changes to internal control systems or procedures; 

 Internal Audit follow-up to actions agreed from any recommendations made in the 
report; 

Page 125



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 9 
 

 Feedback to the “Whistleblower”/ Complainant, where possible / appropriate; and 

 Publicity or Press Release, in consultation with the Corporate Communications 
team. 
 
 

7. Deviations 

 
Any deviations from this protocol must be documented and authorised by the Chief 
Executive / Executive Director of Place (in their capacity as Merseytravel Director 
General) as appropriate. 

Page 126



 

Report Title Risk Management Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents No 

Page 127

Agenda Item 7

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 30 November 2022  
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
  

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system of 

corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in continuing 
to embed this system during the third quarter of 2022-23.   
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a)  notes the report.  
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken to embed the system 
of corporate risk management.  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made 

since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation. 

4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 

 
The implementation of an effective system of corporate and service risk 
management supports the organisation in the delivery of its objectives, by 
identifying threats that may jeopardise their achievement and maximising 
opportunities as these arise.  The contents of this report give a narrative on the 
continued progress being made to embed such a system. 
  

  

Page 128



 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding a more robust 

and effective system for the management of risk.   
 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
Appendices: 
 
Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Register Summary 
 
 
 
 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

30 November 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

 

P
age 131



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 

   
            Page 

  
1. Introduction            2    
 
2. Corporate Risk Register          3      
    
3. Embedding Effective Risk Management        5 
 
 
 
     
               
       
 
 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 132



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 2 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the organisation‟s risk management activity for the third quarter of 
2022-23. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority‟s financial affairs, internal control, 

corporate governance arrangements and risk management”.  It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 

date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

 
1.3 The report covers: 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation. 

  

P
age 133



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 3 
 
 

2. Corporate Risk Register  
 
2.1 The Corporate Risk Register reflects the highest scoring risks across the organisation – those with a residual score in 

excess of 16 (to the maximum score of 25) and graded as “red”.  These are the risks which present the most significant 

threats to the achievement of the objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan, and so these risks span the whole 

organisation. 

2.2 The Corporate Risk Register is owned by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and each risk has a designated risk owner 

who is a member of ELT, and they are responsible for co-ordinating activities to manage the risk and reduce its impact and 

likelihood to its target level, drawing on the support of colleagues across the organisation. 

2.3 The Corporate Risk Register features six corporate risks: 

P
age 134



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 4 
 
 

 

2.4 The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team as a whole and by each individual 

Executive Director in their capacity as Risk Owners, with the objective of ensuring that: 

 The risks identified are pertinent; 

 The control measures are in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been 

implemented; 

 The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation; 

 The actions identified are appropriate, and progress is being made in progressing these; 

 Any new or emerging risks are captured; and 

 Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers as necessary. 

P
age 135



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 5 
 
 

2.5 The results of this review were: 

 The residual risk scores were discussed, and it was agreed that these should remain unaltered; 

 Where actions have been completed, new actions will be identified and assigned to action owners; 

 A few actions have had some minor rewording to make them more tangible, 

 Where actions have a long implementation timescale, interim milestones are to be detailed; and 

 The bi-monthly risk catch-up meetings have been agreed and diarised for the remainder of the financial year.  

2.6 A summary of the Corporate Risk Register is included in this report at Appendix A.   

  P
age 136



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 6 
 
 

3. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
3.1 Internal Audit continues to play a key role in facilitating the system of risk management.  Key strands of activity in the period 

have been: 
  

 Organising and chairing the quarterly Risk Group meeting, which has representatives from all Directorates, to discuss 

emerging risks, progress in managing key risk issues, and promote discussion/awareness of governance issues across 

the organisation.  The group is proving particularly useful in identifying new risks emerging across the business, and 

where there are synergies or common areas of risk.  Recent meetings have identified that a number of Directorates 

continuing to identify risks such as supply chain and staffing capacity and that these are having an impact on delivery.  

Task and finish groups have been established as spin-offs from the Risk Group to look at supply chain and ethical 

investment risks and the organisational approaches to these.  These discussions have informed the “stock” risks that are 

included in the revised risk register template; 

 

 Facilitating review and update of risk registers via meetings with individual executive directors and their management 
teams, which is particularly pertinent in terms of ensuring alignment with the Corporate Plan and Directorate Plans; 
 

 Facilitating the Executive Leadership Team discussions on Risk Management and leading the discussion on the update 
of the Corporate Risk Register; 

 

 Development and launch of a risk management skills training offer for senior managers, for which face-to-face delivery 
commenced in October 2022; 

 

 Provision of an e-learning package for all staff to provide general awareness of the principles of risk management; 
 

 Continuing to facilitate the review of service risks by members of the Senior Leadership Team;  
 

P
age 137



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 7 
 
 

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation, including facilitating risk workshops 
and supporting colleagues in their risk management activities;  

 

 Maintenance of a “SharePoint” folder for each Directorate to access and update risk registers in one dedicated location;  
 

 A fraud awareness campaign was undertaken during November 2022, to coincide with International Fraud Awareness 
Week.  The aim of the week is to heighten the awareness of the scale of fraud in the public sector, and the key focus this 
year was encouraging all employees to complete the Fraud Awareness e-learning course. “Lunch and learn” sessions 
were held with managers that focused specifically on the fraud risks that now sit on all service risk registers; and 

 

 Since its approval at the September meeting of this Committee and by Merseytravel, the implementation of the revised 
Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook has begun.  This includes roll out of the policy to SLT members, 
managers and project leads, and encouraging completion of the “stock risks” included within each risk register. 
 

3.2 It is important that the revised Corporate Risk Register is used as a tool, along with performance management, to facilitate 
delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities, and that the very positive progress made so far in embedding the process 
continues.  
For this reason, the service has adopted two performance indicators, which are designed to measure the extent to which risk 
management data is being utilised to drive delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities. The latest information shows the 
following: 

  

P
age 138



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 8 
 
 

 
 

Description Performance  Progress 

Rating 

Percentage of service areas with a Risk Register that 

complies with the Risk Management Policy 

88% Amber 

Percentage of corporate risks that have a suitable action 

plan in place 

100%  Green 

 

3.3 Most service areas have an up-to-date service risk register, but work continues to ensure a consistent approach to 
embedding risk across directorates and ensuring that “stock risks” are being considered. There has been a positive increase 
in the request for risk workshops to assist in this process.   

 
3.4 During 2021-22, Internal Audit conducted a review of the organisation‟s risk management arrangements.  The overall opinion 

for this work was a Minor organisational risk, and there were a number of recommendations made and these, along with an 
update on the progress being made to implement the actions, are detailed in the table below.  There is one recommendation 
still to be completed.   

 

 Recommendation Implementation Date Progress 

1. The wording included in the Risk Management Policy 
should be reviewed, to determine whether all key areas 
of the organisation are encapsulated as part of the 
requirement to produce a Service Risk Register.  Any 
update to the wording/requirement should be approved 
as part of the next review of the Policy; and any new 
applicable areas of the organisation notified accordingly.  

31 August 2022 Completed 
The revised Corporate Risk Management 
Policy and Handbook includes reference to 
lead officers.   

P
age 139



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 9 
 
 

 Recommendation Implementation Date Progress 

A list of agreed service areas, for which a Risk Register 
is required, should be utilised as part of implementing 
Recommendation 02. 

2. The applicable 'risk register' folders within 
Teams/SharePoint, should be reviewed and updated, to 
ensure each contains the correct Risk Registers (i.e., for 
the directorate; and all are correctly named), with access 
and permissions appropriately assigned to relevant 
officers. 

31 October 2022 Completed 
The risk registers within the SharePoint site 
have been re-reviewed in line with the 
current structure (published on "OnePlace") 
and are now consistent with that structure. 
We have a process in place for identifying 
future changes and the SharePoint site will 
be reviewed on a quarterly basis and/or 
when a revised structure is published.  

3. Advice should be sought (likely to be from the 
organisation's Senior Information Management Officer) to 
determine whether Service Risk Registers could, for 
example, be subject to a Freedom of Information request, 
and reach the public domain.  
 
Steps should be taken in response to the advice 
provided, primarily: 
- notifying officers responsible for Service Risk Registers 
Heads of Service/Assistant Directors of the outcome; 
- updating the Risk Management Policy to reflect the 
advice; 
- ensuring the content of Service Risk Registers is 
reviewed and deemed appropriate (depending upon the 
advice provided, it may be that the information contained 
within some Registers needs to be scaled back; or 
alternatively, it may that additional information can now 
be included). 

31 July 2022 Completed 
 
The matter has been clarified and no further 
action was deemed necessary. 

4. The Risk Manager should take steps to ensure a robust 
Risk Register is in place for each applicable area of the 

31 December 2022 In progress 
The Risk Registers have been reviewed by 

P
age 140



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2022 Page | 10 
 
 

 Recommendation Implementation Date Progress 

organisation (by the end of Q1 2022/23). Formal 
feedback should be provided to the relevant manager 
and Executive Director in those instances where it is felt 
the Risk Register does not meet expectations and/or has 
not been produced.  Reminders should be issued on a 
quarterly basis to prompt Risk Registers being reviewed 
and updated; and feedback provided to Executive 
Directors where there is evidence of non-compliance. 

the Risk Manager and necessary comments 
added for the Risk Owners to consider. All 
Heads of Service, Risk Owners and project 
leads will be sent an email requesting them 
to review the comments made and update / 
review accordingly. Support will be given to 
all DMTs to enable all registers to be 
reviewed by the end of December. 
Executive Directors / Assistant Directors will 
be copied into those emails to encourage 
the take up of that support. 

5. The Risk Register template should be reviewed, and a 
decision taken as to whether the format can be 
enhanced, in order to: 
- facilitate the inclusion of comments (by both the „Risk 
Owner‟ and/or the „Risk Team‟) in a more effective 
manner; and  
- clearly flag where an amendment has been made that 
impacts upon the risk „rag‟ rating. 

31 August 2022 Completed 
 
Two additional columns have been added to 
the revised risk register template to facilitate 
this. 

 

3.5 The reports to this Committee will continue to give an overview of the progress being made in delivering the activities above, 

and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing the level to which effective risk management arrangements are 

embedded into the organisation. 

 

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER 2022-23 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

30 November 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 143



 

 

 

CORPORATE RISKS 

  

Risk 1 

Accountability 

There is risk that the Combined 
Authority does not develop and 
maintain sufficient capacity to 

deliver its obligations and 
responsibilities 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Investment and Delivery 

Residual Score 16 

Risk 2 

Resilience 

There is a risk that the Combined 
Authority fails to develop and 

maintain robust arrangements to 
ensure business resilience and 

continuity 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Corporate Development and 

Delivery 

Residual Score 20 

Risk 3 

Environment 

There is a risk that the City Region 
does not achieve its ambition of 
being net zero carbon by 2040 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Policy, Strategy and Government 

Relations 

Residual Score  20 

Risk 4 

Transport 

There is a risk that the role of 
transport in supporting the social, 

economic and environmental 
objectives of the City Region is not 

maximised 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Place 

Residual Score 20 

Risk 5 

Economic 
Prosperity 

There is a risk that the Combined 
Authority does not contribute 

positively to economic prosperity 
within the City Region 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Investment and Delivery 

Residual Score 20 

Risk 6 

Financial 
Sustainability 

There is a risk that financial 
pressures will impact negatively 
on the financial sustainability of 

the Combined Authority 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Corporate Services 

Residual Score 20 

P
age 144



 

Risk 1: Accountability 
 
There is risk that the Combined Authority does not develop and maintain sufficient capacity to deliver its obligations and 
responsibilities 
 
Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery 

 

 

  

Potential impact: reputational damage, further devolution jeopardised, loss of current and future government funding/clawback, positive 
impacts for City Region are not maximised, withdrawal of Constituent member, resourcing/capacity of funding programmes could be 
inadequate due to nature of unknown or forthcoming bids 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 4 4 16     

Target 4 2 8  X   
 

Controls: 
Assurance Framework approved by Government, delivery track record, for example Getting Building Fund, Adult Education Budget, 
Households into Work, use of 'single pot' approach with freedom and flexibility to manage funding deadlines, regular reporting of 
performance to relevant delivery boards to identify and resolve barriers to delivery, Annual Conversation with Government and associated 
feedback, resource funding to support delivery of projects, internal resources identified, quarterly SIF / Growth Directors update meetings, 
resources agreed for transport development team, ELT regular discussions relating to internal capacity / resources. 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Strengthen collaborative approach with Local Authorities to support and develop delivery capacity and 
encouraging the use of pre-development funding offer 
 

31 March 2023  

Explore wider capacity and identify responsibilities and/or key roles including consideration of shared 
resources (procurement, legal etc) to improve efficiency of routes to delivery (working with all Directorates via 
ELT)  

Recently established Task and Finish Procurement Group to consider delivery aspects for routes to delivery / 
efficiencies 
 

Using opportunities to develop a shared vision with Local Authorities   
 

P
age 145



 

Risk 2: Resilience 

There is a risk that the Combined Authority fails to develop and maintain robust arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery 

 

 

  

Potential impact: Reputational damage, potential fines and recovery costs, increased insurance premiums/contraction of future cover, 
damage to public confidence, impact on economic recovery and prosperity of the City Region, negative impact on organisation's ability to 
deliver on its objectives and knock-on potential effect on future devolution  

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 4 2 8  X   
 

Controls: 
Suite of supporting ICT policies, business continuity arrangements detailed in Business Continuity Policy, regular business continuity desk 
top exercises, member of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), Cyber Essentials Plus accredited, internal Resilience Group established. 
 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Explore opportunities for delivering IOSHH awareness training to senior staff 
 

31 March 2023  

Business Continuity Management (BCM) training package to be scoped and agreed 
 

Quarterly report to be drafted to provide Directors with update information on BCM plans and activities in each 
service area - completed 
 

Develop and agree reporting process to the Chief Executive on all BCM plans and activities - completed 
 

Deliver the Cyber Security Action Plan 
 

Cyber risk training to be scoped and rolled out to ELT and relevant officers - completed 
 

P
age 146



 

Risk 3: Environment  

There is a risk that the City Region does not achieve its ambition of being net zero carbon by 2040 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and Government Relations 

 

Potential impact:  Potential Impact - reputational damage, negative economic impacts for the City Region, increased costs for the 
organisation and associated budgetary impacts 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 4 4 20     

Target 4 3 15  X   
 

Controls: 
“Pathway to Net Zero” document published, lobbying of Government for funding, development of sustainable transport solutions, Net Zero 
Delivery Board established, climate partnership involving external partners, climate and renewable energy portfolio role established. 
 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Net Zero Carbon approach to all policy development 
 

31 March 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Net Zero Carbon approach SIF projects to be developed 
 

Develop an affordable Net Zero delivery plan for 3-5 years 
 

Establish next phase of tidal project in conjunction with other renewable clean sources 
 

Stock risk to be added to all service risk registers for consideration by Heads of Service/Assistant 
Directors and project leads - completed 

Develop a Net Zero performance monitoring framework 
 

Roll out climate awareness across all Directorates 
 

Develop a delivery plan for the de-carbonisation of the Combined Authority estate 
 

Net Zero Carbon approach SIF projects to be developed 
 

P
age 147



 

Risk 4: Transport  

There is a risk that the role of transport in supporting the social, economic, and environmental objectives of the City Region is 
not maximised 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Place 

 

Potential Impact - Reputational damage arising from lost opportunities, potentially significant financial impacts, impact on service, provision and 
service modernisation, impact on the City Region's competitiveness and associated impact on employment and prosperity, increased funding in 
transport causes increased work streams across all aspects of transport (accumulation risk) resulting in silo working / duplication, increased 
subsidies in relation bus network subsidy 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 3 15  X   
 

Controls: Delivery Boards established which include regular reporting on performance to identify and resolve barriers to delivery of key projects, 
Directorate Plan that aligns to Corporate  Plan priorities, service specific plans to both manage business as usual and new project activities, 
qualified and expert staff delivering a range of transport-related services, including overseeing and operating the rail network, the bus network, the 
active travel network,  the key route network (including tunnels) and the Mersey Ferries, appropriate Level of resource / capacity  identified, 
ongoing work with transport partners / operators to maintain and improve service delivery, established business continuity and contingences plans 
for our directly operated services, recording and monitoring of use across all modes, changing services to reflect demand, ongoing negotiations 
with bus operators to consider medium term stability on lead in to bus reform. 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Work with Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery to establish interconnecting activities on 
resilience relating to transport (link to Risk 2) 

31 March 2023  

Transport solutions align to the wider Place agenda 
 

Improve evidence and intelligence to prioritise schemes /services and make evidence-based decisions 
 

Develop an investment programme on directly operated assets to ensure service continuity 

Maximise potential of digital technology on the transport network 
 

P
age 148



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Seek non-mode specific solutions to issues – employing a joined-up approach to build capacity and resources 
in the right place to ensure delivery objectives are met 
 

Ensure that all transport activity and investment strive to contribute to Net Zero ambition 

Work with Executive Director for Resources to address the cumulative financial risks associated with evolving 
methods of transport delivery (link to Risk 6) 

P
age 149



 
 

Risk 5: Economic Prosperity 

There is a risk that the Combined Authority does not contribute positively to economic prosperity within the City Region 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery 

 

 

 

 

Potential impact:  Negative impacts on employment and prosperity for residents and businesses in the City Region, reputational damage, 
impact on future funding and extent of devolution, damage to stakeholder relationships and confidence placed in the organisation to deliver. 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 2 10  X   
 

Controls: 
Plan for Prosperity sets out priorities for economy and investment, Government engagement to ensure understanding of funding streams 
required to support economic growth and influence prosperity, Delivery Boards established, Assurance Framework, Monitoring and Evaluation 
Framework, use of SIF funding to support vulnerable communities. 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Embed Plan for Prosperity and keep under review so that content remains current and 
relevant 

31 December 2022  

Increased engagement with private sector, ensuring increased partnership/investment in 
growth projects  

Develop and deliver growth projects on prioritised basis 

Horizon scanning for funding opportunities to support economic growth 

Develop longer term view and strengthen linkages to the Investment Strategy 
 

P
age 150



 

Risk 6: Financial Sustainability  

There is a risk that financial pressures will impact negatively on the financial sustainability of the Combined Authority 

 
Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Services 

 

 

Potential impact: Reputational damage, damage to stakeholder relationships and confidence placed in the organisation to deliver, unable to 
delivery on key priorities, positive impacts for City Region are not maximised 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 2 10  X   
 

Controls: Budget monitoring and reporting processes, Reserves Policy, and strategy for use of reserves, Constitution and Financial 
Procedure Rules in place, income and expenditure controls, Delegated Authority and Scheme of Delegation in place, financial risk and 
reserves embedded into reporting, SIF Assurance Framework, established process for monitoring economic influences (i.e., Inflation, cost of 
living etc). 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Implement and maintain a dynamic Medium Term Financial Plan  31 December 2023  

Develop organisational approach to the identification and delivery of budget efficiencies and income 
opportunities 
 

Investigate opportunities for commercial income 

Develop sustainable models for addressing the cumulative financial risks associated with evolving 
methods of transport delivery (working with Place Directorate) (Link to Risk 4) 
 

P
age 151



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report Title LCRCA External Audit 2021/22  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

 

Summary of decision being sought   
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √ 

A Stronger City Region  √ 

A Cleaner City Region  √ 

A Connected City Region  √ 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√ 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Sarah Johnston 
 

Appendices Yes –  
External Auditors Audit Completion Report 
LCRCA Statement of Accounts 2021/22 
 

Background Documents No 

  

Page 153

Agenda Item 8



 

LCR Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 30 November 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services 
 

LCRCA EXTERNAL AUDIT 2021/22  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. This report sets out the findings emanating from the annual external audit of the 

Combined Authority’s annual Statement of Accounts conducted by its external 
auditors, Mazars.  Whilst the audit process is substantially complete there are a 
number of areas where work is ongoing and therefore a draft Audit Completion 
Report (ACR) is attached for Members’ information. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: 
 

(a) note the substantial progress made on the completion of the external audit 
for the Combined Authority; 

(b) consider the draft Audit Completion Report, noting outstanding points and 
provide any comments; 

(c) note that an update will be provided to the Committee once the audit process 
has been completed; and 

(d) recommend the accounts as drafted to the Combined Authority. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015 require that the Chief Financial 

Officer must certify the annual Statement of Accounts by 31 May each year.  However, 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), now called the 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (from September 2021) put in 
place revised regulations that came into force on 31 March 2021. The Accounts and 
Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 extended the statutory audit deadlines for 
2020/21 and 2021/22 for all authorities.  

 
3.2 Under the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021, the deadline for 

publishing draft accounts was moved from 31 May to 31 July and the final date for the 
publication of audited accounts was moved from 31 July to 30 September.  In 
December 2021, the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities proposed 
that the deadline for publication of audited accounts was extended to 30 November, 
reverting back to a September deadline for a further five years in response to the 
Redmond Review

1
 of local authority financial reporting and external audit. 

                                            
1
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-

government-response-to-the-redmond-review 

Page 154



 
3.3 The  Combined Authority Annual Statements of Accounts were signed off and 

published on the Authority’s website on 8 July 2022, ahead of the statutory 
deadline.  The external auditors, Mazars, commenced their audit in August 2022.  
Whilst progress on the audit has been very positive, with much of the audit work 
now complete, at the time of drafting this report, Mazars have been unable to issue 
a final ACR.   

 
3.4 The delay in the sign off of the accounts is broadly attributable to two factors; firstly 

the delay in the sign off of the Pension Fund accounts and secondly the national 
issue raised around the treatment of infrastructure assets. It is envisaged that the 
Pension Fund audit will be completed shortly.   However, as the resolution of the 
accounting treatment for infrastructure assets is subject to a national approach, 
which is pending the approval of a statutory solution, this matter is unlikely to be 
resolved before the end of the calendar year. 

 
3.5 The draft ACR is included at Appendix One for Members’ information.  Members will 

note that subject to finalisation the auditors envisage an unqualified opinion being 
issued. 

 
3.6 For the financial year 2021/22 the value for money judgement has been decoupled 

from the timescales for auditors’ reporting.   The requirement is that a value for 
money judgement is provided by the auditors by December 2022. Consequently, a 
separate report detailing the value for money conclusion will be brought to Members 
later in the municipal year. 

 
3.7 An updated set of draft accounts is included in this report at Appendix Two.  A final 

set of accounts will be shared once the audit process is complete. 
 
 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1. Financial 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.2 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

 A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 
A Cleaner City Region 
A Connected City Region 
A Vibrant City Region 

 
 

  
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The annual audit of the Statement of Accounts has made good progress but at the 

point of writing this report is still ongoing. It is envisaged that, subject to the issues 

                                                                                                                                                 
 

Page 155



identified in the ACR being successfully resolved, the accounts will be signed off 
with an unqualified opinion.  A separate report on the value for money judgement 
will follow later in the year. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 

STEVE ROTHERHAM 
Portfolio Holder Policy, Reform and 

Resources 
  

 
 
Date:  …16 November 2022………………. 

 
 

Appendices: 
 

1 Audit Completion Report 
2 Updated Annual Statement of Accounts 

 
Background Documents:  
None 

Page 156



  
 

  
 

 

 

 

 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Statement of Accounts 2021/22  
(Subject to Audit) 

 

Page 157



  
 

2 

 

  

 
TABLE OF CONTENT 

 
 
 
 
 
Introduction to the Accounts 
 
 
Narrative Report by the Executive Director Corporate Services of the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 

 
Page No. 

 
 
           3 

 
 

           4 
 

  
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Statement of Accounts 
 

 
21 

 

  
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 

 
22 

 
  
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority 
 

 
36 

 
  
Group Primary Financial Statements  37 
    Movement in Reserves Statement 38-39 
    Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 40 
    Balance Sheet 41-42 
    Cashflow Statement 43 
  
  
 
Notes to the Primary Financial Statements 
 

 
44 

 
  
 
Single Entity Accounts 
 

 
100 

 
  
 
Glossary of Financial Terms 
 

 
140 

 
 

 

 

  
  

Page 158



  
 

3 

 

 

 
INTRODUCTION TO THE ACCOUNTS 

  
 
Our region has been on a remarkable journey of transformation over the past 12 months. Driven by our 
ambition to build the fairest, strongest, greenest, and most socially-just place possible, we are laying the 
foundations for a more prosperous future for our 1.6m residents.  Delivering that vision is a challenge on a 
scale that requires a huge, collaborative effort from across our economy – a test that our people have more 
than risen to over the past few years. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic was an unexpected and unprecedented time in our region’s history, but it also 
presented an opportunity to reshape our local economy to make it fairer and stronger than ever before.  The 
£150m COVID Recovery Fund that I launched last year helped to give our region's recovery a jump start on 
the rest of the country. It's meant we could bounce back faster, investing in projects to regrow our economy 
and safeguard jobs, delivering much-needed hope to people and businesses across the region. 
 
We’ve been bold in our ambition on the global stage too, capitalising on our unique international reputation 
and strategic location to attract jobs and investment from around the world.  So much has been achieved to 
date, but I’m not content with resting on our laurels. That’s why we're working to capitalise on our existing 
strengths in science and industry, to catapult our area to the forefront of UK innovation. We’re putting our 
money where our mouth is to make that happen, pledging to invest 5% of our GVA in research and 
development over the new few years - nearly double national targets.  
 
The more businesses we can encourage to tap into their entrepreneurial spirit, the more jobs and training 
opportunities we can create for local people. How we connect people to those opportunities is important 
too. To improve that connectivity, its been fantastic to see my plans for a London-style transport system take 
a major step forward this year, having secured £710m from the government to invest in our transport 
infrastructure. Our long-term plan is to build on our underlying strengths to deliver inclusive economic growth 
and, most importantly, to help our residents live longer, healthier, happier and more fulfilled lives. 
 
Because our success cannot - and should not - be measured by economic wealth alone. It is about the social 
value we create, the opportunities we unlock for local people, and the improvements we can make to health, 
life chances and wellbeing. 
 
I want ours to be a region where no one is left behind.   
 
 

 

 
 
Steve Rotheram – Mayor of the Liverpool City Region 

 

Page 159



  
 

4 

 

 

 
NARRATIVE REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
  

 
 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) was established on 1 April 2014 as a statutory transport 
and economic development-related statutory body for Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton, Wirral and 
Halton Local Authority areas, serving a population of 1.6m residents.  The functions of LCRCA are set out 
in legislation and include the transport functions previously undertaken by the Merseyside Integrated 
Transport Authority (MITA) and related powers held by Halton Borough Council, plus new responsibilities 
relating to economic development, regeneration and employment and skills across the Liverpool City Region.  
Merseytravel acts as the executive body which provides professional, strategic and operational advice on 
transport to LCRCA. 
 

 
 
 
The Region is recognised as a functional economic geography, with close to 85% of all travel-to-work flows 
self-contained within the City Region.  Whilst the city of Liverpool is the dominant employment centre, 
economic activity is widely spread across the six districts.  In broad terms Liverpool is the commercial, 
cultural and transport hub of the Region, Halton has a cluster of chemical, science, technology sectors and 
Sefton, Knowsley, St Helens and Wirral provide key manufacturing and logistics for the area. 
 
Despite the Region being a well contained economic area, the City Region’s coastal location in the North 
West of England means the Region has economic connections with neighbouring areas (including 
Lancashire, Cheshire and Greater Manchester) but also internationally via the Region’s ports and airport. 
Liverpool City Region provides access to around 32 million individuals in the UK within just a few hours1. 
 
The Region’s economy is estimated to be worth £32.5bn2 based on GVA (gross value added) and has been 
one of the fastest growing in the North of England over the last 10 years.  In the last decade, the Liverpool 
City Region has added over £1.5bn to its economy in real terms.  The City Region generates significant 

 
1 Liverpool City Region LEP,  
2 Office for National Statistics, 2019; Regional Gross Value Added (Balanced) by Local Authority (1998-2018) 

Page 160



  
 

5 

 

output through manufacturing, with Halton and Knowsley contributing 36% of all GVA3, however other 
sectors, including health, retail and education, also play a key role in the City Region economy.   
 
Despite this, there is, however, a productivity gap: GVA per resident in the City Region is around 74% of the 
UK level (£27,500 of GVA per resident) and since 2010, this gap has increased.  As well as below average 
levels of productivity, the Region faces a number of long-standing challenges around deprivation, with almost 
one third of all City Region neighbourhoods in the most deprived 10% in England. These are particularly 
concentrated in east Wirral, north Liverpool, south Sefton and north Knowsley4. 
 
Other challenges include high economic inactivity (second highest rate of economic inactivity of all LEP 
areas in England5), skills gaps (10% of working population have no qualifications compared with 7.5% 
nationally6), poor health (45% of neighbourhoods in the bottom 10% nationally7) and economic inactivity due 
to long-term sickness.  Whilst progress has been made in addressing these challenges in the last 10 years 
these challenges continue to be key priorities for the Combined Authority over the next few years. 
 
The Combined Authority’s Plan for Prosperity sets out a long term vision to drive the economy, tackle 
inequalities and achieve our potential.   The plan provides a framework for our future priorities and 
investment decisions, and for our conversations with Government about how we work together.  It also 
articulates how we will build on our distinctive economic strengths, address our challenges and develop 
transformational policies to unlock growth and develop a clean and inclusive economy. 
 
 

Governance & Structure 
 
The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority is comprised of the directly elected Metro Mayor 
who chairs the CA and the leaders from each of the six constituent Local Authorities comprising the LCRCA 
area and the chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) who is a non-voting member.  In addition, the 
Chair of the Transport Committee and the Police and Crime Commissioner are co-opted non-voting 
members of the Committee.  Warrington Borough Council and West Lancashire Borough Council are both 
associate non-voting members of the CA.  The Combined Authority is organised on a portfolio basis and the 
table below outlines the current portfolios and portfolio holders. 
 
Portfolio Portfolio Holder 
Policy, Reform & Resources Metro Mayor, Steve Rotherham 
Inclusive Economy & Third Sector Cllr. Janette Williamson, Leader Wirral Council 
Education, Skills, Equality & Diversity Mayor Joanne Anderson, Liverpool City Council 
Digital Connectivity & Inclusion Cllr Ian Maher, Leader Sefton Council 
Housing & Spatial Framework Cllr. Graham Morgan, Leader Knowsley Council 
Climate Emergency & Renewable 
Energy 

Cllr. David Baines, Leader St Helens Council 

Culture, Tourism & Visitor Economy Cllr. Mike Wharton, Leader Halton Council 
Transport & Air Quality Cllr. Liam Robinson, Chair Transport Committee 
Criminal Justice Emily Spurrell, Merseyside Police and Crime 

Commissioner 
Business Support Asif Hamid, MBE, Chair LCR LEP 

 

 
3 ONS Regional Gross Value Added (Balanced) by Local Authority (1998-2018) and ONS Mid-Year Population 
Estimates (1998-2018) 
4 MHCLG, 2019; English Indices of Deprivation 
5 Office for National Statistics, 2019; Annual Population Survey 
6 See footnote 5. 
7 See footnote 5. 

Page 161



  
 

6 

 

The political composition of the Combined Authority is exclusively Labour with both the Metro Mayor and all 
the Leaders of the constituent Local Authorities being Labour led. 
 
The operation of the Combined Authority is supported by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT).  During the 
year the structure of ELT was subject to change as a consequence of the retirement of the previous Chief 
Executive and resignations.  On appointment of the new Chief Executive, Katherine Fairclough, the 
responsibility for Director General was removed from the remit of the Chief Executive and on a temporary 
basis was filled by the Executive Director Corporate Services.  A new role of Executive Director Place was 
created which combined responsibilities for Place, Director General and Deputy Chief Executive under the 
remit of one post, with the new Director taking up the role in February 2022.  Taking account of the changes 
identified above, the diagram below details the structure of the Executive Leadership Team.  
 
 

 
 
As at 31 March 2022, the Combined Authority group (which incorporate Merseytravel and its subsidiaries) 
employed 893.3 FTE’s compared with 928.5 FTE’s as at 31 March 2021. 
 
 
 

Financial Performance 
 
Group Revenue Expenditure 2021/22 
 
The Authority’s budget was approved on 16 January 2021 which approved an expenditure budget of 
£156.3m with a Transport Levy of £97.4m, Tunnel Tolls income of £35.0m and a Mayoral Precept of £7.6m.  
The revenue budget was revised in March 2022 to £218.6m with additional grant income recognised.  The 
table overleaf compares the actual spend against budget for 2021/22. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



  
 

7 

 

 

  
Revised 
Budget 

Outturn 
2021/22 

Variance to 
Budget 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Place Directorate 60,537 55,342 5,195 

Policy, Strategy & Government Relations Directorate 5,694 4,452 1,242 

Corporate Services Directorate 6,714 5,742 972 

Investment & Delivery Directorate 9,419 8,399 1,020 

Corporate Development & Delivery Directorate 8,995 7,887 1,108 

Mayoral Priorities 1,376 1,062 314 

Corporate Management & Costs 1,926 1,160 766 

Concessionary Travel 48,381 47,750 631 

Election Costs  1,351 1,329 22 

Net Debt Servicing Costs 11,955 11,779 176 

Grant Payments to Partners 59,090 49,960 9,130 

Halton Differential Levy 3,200 3,200 0 

Total Expenditure 218,638 198,062 20,576 

Funded by:       

Transport Levy (97,404) (97,404) 0 

Halton Differential Levy (3,200) (3,200) 0 

Tunnels Tolls (35,000) (37,588) 2,588 

Mayoral Capacity Grant (1,000) (1,000) 0 

Mayoral Precept (7,640) (7,646) 6 

Application of Specific Grants & Other Income (68,616) (60,603) (8,013) 

Transfer to/ (from) reserves (5,778) 9,379 (15,157) 

Total Income (218,638) (198,062) (20,576) 

Net Budget 0 0 0 
 
The position detailed in the table above is based on actual cost against budget.  These figures are difference 
from those detailed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as the latter is based on proper 
accounting practice in compliance with the CIPFA Code.  Within the main body of the Statement of Accounts, 
the levy position is detailed in the Movement in Reserves and Expenditure and Funding Statement. 
 
Group Reserves and Balances 
 
Based on the outturn position detailed above the resultant position in respect of the General Fund Balances 
is detailed below.  
 
 2020/21 

 
£’000 

In Year 
Movement 

£’000 

2021/22 
 

£’000 
Capital Reserves (9,410) (1,587) (10,997) 
General Fund Reserves (Group) (7,365) (4,303) (11,668) 
Earmarked Usable Reserves (156,727) (870) (157,597) 
Merseytravel Group (54,386) (602) (54,988) 
Total (227,888) (7,362) (235,250) 

 
A detailed list of balances and reserves are detailed in the Notes to the Core Financial Statements. 

Page 163



  
 

8 

 

 
Group Capital Expenditure 2021/22 
 
The Authority spent £252.7m on capital during 2021/22.  This expenditure is summarised below. 
 
  

2020/21 
£’000 

 
2021/22 

£’000 
Capital Grants to Merseytravel/ Districts/ other 
recipients (Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital 
under Statute) 

189,487 171,779 

Non-Current Assets (Property Plant and Equipment) 1,972 2,277 
Property Assets 4,038 7,020 
Non-Current Assets (Infrastructure) 3,215 1,807 
Intangible Assets 985 709 
Surplus Assets 72 43 
Assets under Construction 31,291 69,051 
Total 231,060 252,686 

 
The table below details the funding of the capital programme. 
 
 2020/21 

£’000 
2021/22 

£’000 
Capital Grants  183,985 168,897 
Application of Reserves 4,942 4,419 
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 5,788 4,819 
Other Contributions 0 0 
External Borrowing 0 0 
Internal Borrowing 36,345 74,551 
Total 231,060 252,686 

 
As detailed above a significant proportion of the capital investment made by the Authority relates to Revenue 
Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS).  REFCUS relates to capital expenditure incurred 
on assets that are not in the ownership of the Authority, in the main this is Merseytravel and other Strategic 
Investment Fund (SIF) Partners. 
 
The table below details the major schemes funded through the capital programme in 2021/22. 
 
 2021/22 

£’000 
Rolling Stock Replacement & Infrastructure Works 83,916 
Headbolt Lane new station 19,557 
Seacombe Landing Stage 6,397 
Digital Backhaul 9,098 
Shakespeare Playhouse 8,259 
Festival Gardens 9,918 
Eureka! 4,408 
Halsnead Garden Village 2,510 
Green Homes Grants 32,883 

 
 
 
 

Page 164



  
 

9 

 

Borrowing 
 
As at 31 March 2022, the Authority’s borrowing was £323.6m.  The table below details the composition of 
its debt. 
 
 2020/21 

£m 
2021/22 

£’m 
PWLB Borrowing 148,480 140,033 
European Infrastructure Bank (EIB) Borrowing 180,656 174,426 
Transferred Debt 11,441 9,153 
Total 340,577 323,612 

 
The movement in borrowing levels relate to the repayment profile of the Authority’s loan portfolio as no new 
borrowing was undertaken during the year.  The Authority’s authorised limit for external debt for 2021/22 
was £532m. 
 
 
Investments 
As part of a prudent investment strategy, the Authority seeks to invest any monies received in advance of 
need with public sector bodies and financial institutions of a high creditworthiness.  As at 31 March 2022 the 
Authority had investments of £289.07m compared with £333.25m as at 31 March 2021.  
 

 
2021/22 Performance and Delivery of Objectives 

 
Performance against the CA Plan Priorities 2020/21 
 
The current Corporate Plan covers a three-year period from 2021 to 2024.  We are optimistic that this will 
be a period of recovery and growth while also recognising the uncertainty we face. We still do not know what 
shape the recovery will take, how people will choose to travel, work, access services and socialise following 
the easing of restrictions.  Businesses are still adapting to the changes imposed by the pandemic, and for 
some, Brexit has added further challenges. COVID-19 is having a huge impact for many of our residents, 
some have lost their livelihoods, others have lost loved ones, and the longer-term physical and mental health 
impacts are still unknown.  The roadmap for the easing of restrictions, the extensive vaccine rollout and 
green shoots of recovery provide optimism that the worst of the pandemic could soon be behind us, but we 
are under no illusion as to the scale of the challenge ahead. 
 

 
 

Page 165



  
 

10 

 

The 2021/24 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Corporate Business Plan is based on five priorities, 
with each Priority underpinned with Business Plan Delivery Activities and supporting Service Plans. The 
Priorities for 2021/22 are: 
 

 
 
2021/22 Performance 
 
The LCRCA has a performance management framework driven by its key priorities for 2021/22.  A set of 
performance measures have been developed to ascertain progress against key priorities.  Where possible, 
targets are set which are challenging and aimed at stretching the organisation to drive improvement. 
 
Each Priority has specific Delivery Activities and information is collected and reported on a quarterly basis 
to the Chief Executive with monthly updates on operational performance also being collected and submitted 
to the Executive Leadership Team.  A RAG system is applied to facilitate managing the delivery of the 
activities/priorities which is shown below. 
 
RAG Rating Description 

Red Highly Problematic – Delivery of activity/Priority at significant risk 

Amber Problematic – Delivery of activity/Priority at risk but not significant 

Green 
Well Managed – No risk to the delivery of the activity/Priority or nearing 
completion/delivery 

Blue Delivered/Completed – the activity/Priority delivered 

Purple 
Abandoned or Not being progressed – project or activity abandoned, or 
it has been decided to not progress 

 
For each of the five corporate priorities, progress is tracked, and a RAG status applied to demonstrate 
progress against each. The table below provides an overview of performance at the end of quarter 3.  
 
Priority RAG 

Status 
Priority 1: A Fairer City Region Amber 
Priority 2: A Stronger City Region Green 
Priority 3: A Cleaner City Region Amber 
Priority 4: A Connected City Region Amber 
Priority 5: A Vibrant City Region Amber 

 
Key successes against each priority during 2021/22 are detailed in the section below: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



  
 

11 

 

Priority 1: A Fairer City Region 
 
Generations for Change to help tackle racial inequality 
Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram launched a new project to tackle racial inequality faced by young people 
across the Liverpool City Region. Generations for Change is part of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority’s Race Equality Programme, launched to tackle systemic racial inequality and drive change with 
people from the City Region’s Black, Asian, and ethnic minority communities.  This drive for change is further 
driven by the £3.2m funding for Liverpool City Region Race Equality Hub.  This Hub aims to provide 
Local Authority and Combined Authority Staff with race equality training, as well as remove barriers in the 
labour market.  
 
Liverpool City Region’s Digital Skills Programme 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority offered free digital skills training for people looking for a career in 
the digital sector, and co-investment to help employers fill digital skills gaps. More than 500 people, and 90 
businesses, have already benefitted from the first round of training delivered through the Digital Skills for the 
Workplace programme, in areas including digital marketing, software development and cyber security.  
Supplementing this programme, the LCRCA also provided a £9.4m expansion of award-winning skills 
service to help 10,000 people in the Region next year. This ambitious training and careers programme 
has helped plug skills gaps and will support up to 10,000 people next year.  An expansion of the mayor’s 
award winning Be More apprenticeships portal is planned. By the end 
of 2022, up to £4.5m in grants were distributed, supporting 1,500 
businesses, and helping 10,000 people to learn fresh skills or find new 
careers. 
 
New Skills Action Plan to help employers fill record number of 
job vacancies 

A new Skills Action Plan 
to help employers meet a record increase in job vacancies 
since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic was launched. 
Increased demand for people to fill job roles pushed 
recruitment advertisements to a high of 20,000 per week in 
December 2021 – up from a pre-pandemic figure of 12,000, 
according to the annual LCR Skills Report. 
LCRJobs.co.uk was launched in September 2021 and 4728 
learners engaged up to the end of December 2021, 1028 
employers engaged (target exceeded) and 8736 
apprenticeship vacancies posted on Be More portal. 
 

 
Housing First 
As of February 2022, 220 individuals have been supported through the Housing First programme against an 
annual target of 228 with 156 housed and 38 exiting the programme. Alongside the Households into Work 
programme, which is helping people back in work and education, our City Region is becoming a fairer place.  
As of February 2022, 433 unemployed participants starting on programme against a target of 600 
commencements by December 2022 with 40 finding employment on leaving programme and 26 starting in 
education. 
 
Priority 2: A Stronger City Region 

 
£313m Local Growth Fund fully invested to deliver jobs and investment for the LCR Economy 
Thanks to £313m worth of Local Growth investments made by the Metro Mayor, the LCR has benefited from 
more than 18,000 new jobs and £225m of additional investment. The fund was committed to nearly 200 
projects before the March 2021 deadline.  Investments in Local Growth Fund Projects have already delivered 
7,766 jobs and £170m in private sector investment. 

Page 167



  
 

12 

 

Up to £45m support for the Region’s biggest regeneration project in more than a decade 
This approved funding will support the ‘transformational regeneration’ of 
north Liverpool and south Sefton by supporting work linked to Everton FC’s 
new 52,888-seat stadium development at Bramley-Moore Dock.  A £15m 
grant will assist with infrastructure and heritage work, while the wider 
stadium project will be a vital catalyst for regeneration of Liverpool’s north 
docks and the area around Goodison Park.  Everton forecast the project will 
offer a boost of more than £1bn to the City Region’s economy.  The offer of 

a £30m loan was not taken up.  
 
Scale of Liverpool City Region’s efforts to rescue COVID-hit economy 
By the end of June 2021, more than £44m had in emergency funding had been distributed to more than 
4000 businesses across the City Region as part of the Additional Restrictions Grant scheme. In addition to 
this, £5m was provided to support business access national government funds, £400k to support businesses 
in the cultural sector, and £3m from the Future Innovation Fund Pilot programme to support the Region’s 
small and medium sized enterprises.  On top of this, a new £8.1m scheme to support COVID-hit 
businesses was also launched. Known as the Trading On Scheme, this funding will specifically support 
small or medium-sized businesses, with between 10 and 249 employees. 
 
The Good Business Festival 

The three-day global summit was held in venues across Liverpool city centre from 
22 to 24 March 2022.  Leaders such as Ben Osborn, Head of Pfizer in the UK; 
Emilie Stephenson, Force for Good at Innocent Drinks and Hannah Cockcroft MBE, 
Paralympian and Small Business Advocate showcased invaluable insights on what 
social changes were coming and how businesses of all shapes and sizes can 
respond. Alongside the Liverpool City Region Freeport programme, this is key in 
making our City Region a stronger place.  The Freeport, a key part of the 
Government’s ‘Levelling Up’ strategy, if approved, will receive funding of £25m and 
be open for business in early summer, boosting the City Region’s post-pandemic 

economic recovery.  
 
Liverpool City Region Social Value Framework 
Under its new social value framework, benefits to the local community will become a much bigger part of 
awarding Combined Authority contracts and could include the training and employment of local people, the 
use of local suppliers or the inclusion of apprenticeships in contracts.  Social value will help shape key 
decisions on where to spend or invest more than £100m the Authority receives each year under devolution.  
The Authority will ensure social value is a core part of decision-making for all contracts above £20,000. 
Alongside the Plan for Prosperity, an exciting vision of economic growth up to 2035 – with the creation of 
more than 50,000 new jobs, our Region’s economy will become more dynamic.  The plan also sets out firm 
commitments to improve the quality of life for Liverpool City Region residents by tackling generational 
inequalities, cutting carbon emissions, and promoting better health and wellbeing.  
 
 
Priority 3: A Cleaner City Region 

 
Community Environment Fund 

Established by Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram, the £500k fund 
provided colour and nature to urban communities across the City 
Region.  After a hugely successful first run, the Combined Authority 
approved a further £500k to bring back the Community Environment 
Fund for 2022 with a view to making the scheme larger and self-
sustaining through private sector backing.  Schemes were delivered 
between March and September and included composting, the 
creation of an edible wall, work to restore habitats, climate education 

and the creation of a garden to help elderly people with physical and mental health issues. 

Page 168



  
 

13 

 

 
Liverpool E-scooter Scheme trial extends until March 2022 

The trial scheme which is delivered in partnership with the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority and Liverpool City Council has 
proven to be one of the most popular and successful in Europe.  In 
recognition of this, the e-scooter trial extends until March 2022. 42% 
of Liverpool’s rented e-scooter users have replaced a car journey as 
a result of having access to this shared micro mobility scheme.  Since 
October 2020, scooter Liverpool’s residents and visitors have 
covered nearly 2.3 million miles on over 1.4 million rides on the 
vehicles. 
 
 

Mersey Tidal Power Project 
Plans to develop a Mersey Tidal project took a major step forward as expert technical advisor and designer 
to develop the next stage designs for the scheme was appointed.  The massive renewable energy project 
could generate enough clean, predictable energy to power up to one million homes and create thousands 
of jobs in its construction and operation.  It could be up and running within a decade, playing a huge role in 
the Region’s push to net zero carbon by 2040 – at least a decade ahead of national targets. 
 
£28.5m funding will ease fuel costs and lower emissions for 2,500 Liverpool City Region homes 
Nearly 2500 homes, across the Region will benefit from measures aimed at reducing heating bills and carbon 
emissions, as the Combined Authority has successfully secured £28.5 million from government.  This latest 
funding is in addition to a previous £11.3m scheme which is currently seeing around 1100 homes, across 
the City Region being fitted with the same sort of measures to improve energy efficiency and cut bills. 
 
Bus passengers set for greener, faster, safer, more reliable journeys 
The Combined Authority invested £1.9m from its Transforming Cities Fund into Prescot Bus Station to not 
only improve bus services and the passenger experience but also support the nationally significant 
Shakespeare North Playhouse development.  This investment kick started the £32m Green Bus Routes 
programme, designed to transform bus journeys including punctuality and accessibility, improve air quality 
by reducing carbon emissions while boosting the local economy.  Travelling on a ‘green bus route’ will mean 
that passengers can enjoy faster, smoother, safer and more reliable journeys via a series of measures 
including traffic signal upgrades, remodelled junctions, priority lanes and bus stop build outs that will be 
initially introduced in phases on the Region’s busiest bus routes.  The A57 St Helens to Liverpool corridor, 
10A route, was the first major route to benefit from this investment which is also to be served by the Region’s 
first zero emission hydrogen buses. 
 
Priority 4: A Connected City Region 

 
Handover of the first new train to the Liverpool City Region 
In August 2021, 53 new trains for the Liverpool City Region were 
handed over from manufacturer Stadler.  These new battery powered 
trains are game-changing; it could allow the Merseyrail network to 
extend across all six City Region boroughs.  It could also allow the 
new fleet to operate as far afield as Skelmersdale, Wrexham, 
Warrington and Runcorn.  The wider ‘Merseyrail for All’ programme 
could ensure every community is well served by an integrated public 
transport network and new and refurbished train stations. These 
developments are complemented nicely by the New station at 
Headbolt Lane in Kirkby, an £80m scheme with the opening of the station planned for Spring 2023. 
 

Page 169



  
 

14 

 

Liverpool City Region hydrogen bus fleet 
The supplier was chosen to deliver the first vehicles of a new, 
zero-emission hydrogen bus fleet for the Liverpool City Region.  
Alexander Dennis Limited (ADL) a UK based bus manufacturer 
was selected following a competitive tendering process.  The 20-
strong, state-of-the-art fleet will be directly purchased through the 
Liverpool City Region’s Transforming Cities Fund, and, like the 
new trains for the Merseyrail network, will be owned by the people 
of the City Region.  This coincides with Bus Reform in the 
Liverpool City Region, a plan to bring buses under public control.  
 
Liverpool City Region Digital Limited (LCR Digital) , a 212km full-fibre, ultrafast, gigabit-capable network 
spanning the Liverpool City Region was launched.  LCR Digital will help make the Liverpool City Region the 
most digitally connected area in the UK and ultimately lead to a £1 billion boost to the local economy.  Work 
has now begun on a 212km full-fibre, gigabit-capable network infrastructure, capable of delivering speeds 
of 1,000mbps and beyond, that will help position the City Region at the head of the next digital revolution.  
When complete, it will put City Region businesses in prime position to lead the way in a host of growing 
sectors, from health and life sciences to Artificial Intelligence and advanced manufacturing. 
 
Liverpool City Region highways earmarked for major 
investment 
To improve the Region’s roads, the Combined Authority 
approved the indicative allocation of £232.96m from the City 
Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS), for a 
Highways Maintenance and Non-Maintenance package with all 
six areas of the City Region set to receive a share.  Focussing 
on key corridors, the proposed package represents a co-
ordinated series of measures all designed to support public 
transport services, relieve congestion, and improve air quality for 
local communities.  The measures included carriageway 
resurfacing to improve the condition of the roads, drainage works to help prevent flooding and new 
streetlights. Work will also include the installation of more electric vehicle charging points.  
 
Priority 5: A Vibrant City Region 

 
Combined Authority Investing £45m to deliver 4000 new brownfield homes 
Up to 4000 new homes are to be built on previously developed “brownfield” sites across the Liverpool City 
Region as the Combined Authority agreed a strategy for investing the remaining £34m from its £45m 
Brownfield Land Fund to deliver previously-developed, or brownfield land suitable for at least 3,000 and 
preferably 4,000 homes.  The money will be used for site remediation and other measures required to make 
sites ready for development. Seven projects across the Liverpool City Region will deliver 886 homes. 
 
£15m boost for brownfield development in the Liverpool City Region 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority was awarded an additional £15m from the government’s 
Brownfield Land Fund, which will enable a further 1000 homes to be built on previously developed sites 
across the Region.  The funding, from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, takes 
the total available for brownfield development in the Liverpool City Region to £60m, which will enable around 
4500 homes to be built. 
 
£1.5m boost for tourism 
A new £1.5m fund was launched to lure UK tourists back to the Liverpool City Region.  In July 2021, the 
Combined Authority approved the package, which will target staycationers from London, the South East, the 
Midlands, Scotland and Northern Ireland with marketing and advertising.  It will also support the drive to 
increase international visitors when restrictions are fully lifted. The fund will also be used to improve the City 

Page 170



  
 

15 

 

Region’s tourism websites.  It will enable Growth Platform to create a £3.2m three-year programme to rebuild 
the visitor economy, with the majority of the money set to come from the private sector. 
 
Town Centre Place Making 
Town Centre Place Making progressed with awards made and accepted. All action plans are in delivery.  
Some COVID related project delays have led to extensions.  Business plans are progressing for submission 
by June 2022 for Southport and August 2022 for the remaining 3 towns. 
 
Town Centre Commissioning 
Town Centre Commissioning is on target for the delivery of the 23 recommendations with many actions 
already in train under other complementary workstreams. Digital support, community occupation and 
residential conversions - chosen as pilot schemes – are underway and on track. 
 
Compact Plan 
Compact Plan was published by February 2022. Liverpool Echo ‘Region Live’ pages continuing to be 
published and will be until at least May 2022.  Music Industry Development Pilot Phase 1 activities to be 
delivered by March 2022.  Generations for Change Young Creatives Pilot has been completed and 
Celebration Event/Showcase delivered successfully. 
 
 

Risks and Uncertainties 
 

 
As the Combined Authority has matured as an organisation, its vision and ambition for the future has become 
clearer and politically there is great drive to deliver change for the City Region.  The Authority has been 
extremely successful in securing funding from government; £8.66m to March 2022 with a further £10.57m 
through to March 2025 to support the continuation of its trailblazing homelessness work and £720m over 5 
years through the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS), which is in addition to £30m Gain 
Share for 30 years and £53m per annum AEB funding which has been secured as part of the devolution 
deal.   
 
Whilst securing this funding assists the Combined Authority in providing the financial resources to back its 
vision, as a primarily strategic body the Combined Authority’s places a significant reliance on its partners, 
be that the constituent Local Authorities, Merseytravel, private sector, third sector or academia; in the 
delivery of its key objectives.  With such a reliance on external bodies to develop up and deliver on large 
scale schemes, one of the principal delivery risks that the Combined Authority faces relates to partner’s 
internal capacity.  Years of austerity and cuts have left the constituent Local Authorities with fewer staff and 
resources available to develop and support large scale regeneration schemes and those that are available 
are  dealing with competing pressures.  This can translate into a delivery challenge for the Combined 
Authority who, as the Accountable Body for funding is responsible to government for demonstrating delivery 
and spend against targets. 
 
The risk to the Combined Authority is well understood, is reflected in the corporate risk register and a number 
of mitigations have been identified to assist the Authority mitigate and manage this risk.  Key mitigations 
centre around the development of a shovel ready pipeline and identification of resources to fill capacity gaps.  
Funding provided through the Combined Authority’s own resources and grant funding from government 
provides the opportunity to address some of these issues.  CRSTS funding is being used to build into 
schemes funding for resources to support the development and delivery of schemes.  Consideration is also 
being given to the development of a central resource that could be deployed flexibly across delivery partners 
to assist where resources are constrained.  To assist in ensuring that schemes are shovel ready, 
development funding has been identified to be used to support the development of a pipeline of schemes 
that are of sufficient maturity to allow them to be progressed with less risk of delay as funding becomes 
available.  
 

Page 171



  
 

16 

 

COVID-19 Financial Support 
 

 
As in 2020/21, during 2021/22 the Combined Authority received funding from a number of government 
departments as part of their response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The financial impact of these grants are 
included in the Combined Authority’s group outturn position and statement of accounts.  During 2021/22 the 
Combined Authority received the following COVID support grants: 
 

 Sales, Fees and Charges Reimbursement; 
 Additional Restrictions Grant; 
 Local Transport Authority Bus Recovery Grant 

 
The Combined Authority administered the grants in line with guidance issued by government.  In accordance 
with proper accounting practice the Combined Authority must assess whether it acts as principle or agent 
for these grants as this determination impacts on the way in which the grants are accounted for within the 
statement of accounts.   
 
The Combined Authority received Sales, Fees and Charges Reimbursement from Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) for the first quarter of 2021/22.  The scheme, which was initially 
scheduled to run for the financial year 2020/21 only, is based on a pain share reimbursement approach: 
eligible organisations face a 5% deductible rate whereby they stand the first 5% of all losses and 
subsequently DLUHC  will reimburse losses at 75p in every £1 thereafter. 
 
Having assessed eligibility to claim against this scheme, it was determined that losses in respect of Ferries 
and The Beatles Story fell within the remit of the scheme.  Based on the process outlined by DLUHC and 
accruing for income the Authority believes is eligible under the scheme, £1.05m has been recognised in the 
group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account under Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income. 
 
During 2021/22 the Combined Authority received a further £8.12m Additional Restrictions Grant funding from 
BEIS to support business that had been impacted by COVID and the national and regional restrictions on 
business.  This was in addition to the £44m that was allocated during 2020/21.  At the end of 2021/22 the 
Combined Authority had committed and disbursed all funding received through ARG such that none of the 
funding was subject to repayment to BEIS. 
 
The Combined Authority has developed several Hospitality and Leisure Support Grant Schemes, including 
Local Business Support Grants, that have been focused on supporting the retention of jobs in the sector 
during periods of difficult trading.  The approach adopted has been a collaborative one, working closely with 
Local Authorities’ to design and implement schemes in accordance with the Additional Restrictions Grant 
(ARG) guidance issued by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS).  
 
Early rounds in the ARG programme supported the Hospitality and Leisure Sector and their supply chains.  
Later funding rounds were widened to include home based businesses, market traders, non-essential retail, 
Early Years, Adult Social Care and Taxis, primarily to ensure sectors and groups impacted were able to 
access support.  Consequently the Local Business Support Grant, round III, was open to any businesses 
across any sector, that could demonstrate a decline in revenue of 40% or more and the Care Providers 
Grant round was open to businesses in the Childcare and Adult social care sector, whose businesses have 
also faced disruption and loss due to COVID-19.  
 
The amount of funding available has not always been able to meet the demand from businesses, meaning 
that not all businesses have been successful. Therefore, in determining the eligibility criteria, the CA and 
Local Authorities have sought to balance the number of businesses they can support within the priority areas 
and the overall amount of money that is available. 
 

Page 172



  
 

17 

 

The Authority also received Local Transport Authority Bus Recovery Grant (LTABRG) from the Department 
for Transport (DfT).  This funding has been used to support additional capacity on the network and transition 
back to a pre pandemic network, as well as supporting the reduction in supported bus income revenue 
experienced by the Merseytravel due to reduced patronage.  During 2021/22 Merseytravel received £718k 
funding through LTABRG.  This income is included in the group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account on the gross income line above Net Cost of Service within the Place Directorate. 
 
 

Financial Planning 2022/23 and Future Years 
 

 
As part of budget setting for 2022/23, medium term financial plan was updated to push the outlook for 
projections out to 2026/27, taking account of all relevant factors impacting on the budget, including the key 
priorities outlined in the Corporate Plan, ensuring resources were aligned with priorities.  Core projections 
indicated a net budget requirement of £5m in 2022/23 with a further net budget requirement of £8m in 
2023/24 increasing to £14.5m by 2026/27.  At the time of budget setting it was identified that there was a 
degree of uncertainty around projections due to an uncertainty around the operational model to be applied 
on the new Rolling Stock.  In April 2022 a decision was made by the Combined Authority that clarified this 
position which will be subsequently built into further forward projections. 
 
As part of budget setting, the Combined Authority set out a new five year financial strategy aimed at 
achieving financial sustainability, which sought to align the base budget with underlying resources and to 
place reliance on efficiencies and income generation to balance the budget rather than reserves.  Whilst not 
directly impacted by the Local Government Financial Settlement, in setting a balanced budget for 2022/23, 
the Combined Authority was cognisant of the impact of this on its constituent Local Authorities and their 
taxpayers and therefore sought to cap the increase in Transport Levy at 2% and freeze the Mayoral Precept 
for a third year.  Whilst an increase of 20p in Tunnel Tolls was proposed and approved as part of the budget 
strategy, this was the first increase in tolls for four years and in recognition of the important role that tolls can 
play in the Net Zero Carbon agenda. 
 
The budget for 2022/23 was balanced by taking savings of £5m from across the organisation.  Much of the 
savings related to one off’s, efficiencies and disallowing inflationary increases.  At the time of budget setting 
it was acknowledged that inflationary pressures in areas such as transport delivery and maintenance of 
assets were increasing, however no provision was allowed within the budget.  The continued increase in 
inflation is likely to place upwards pressure on budgets as set during the year and beyond.  As a result of a 
favourable outturn position at the Merseytravel level, an earmarked reserve has been created to help 
mitigate transport cost pressures over the short term. 
 
The Combined Authority’s approach to balancing its budget over the medium term will be to focus on 
improved commercialism and revenue generation and business and digital transformation.  Workstreams 
and resources have been put in place to drive forward these agendas with an expectation that income and 
efficiencies will start to flow through into the budget from 2023/24 onwards.  The Authority, has set aside 
specific reserves to support modernisation and transformation however the Executive Leadership Team 
have been clear that these must be applied judiciously and in support of invest to save options, supported 
by a business cases that identifies and justifies how initiatives will help drive this agenda forward.   
 
 

Future Outlook & Challenges  
 
Over the next twelve months the Combined Authority will strive to continue to deliver against key strategic 
priorities as detailed in its Corporate Plan 2021-2024; 
 

 Improve access and pathways to employment for those at greatest risk of long term worklessness; 
 Increase the range of support available to people experiencing poverty, exclusion and inequality; 

Page 173



  
 

18 

 

 Improve equality of outcomes across all protected characteristics; 
 Promote and support positive health and wellbeing; 
 Strengthen and develop the business support offer and ensure all businesses can adapt, recover 

and grow in a post COVID, post Brexit world; 
 Further embed Community Wealth Building approaches and increase the amount of social value 

local businesses deliver; 
 Improve the attractiveness of the City Region as a place to do business; 
 Attract investment in research and development to drive innovation and global competitiveness; 
 Accelerate plans for a net zero carbon economy by 2040; 
 Develop the City Region’s renewable energy offer; 
 Improve energy efficiency of buildings and houses; 
 Improve sustainability of public transport; 
 Improve digital and physical connectivity between all people and places; 
 Enhance the role of transport and infrastructure as strategic enablers to meet City Region ambitions; 
 Transition towards further devolution of transport and increased public ownership; 
 Ensure people have access to quality affordable homes; 
 Support plans for a vibrant place offer across the City Region; and 
 Enhance our cultural offer and the City Region’s attractiveness as a visitor destination. 

 
Whilst the budget for 2022/23 has been set to allow resources to be focussed towards attainment of 
corporate priorities, as detailed above the financial position for the Authority over the medium term will be 
challenging.  Certain priorities areas such as homelessness and tidal power rely on securing specific funding 
from government or external bodies to support continued delivery.  Discussions will need to be continued 
with external parties around how funding is secured to ensure continued delivery and work in these areas 
will potentially need to be reviewed and scope revisited to ensure that priorities remain affordable and 
deliverable.  
 

Basis of Preparation and Presentation of Accounts 
 

 
The Combined Authority completes its accounts on a going concern basis on the presumption that it will 
continue in existence for the foreseeable future.  The Statement of Accounts that follow demonstrates 
LCRCA’s financial performance for the financial year ending 31 March 2022.  These accounts are completed 
in compliance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22.  
Disclosures are made within the accounts based on an assessment of materiality; a disclosure would be 
considered material if through omission or misstatement the decision made by the user of the accounts 
would be influenced. 
 
The assessment of materiality also impacts on the Combined Authority’s decision to produce group 
accounts.  The Combined Authority has a number of entities within its group boundary as detailed below: 
 

 Mersey Tidal One Limited; 
 LCR Urban Development Fund (GP and Limited Partner); 
 LCR Chrysalis Holdings Limited (GP and Limited Partner); 
 Growth Platform; 
 Liverpool City Region Digital Limited; 
 Merseytravel and its subsidiaries;  

o Mersey Ferries Limited;  
o The Beatles Story; 
o Merseyside Passenger Transport Services Limited; 
o Real Time Information Group Limited; and 
o Accrington Technologies Limited. 

 

Page 174



  
 

19 

 

Each year the Authority assess the materiality of the transactions and if they are material, they are 
incorporated into the group.  For the financial year 2021/22, the Combined Authority group accounts 
incorporate the result of Merseytravel group and Liverpool City Region Digital Limited.  The results of the 
other companies are not incorporated into the group as they are either dormant or not material but disclosure 
of their results is made in the related parties note. 
 
 

Explanation of the Annual Statement of Accounts 
 

 
Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations (2015), the Combined Authority is required to produce an Annual 
Statement of Accounts each year.  The following provides a brief overview of the various sections of the 
Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
 
This outlines the responsibilities of both the Authority and the Treasurer for the production and content of 
the Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
Narrative Report 
 
Provides a summary of the Authority’s financial and non-financial performance for the year.  
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 
This explains the effectiveness of the governance framework in operation during the financial year. 
 
External Auditors Report 
 
This provides the External Auditor’s opinion on the financial statements and the Authority’s arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
This statement shows the movement in reserves held by the Authority during the financial year, splitting 
them into usable and unusable reserves.  The Deficit/ (Surplus) on the Provision of Services shows the cost 
of providing the Authority’s services under proper accounting practice which is different from the statutory 
amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for levy setting purposes.  The Net Increase/ 
(Decrease) before Transfer to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before 
any discretionary transfers (to)/ from earmarked reserves. 
 
Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
 
This statement shows the cost of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices as opposed to the amounts to be funded from the levy.  The Authority raises a levy to cover 
expenditure in accordance with regulation which is not necessarily the same as the accounting cost.  Whilst 
the position detailed in the CIES will differ from that shown in the Authority’s management reporting, the levy 
position is detailed through the Movement in Reserves and Expenditure and Funding Analysis. 
 
Group Balance Sheet 
 
This shows the value of the Authority’s assets and liabilities at the Balance Sheet date.  Net assets of the 
Authority are matched by the reserves (both usable and unusable) held by the Authority. 
 

Page 175



  
 

20 

 

Group Cash Flow Statement  
 
This statement summarises the actual flows of cash arising from the Authority’s transactions during the 
financial year.  This shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the year. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
These include additional information on items included within the core financial statements. 
 
Single Entity Accounts 
 
These reflect the Authority’s economic activities excluding its group companies and organisations. 
  

 

 

TRODUCTIO 

John Fogarty (CPFA) 
Executive Director Corporate Services 
8 July 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



  
 

21 

 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS 

 
The Authority is required to: 
  
 make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 

that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In 
this instance that Officer is the Executive Director Corporate Services of LCRCA; 

 manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; 

 approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Responsibilities of the Executive Director Corporate Services of LCRCA 
 
The Executive Director Corporate Services is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s 
Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (“The Code”).  The Statement 
of Accounts is required to present fairly the financial position of the Authority at the accounting 
date and its income and expenditure for the year end 31 March 2022. In preparing this 
statement of accounts, the Executive Director Corporate Services has: 
 

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 complied with the Local Authority Code; 
 assessed the ability of the Authority to continue as a going concern; and 
 used the going concern basis of accounting on the assumption that the functions of 

the Authority will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
The Executive Director Corporate Services has also: 
 
 kept proper accounting records which are up to date; 
 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 
 
Responsible Financial Officer’s Certificate 
 
I hereby certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Authority as at 31 March 2022 and its income and expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2022.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
J Fogarty (CPFA) 
Executive Director Corporate Services 
8 July 2022 

ANL G 

OVERNANCE STATEMEN 

Page 177



  
 

22 

 

 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (herein referred to as the Combined Authority) is 
required by law to review its governance arrangements at least once a year. 

Preparation and publication of this document, the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), in 
accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
Framework (2016), fulfils this requirement. 

The definition utilised by the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance states: 

“Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes 
for stakeholders are defined and achieved.” 

The AGS is a key corporate document, intended to provide an accurate representation of the 
corporate governance arrangements in place during the year, which have supported delivery 
of organisational objectives to stakeholders; reflecting where arrangements have been 
effective, and where any improvements are required.   

The governance framework has been in place at the Combined Authority for the year ended 
31 March 2022 and up to the date of approval of the Statement of Accounts.  

 
2. SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

 
 
The Combined Authority is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and 
properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.  
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, the Combined Authority is responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise 
of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 
  
The Combined Authority has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, which 
is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework: Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government 2016. A copy of the Combined Authority’s Code of Corporate 
Governance is available to staff for reference.  

This AGS explains how the Combined Authority has complied with the Code of Corporate 
Governance and meets the requirements of Regulation 6 (1) (b) of the Accounts and Audit 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant bodies to prepare an Annual 
Governance Statement. 

 

 

Page 178



  
 

23 

 

 
3. PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

 
 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values by 
which the Combined Authority is directed and controlled and its activities through which it 
accounts to, engages with and leads its communities. It enables the organisation to monitor 
the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led 
to the delivery of appropriate services and value for money. 
  
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of organisational policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they 
be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  
 
 
 

4. OVERALL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
 

 
The Combined Authority is led by directly elected Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram and brings 
together Liverpool City Region’s six Local Authorities – Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, 
St Helens and Wirral. 

The Mayoral Combined Authority (legislation - Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) 
Order 2017) is both a strategic and operational body.  The Metro Mayor exercises certain 
devolved powers working in formal collaboration with the Leaders of each of the City Region’s 
Local Authorities and the elected Mayor of Liverpool City Council. 

The Combined Authority has devolved powers over: 
 Economic Growth  
 Housing 
 Culture 
 Employment and Skills 
 Transport 

The Combined Authority is the Transport Authority for the City Region.  It exercises this role 
predominantly through policy setting, oversight and delegation of responsibilities to the 
Passenger Transport Executive, known as Merseytravel. 

Merseytravel as a passenger transport executive pre-dates the Combined Authority and 
operates across the five Local Authority areas that form the County of Merseyside.  Halton 
Council, although part of the Combined Authority retains most of its direct transport operations 
although there is integration at a strategic level. 

The Combined Authority sets the budget for Merseytravel and is responsible for key transport 
policies.  Merseytravel is responsible for the implementation of the Combined Authority’s 
policies and, under the Transport Act of 1968, retains its status as a distinct statutory body. 
Despite its separate statutory status, for all practical purposes, there is no longer a distinction 
between the Combined Authority and Merseytravel.  Directors of the Combined Authority are 

Page 179



  
 

24 

 

also Directors of Merseytravel and vice-versa.  The statutory functions of Head of Paid 
Service, Monitoring Officer and Director of Finance are fulfilled on a joint basis across the two 
organisations.  

The Combined Authority has experienced a change in leadership at officer level in 2021/22 
with the appointment of Katherine Fairclough as Chief Executive.  The new Chief Executive is 
an experienced Local Authority Chief Executive and this appointment has seen a renewed 
focus on the governance framework. 

Further changes in the Leadership Team have seen the appointment of Richard McGuckin in 
a new role of Executive Director Place (Deputy Chief Executive) with responsibility for 
transport delivery including Merseytravel. Richard McGuckin is also the Director General for 
Merseytravel.  Dr Aileen Jones is Executive Director of Investment and Delivery. 

The Combined Authority also includes the Chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) in 
its formal decision-making structure.  Significant changes in governance were introduced in 
2019/20 in response to the “Review of Local Enterprise Partnership governance and 
transparency” (known as the Ney Review).   

These changes involved the separation of the strategic and operational elements of the LEP 
through the creation of a new Growth Company which is now a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Combined Authority while the LEP Board remains independent of the Combined Authority. 

The following diagram summarises the key elements of the governance framework for 
Combined Authority (incorporating Merseytravel) in 2021/22:  

 

Metro Mayor

Combined 
Authority

Key Boards:
Transport Advisory 

Group;
Freeport

Statutory Committees:
Audit and Governance 

Committee;
Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee; and 
Appointments and 

Disciplinary Committee

Non-Statutory 
Committee:

Transport Committee

Advisory Fora:
Fairness and Social 

Justice Board (FASJAB);
External Investment 

Panel;
Cultural Partnership;

Sector Boards;
Mersey Tidal 

Commission; Station 
Commission;

Climate Partnership; and 
8 Portfolio Boards.

Page 180



  
 

25 

 

Documents Providing Assurance: 

 

Structure in relation to LEP: 

 

 

 

• Underpinning Policies:
• Constitution

• Scheme of Delegation
• Finance and Contract Procedure Rules
• Codes of Conduct and Ethics policies

• Risk Management Policy
• Fraud, corruption and bribery policies

• Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) policy
• Information management policies

Documents Providing Assurance:

Code of Corporate Governance

Corporate Plan and Service Plans

Performance Management Framework 

Corporate Risk Register, Service Risk 
Registers

• Legislation and Guidance:
• Accounts and Audit Regulations (2015)

• Local Audit and Accountability Act (2014) 
• CIPFA /Solace: Delivering Good Governance in Local 

Government (2016)
• Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (revised 2017)

• Assurance Framework

Decision-making Functions:
Decision-making delegated to officers

Roles of Statutory Officers
Programme Boards 

• Assurance Reports:
• External Auditor: Annual Audit Letter
• Head of Internal Audit Annual Report

• Annual Governance Statements
• External Reports

• External Evaluation from government including LEP Annual 
Review

Assurance Providers:
Internal Audit 
External Audit

Programme Management Office
Investment Team

Performance Management Team
External Inspectorates 

Page 181



  
 

26 

 

 
5. REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

 
 
The Combined Authority has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the 
effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control. The review 
of effectiveness is informed by Executive Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service 
within the organisation who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment (including feedback and comments from the annual Governance 
Assurance Statement process; through which all relevant officers contributed); the Head of 
Internal Audit’s Annual Report; and also by comments made by the external auditors and other 
review agencies and inspectorates. 

The Combined Authority aims to achieve good standards of governance by adhering to the 
seven core principles below, which form the basis of the Code of Corporate Governance. 

The CIPFA/SOLACE guidance sets out seven key principles of good governance:  

 

 

 

Page 182



  
 

27 

 

The Combined Authority has assessed itself against each of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
principles: 

 
A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and 
respecting the rule of law 
 
 
Constitutions are in place, and an Officer Code of Conduct, having been approved in April 
2022.  Feedback from managers indicates an improved level of awareness of the Code of 
Conduct for employees. 
 
A joint Code of Corporate Governance, detailing the Nolan Principles, was updated, 
approved and relaunched to all staff via I4P in June 2021.   
 
Whilst understanding and awareness of the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan 
Principles) has improved since 2020/21; further enhancements will be required during 
2022/23 to ensure appreciation and adoption of the principles is fully understood and 
enacted.  
 
Managers across the organisation reported positive awareness by staff of the organisation’s 
corporate behaviours.  
 
The organisation has a database of its policies (I4P) which is accessible to staff.  This is 
used to disseminate new and updated policies, encompassing the ability to monitor 
acceptance rates, and to act as a source of reference for staff.  
 
Acceptance rates of organisational policies have improved since 2020/21; however, 
continued focussed attention will be required, during 2022/23, to ensure all key policies are 
read and accepted by staff, and there is greater clarity as to what constitutes a key corporate 
policy.  
 
The Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest Procedure was reviewed in November 
2020 and issued to staff via I4P.  
 
Gifts and hospitality policy and forms are available on OnePlace; however, weaknesses and 
inconsistencies exist in relation to how these are being monitored and recorded.   
 
Declarations of Interest policy and forms are available on One Place and HR re-issued the 
policy and sent out a reminder e-mail to all staff in January 2021; however, weaknesses 
and inconsistencies also exist in relation to how these are being monitored, utilised and 
recorded.  This will also be a focus of attention in 2022/23. 
 
Completion rates for e-learning across the organisation have improved since 2020/21; 
however, focussed attention will be required, during 2022/23, to ensure all necessary e-
learning is completed and there is greater clarity as to what constitutes whether a course is 
mandatory.  
 
Quality of, and compliance with, Equality Impact Assessment obligations have improved 
during 2021/22 with a programme of training of officers and the development of an Equality 
Policy; however, this will continue to be an area of more focussed attention in 2022/23. 
 

 

 

Page 183



  
 

28 

 

 

 
B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
 
Effective mechanisms are in place for engaging with, and consulting with, relevant 
stakeholders, and this continues to develop. 
 
Arrangements for consulting our communities and stakeholders had to be adapted to 
accommodate social contact restrictions in 2021/22, nonetheless the CA took opportunities 
to engage with stakeholders on a number of thematic areas and using a variety of 
formats.  This includes the development of the CA’s strategic and statutory plans such as 
our Spatial Development Strategy and various recovery plans.  Significant engagement took 
place in the development of our transport pipeline schemes and in particular our successful 
City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) bid by which the City Region was 
awarded £720m in transport capital funding from government. 
 
The City Region has submitted its full business case to government for the Freeports 
Programme, for which the CA is the accountable body.  We are working collaboratively and 
in partnership with our Local Authorities to deliver the benefits that Freeports will bring and 
are consulting a variety of stakeholders throughout this process to ensure that social value, 
inclusive growth and our zero-carbon obligations are reflected as the Freeports programme 
evolves. 
 
In addition to Freeports, our plans for bus franchising will also be subject to further and 
detailed consultation with stakeholders, including communities and passengers in 2022/23. 
 
Elections took place in May 2021 (having been delayed 12 months due to the COVID-19 
pandemic) and an induction session took place in June 2021. 
 
A focus for improvement during 2022/23 relates to partnership working, and the need for 
reporting on outcomes and documenting agreements. 
 
Time-limited legislation, in respect of allowing Committee meetings to be held remotely, 
expired in May 2021; hence all decision-making Committees returned to be ‘in-person’.  
Whilst meetings continued to be webcast, those attending in such a way, were limited in 
their rights as an attendee (e.g. not allowed to vote). 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has operated during the year and has provided 
additional assurance in scrutinising decisions of the Combined Authority. 
 
Regular briefings are held with Members; in addition to Member development sessions.  
Member queries are responded to within an appropriate timescale.  Minutes of relevant 
meetings are made available to stakeholders; and evidence and rationale to support 
decisions is made available to stakeholders.  Boards are also in place for each Member 
Portfolio.  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 184



  
 

29 

 

 

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 
benefits 
 
 
Relevant financial, social and environmental considerations have to be included within 
Committee reports.  
 
The Liverpool City Region National Local Governance Assurance Framework was updated 
and approved in January 2022. The aim of the Assurance Framework is to set out how the 
Combined Authority and LEP will make use of public funds, in a way that achieves value for 
money and inclusive growth for the Liverpool City Region. It also aspires to improve 
transparency of decision making in pursuit of these aims, ensuring accountability for 
activities and spending, both to HM Government as well as residents of our locality.  
Supporting the Assurance Framework is an Investment Strategy, which was published in 
September 2020 and provides detailed information relating to the Strategic Investment Fund 
(SIF).  The SIF’s purpose is to invest in “good growth” – growth that supports the economic 
development ambitions for the Liverpool City Region that is both socially inclusive and 
environmentally responsible. 
 
The Corporate Plan was updated in 2021/22 to reflect the social and environmental 
commitments made within the Metro Mayor’s manifesto following the Mayoral election of 
2022.  This is particularly the case with the commitments to zero carbon targets, social value 
and our broader equalities duties. 
 
The Combined Authority has invested significant resources in capacity and training in its 
Race Equality Hub which was launched in July 2021 and provides resources and support 
to increasing diversity and removing barriers to employment.  
 
The Combined Authority, through the Metro Mayor and the portfolio holder for zero carbon 
agenda, represented the City Region at COP26 in 2021/22.  A Zero Carbon Delivery Board 
has been established to monitor progress and ensure that our zero carbon objectives are 
reflected throughout the broadest range of Combined Authority activity.   Work on our Tidal 
Energy project has continued in 2021/22 and significant progress has been made towards 
the City Region’s ambition for sustainable Hydrogen fuel technology both in terms of our 
investment strategy and also in direct procurement. 
 
The Combined Authority has also dedicated significant resources to Social Value 
responsibilities in 2021/22 and this area will be a significant focus in 2022/23.  Part of this 
work has been reflected in a Fair Employment Charter that has been adopted by the 
Combined Authority in 2021/22. 
 
The integration of social and environmental considerations into broader aspects of 
Combined Authority activity is demonstrated by the work undertaken on our Freeports 
submission which as well as encompassing commercial and economic analysis has also 
included social value, zero carbon and fairer charging controls within our Full Business Case 
submission to government. 
 
Reporting performance to Members has also commenced during the course of the year.  
 

Page 185



  
 

30 

 

 
A key task, looking ahead, is to continue to develop plans for the Combined Authority’s role 
in achieving net zero carbon. 
 
Social value aspects had not been sufficiently articulated during 2021/22; however, a new 
Social Value Framework 2022/23 was launched in April 2022 and specific resources have 
been identified to support the CA’s Social Value obligations during 2022/23. 

 

 
D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended 
outcomes 
 
 
2021/22 continued to be significantly disrupted due to the global situation with respect to 
COVID-19. 
 
The Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor in particular were central to the City Region’s 
management of all aspects of COVID-19 but particularly around economic resilience and 
recovery. 
The Metro Mayor has played a regional and national role and has worked with other 
members of the Combined Authority to provide community leadership in this difficult year. 
 
The Combined Authority has worked very closely with Merseyrail and with Bus Operators 
to ensure that the public transport network was maintained throughout the year. 
 
Our Rolling Stock project continued to be hampered by the COVID-19 pandemic; however, 
progress continues to be made.   
 
We have undertaken further strengthening of evidence-based policymaking and have 
provided training and workshops on risk to ensure that the organisation has a greater 
understanding of implications and risk of decisions required.    
 
Risk management at a corporate level has evolved; being driven by the Head of Internal 
Audit and the Risk Manager.  A Corporate Risk Register is in place which is regularly 
reviewed.  The corporate Risk Group continues to support the process; and significant 
progress has been made in establishing Service Risk Registers across the organisation.  
 
Work has progressed on articulating the risk appetite of the organisation. 
 
Recovery from the impact of the pandemic continues to be a challenge and there is 
heightened risk in relation to the commercial viability of transport operators and the 
Transport Funding Model as patronage levels increase to closer to pre-pandemic levels. 
 
The Combined Authority confirmed its intention to move towards a franchise model of bus 
governance for the City Region in 2021/22. Understanding the commercial and other risks 
involved in this will be critical and is a major priority for the CA in 2022/23. 
 
Contingency planning is ongoing; particularly in relation to the potential for Operator of Last 
Resort (OLR) arrangements having to be invoked on the Merseyrail Network.   
 
An area of continued focus of attention in 2022/23 will be the work supporting each Local 
Authority (within the Combined Authority) in its capacity to deliver. 
 
 

Page 186



  
 

31 

 

 
E. Developing capacity and capability 
 
 
Capacity continues to be developed across the Combined Authority with particular focus on 
delivery. 
 
Resources have also been made available to fund the development of a transport pipeline 
that will make best use of the City Region’s Transforming Cities Fund and the forthcoming 
City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement. 
 
Having a pipeline of deliverable schemes and the organisational capacity to deliver 
continues to be critical to the Combined Authority’s ability to deliver its obligations under its 
Devolution Deal.  The CA was successful in its bid for CRSTS funding in 2021/22 and was 
awarded broadly the full amount that was bid for.  This was seen as vindication from 
government of the strength of the pipeline and the underpinning delivery arrangements.  
Ensuring that the CA and our partner Local Authorities has the capacity to deliver the 
CRSTS deal from 2022/23 onwards is a significant priority. 
 
The way in which the Combined Authority conducts its business has continued to adapt to 
COVID restrictions during the year.  The organisation has also implemented permanent 
flexible and hybrid working patterns to optimise technology and improve usage of office 
space whilst delivering improved work/life balance for staff. 
 
Team meetings, in general, have continued and have evolved, due to the restrictions of the 
pandemic and the Chief Executive and Metro Mayor have held several remote sessions for 
staff which were well attended and well received; and as restrictions associated with 
‘COVID-19’ have relaxed, the delivery of such sessions has been tailored accordingly via 
‘in-person’ and ‘remote’ sessions.  
  
The Developing Our Organisation programme continued in 2021/22, covering the following 
key areas: 

 Leadership and management development 
 New ways of working 
 Our people 
 Employee engagement 
 Stakeholder engagement 
 Equality and diversity inclusion 
 Managing performance and delivery 

 
During the year there has been a focus on training and development of senior leaders via 
the Leadership Development Programme; and approval of Leadership Charter and People 
Strategy to support workforce development. 
 
Employee Survey and follow-up pulse survey conducted during the year, with actions being 
progressed to address the findings. 
 
Steps have continued to be taken by the organisation to maintain the health, safety and 
wellbeing of its staff.  New ways of working have been adopted; and assessments have 
been undertaken in relation to ensuring work areas have been deemed ‘COVID secure’, 
and requests for DSE Assessments to be completed for those working from home. 
 
 
 

Page 187



  
 

32 

 

 
Areas for focussed attention during 2022/23 will be in relation to ensuring: 

 All job descriptions are up to date; 
 A robust induction process for all staff; 
 Procurement/governance processes are aligned across Merseytravel and the 

Combined Authority; and 
 Adequacy of capacity and skills of the workforce. 

 

 
F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management 
 
 
There has been continued investment in corporate risk during the year.  This has been led 
by Directors and reflected in a fully updated Corporate Risk Register and much greater 
organisational understanding of risk appetite reflected in the scoring of risk impacts. 
 
The Risk Management Policy clearly defines roles and responsibilities.  At a corporate 
level, evidence is available to confirm these roles and responsibilities are now becoming 
embedded. 
 
The risks outlined in the Corporate Risk Register, which has been the subject of a 
significant review during the year, are strategic in nature, rather than operational; and 
therefore, have the greatest potential to prevent or frustrate the achievement of Corporate 
Plan priorities. 
 
It is clear that risk should be on the agenda as part of all reports presented to formal 
committees/boards, and this is developing positively.  The template report format includes 
a 'Risks and Mitigation' section for completion.  A document entitled: "Guidance for Report 
Authors – Risk and Mitigation Section" produced by the Head of Internal Audit is available 
to support the effectiveness of the information included within Committee reports.  The risk 
information presented within reports is reviewed by the Risk Manager to ensure 
robustness of content. 
 
Significant progress has been made to ensure the availability of service risk registers; 
however, work is still required to ensure the content of each register meets minimum 
expectations and is reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
  
Fraud Awareness training is available as an e-learning package and an appropriate Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption Policy is in place alongside supporting policies, including in respect 
of whistleblowing.  However, staff understanding of fraud responsibilities remains an area 
of focus for 2022/23.   
 
There have been no reports of fraud or suspected fraud or irregularity during the year. 
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government reviewing assurance over compliance with the governance requirements 
detailed in CIPFA document ‘The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government’ 
2016.  Positive responses provided highlighting key controls have operated effectively 
during the course of the year. 
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of Senior Information Risk Owner 
(SIRO) reviewing assurance over compliance with the governance requirements detailed 
in Local Public Services Data Handling Guidelines 5th Edition, April 2018.              

Page 188



  
 

33 

 

Proactive steps are being taken to further strengthen arrangements across the 
organisation and ensure the role of the SIRO is fulfilled in an effective manner.  
 
There have been no incidents of data loss during the course of the year; and managers 
have reported significant progress in staff awareness of how to report a data breach, 
should it be required, in accordance with the Information Security Incident Management 
Protocol. 
 
Compliance with the Financial Management Code (CIPFA, 2019) is being worked 
towards, and will continue in 2022/23.   
 
Managers across the organisation highlighted that team members are given the 
opportunity, on a regular basis, to raise and/or discuss matters relating to Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing. 
 
Robust Health and Safety Risk Assessments are not yet in place for all service areas and 
will therefore be a focus for attention during 2022/23. 

 

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability 
 
The Combined Authority follows good practice in providing clear and accurate information 
and has developed its reporting profile and its online presence with transparency in mind. 
 
The Combined Authority publishes its freedom of information requests and responses on 
its website. Work has been undertaken to provide as much information as possible on the 
Combined Authority website to reduce FOI requests. All FOI requests have been responded 
to within statutory deadlines. 
 
The Combined Authority’s Audit and Governance Committee met regularly during the year 
and a new independent member joined the Committee during the year.  
 
During the year steps have been taken to ensure that outstanding Internal Audit 
recommendations are implemented.  In addition, improved engagement in Internal Audit 
work has been evident, supported by regular presentations to ELT and SLT on work 
undertaken, outcomes and key items of note. 
 
Internal Audit opinions were generally positive during year.  There was one report with a 
“major” organisational risk opinion, in respect of the Seacombe Landing Stage Capital 
Scheme, and this was discussed at the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 
Self-assessment undertaken in relation to the role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public 
Sector Organisations over compliance with the governance requirements detailed in CIPFA 
document ‘The role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Sector Organisations’ 2019 
edition.  Positive responses provided highlighting key controls have operated effectively 
during the course of the year. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit’s opinion for 2021/22 was that arrangements are adequate and 
that capacity for improvement is good.  
 
An area for continued focus during 2022/23 is in relation to maintaining and developing 
cyber security and resilience arrangements; and Business Continuity Plans. 
 

 

Page 189



  
 

34 

 

 
6. EVALUATION/UPDATE – SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE 

ISSUES FROM AGS 2020/21 
 

 
No Significant Governance Issues were reported in 2020/21. 

 

 
7. SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 

 
 
This Annual Governance Statement identifies that the Combined Authority has effective 
arrangements in place; however, the organisation realises the need to monitor its governance 
arrangements on an ongoing basis given the ever-changing environment within which it 
operates, and due to the organisation continuing to evolve.   

Whilst the organisation has not identified any Significant Governance Issues, a number of 
areas for development and focus have been outlined within the table above and appropriate 
action is being, or is due to be, taken to ensure the issue does not transpire in to one of 
significance. 

 

 
8. FUTURE CHALLENGES 

 
 

Future challenges that exist in relation to the organisation include: 

• Playing a leading role in the economic recovery of the City Region; 
• Working on a local transport plan that takes account of future patterns of travel and 

work;  
• Working with partners and government to meet the challenging requirements of the 

Freeports programme to ensure that the City Region benefits from achieving Freeport 
Status; 

• Understanding and managing the commercial and other risks associated with bus 
franchising; 

• Developing sufficient capacity both in the CA and in partner Local Authorities to deliver 
the CRSTS award; 

• Continue to manage its financial position and respond to the challenges created by 
price increases, pay pressure and interest rate movements; 

• Ensuring that any recovery is environmentally sustainable and that air quality issues 
are considered in planning future transport requirements; 

• Identifying and managing the economic risks and opportunities afforded to the City 
Region as a result of the UK leaving the EU; and 

• Continuing to deliver, sponsor and support major projects across the City Region. 
 

 

 

Page 190



  
 

35 

 

 
9. CONCLUSION 

 
 
The Combined Authority is satisfied that appropriate governance arrangements are in place 
and that the governance arrangements in place in 2021/22 were appropriate to its resources 
and responsibilities in that year. 

We propose, over the coming year, to take any necessary steps to address the issues 
highlighted within this Statement, to further enhance our governance arrangements.   

The arrangements in place in 2021/22 continued to focus on ensuring that capacity and 
resources were put in place to support the wider Combined Authority functions while 
maintaining effective governance and delivery around the Combined Authority’s core 
activities. 

 
10. CERTIFICATION 

 
 

 

  
 

Katherine Fairclough 
Chief Executive 

 
Steve Rotheram 

Mayor of the Liverpool City Region 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

8 July 2022          8 July 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 191



  
 

36 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE 
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 
 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (to be inserted on completion 
of the external audit) 

 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 192



  
 

37 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LCRCA GROUP ACCOUNTS 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 193



  
 

38 

 

 

GROUP MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the Authority Group analysed into ‘usable 
reserves’ (i.e. those can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’.  The Statement shows how the movements in year of the 
Authority Group’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments 
required to return the amounts chargeable to General Fund for the year.  The Net Increase/(Decrease) line shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year 
following those adjustments. 
 

 

 
*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 

General Fund 
Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total Usable 
Reserves

Revaluation 
Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2021 7,365 220,523 227,888 28,563 121,331 (99,408) (796) (241) 49,449 277,337 0 277,337

1,132 0 1,132 0 0 30,785 0 0 30,785 31,917 (827) 31,090

Adjustments to the revenue resources*

Pensions costs 8,839 0 8,839 0 0 (8,839) 0 0 (8,839) 0 0 0

Holiday pay 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current 
assets 15,472 0 15,472 0 (15,472) 0 0 0 (15,472) 0 0 0

Net gain or loss on sale of non-current assets (56) 246 190 0 (190) 0 0 0 (190)

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 160,504 0 160,504 0 (160,504) 0 0 0 (160,504) 0 0 0

Difference in precept income 51 0 51 0 0 0 0 (51) (51) 0 0 0

Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (168,897) 0 (168,897) 0 168,897 0 0 0 168,897 0 0 0

Total adjustments to revenue resources 15,913 246 16,159 0 (7,269) (8,839) 0 (51) (16,159) 0 0 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (2,283) 0 (2,283) 0 2,283 0 0 0 2,283 0 0 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (4,819) 0 (4,819) 0 4,819 0 0 0 4,819 0 0 0
Total adjustments between revenue and capital 
resources (7,102) 0 (7,102) 0 7,102 0 0 0 7,102 0 0 0

Adjustments to capital resources

Capital Receipts 0 1,588 1,588 0 (1,588) 0 0 0 (1,588) 0 0 0

Use of capital receipts to finance capital expenditure 0 (246) (246) 0 246 0 0 0 246 0 0 0

Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (874) 874 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total adjustments to capital resources 0 1,342 1,342 (874) (468) 0 0 0 (1,342) 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves (5,641) 1,472 (4,169) 0 4,169 0 0 0 4,169 0 0 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2021/22 4,302 3,060 7,362 (874) 3,534 21,946 0 (51) 24,555 31,917 (827) 31,090

Balance as at 31st March 2022 11,667 223,583 235,250 27,689 124,865 (77,462) (796) (292) 74,004 309,254 (827) 308,427

Group Share 
of Joint 

Venture £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total Group 
Reserves 

£'000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)

P
age 194



  
 

39 

 

GROUP MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

2020/21  

 

*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 

 

 

General Fund 
Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total Usable 
Reserves

Revaluation 
Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2020 5,953 227,985 233,938 29,356 122,569 (88,856) (372) (10) 62,687 296,625

(16,003) 0 (16,003) 0 0 (4,535) 0 0 (4,535) (20,538)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*

Pensions costs 6,017 0 6,017 0 0 (6,017) 0 0 (6,017) 0

Holiday pay 424 0 424 0 0 0 (424) 0 (424) 0

Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 16,411 0 16,411 0 (16,411) 0 0 0 (16,411) 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (101) 0 (101) 0 101 0 0 0 101 0

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 185,459 0 185,459 0 (185,459) 0 0 0 (185,459) 0

Difference in precept income 231 0 231 0 0 0 0 (231) (231) 0

Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (183,980) 0 (183,980) 0 183,980 0 0 0 183,980 0

Total adjustments to revenue resources 24,461 0 24,461 0 (17,789) (6,017) (424) (231) (24,461) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (7,568) 0 (7,568) 0 7,568 0 0 0 7,568 0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (5,788) 0 (5,788) 0 5,788 0 0 0 5,788 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (13,356) 0 (13,356) 0 13,356 0 0 0 13,356 0

Adjustments to capital resources

Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (793) 793 0 0 0 0 0

Total adjustments to capital resources 0 0 0 (793) 793 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves 6,310 (7,462) (1,152) 0 1,152 0 0 0 1,152 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2020/21 1,412 (7,462) (6,050) (793) (2,488) (10,552) (424) (231) (14,488) (20,538)

Balance as at 31st March 2021 7,365 220,523 227,888 28,563 120,081 (99,408) (796) (241) 48,199 276,087

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

P
age 195



  
 

40 

 

GROUP COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
 

This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded  
from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with Regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in  
the MiRS.  
 

 

An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in a realignment of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been restated to reflect 
the new structure.

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross 
Income

Net 
Expenditure

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross 
Income

Net 
Expenditure Notes

310,159 (169,246) 140,914 Place 320,610 (231,255) 89,355
63,145 (59,633) 3,512 Investment & Delivery 67,619 (63,915) 3,704
3,909 (477) 3,433 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 5,055 (1,083) 3,972
1,806 (94) 1,712 Corporate Services 1,642 (544) 1,098
2,092 (120) 1,973 Corporate Development & Delivery 2,280 (515) 1,765
4,968 (1,508) 3,460 Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 6,914 (735) 6,179

185,682 (208,463) (22,781) SIF Payments to Partners 175,002 (135,226) 39,776
571,762 (439,541) 132,221 Net Cost of Service 579,122 (433,273) 145,849

147 Other Operating Expenditure 161 7
12,026 Financing and Investment Income 11,382 8

(128,391) Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (158,524) 10
16,003 (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services (1,132)

4,535
Remeasurement (Gains)/ Losses on Pension Assets/ 
Liabilities (30,785) 9

0 Joint Venture accounted for on an Equity Basis 827
4,535 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (29,958)

20,538 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (31,090)

2020/21 Restated £'000 2021/22 £'000

P
age 196



  
 

41 

 

GROUP BALANCE SHEET 

 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Authority Group.  The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are 
matched by the reserves held by the Authority Group.  Reserves are reported in two 
categories.  The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the 
Authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of 
reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve 
that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category of 
reserves is those that the Authority is not able to use to provide services.  This category of 
reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation 
Reserve) where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are 
sold; and reserves that hold timing differences in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 
‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 
 
 
 

Page 197



  
 

42 

 

 
 
                

Katherine Fairclough     John Fogarty (CPFA) 
Chief Executive      Executive Director Corporate Services 
8 July 2022      8 July 2022  

As at 31 March 
2021

As at 31 March 
2022

£’000 £’000

589,176 Property, Plant and Equipment 653,968 16

1,161 Heritage Assets 1,161 18

3,776 Intangible Assets 4,148 17

0 Investment in Joint Venture 3,102 25

73,202 Long-term Debtors 80,245 20

667,315 Long-term Assets 742,624

235,228 Short-term Investments 220,420 25

1,075 Inventories 977

21,307 Short-term Debtors 30,279 21

98,393 Cash and Cash Equivalents 68,774 25

356,003 Current Assets 320,450

(16,965) Short-term Borrowing (15,791) 25

(104,031) Short-term Creditors (126,948) 22

(763) Provisions (11,012) 24

(194,439) Grant Receipts in Advance (207,900) 11

(316,198) Current Liabilities (361,651)

(2,012) Long-term Provisions (2,012) 24

(323,612) Long-term Borrowing (307,821) 25

(99,409) Pension Liability (77,463) 9

(6,000) Other Long-term Liabilities (5,700) 25

(431,033) Long-term Liabilities (392,996)

276,087 Net Assets 308,427

227,888 Usable Reserves 235,250 6

48,199 Unusable Reserves 74,004 5
0 Usable Reserves of Joint Venture (827)

276,087 Total Reserves 308,427

Note

Page 198



  
 

43 

 

GROUP CASHFLOW STATEMENT 

 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority 
during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent 
to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or 
from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.  Investing activities represent the 
extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute 
to the Authority’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful 
in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. 
 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

£’000 £’000
(16,003) Net deficit on provision of services 1,132

180,185
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for non-cash movements

60,509 27

(12,122)
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for items which are investing and financing activities

(44,253) 27

152,060 Net cash inflows from Operating Activities 17,388

(91,360) Investing activities (30,042) 27

(16,910) Financing activities (16,965) 27

43,790
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

(29,619)

54,603 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st April 98,393 25

98,393 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31st March 68,774

Note
2021/222020/21

Page 199



  
 

44 

 

NOTES TO THE PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1 Accounting Policies 
 

General Principals 
 
 The Statement of Accounts summarises the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority’s transactions for the financial year 2021/22 and its position as at 31 March 
2022.  The Authority is required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which require 
the accounts to be completed in accordance with proper accounting practices.  These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2021/22, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 

 
 The accounting convention adopted by the statement is principally historic cost, 

modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments.  The Statement of Accounts has been completed on a going concern 
basis. 

 
 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
 Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments 

are made or received.  In particular:  
  
 Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the 

provision of goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in 
the contract. 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there 
is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they 
are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.  

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather 
than when payments are made.  

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest 
rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or 
determined by the contract.  

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet.  Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is 
written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 
collected.  

 
Agency Transactions 
 
Transactions are excluded from the Authority’s financial statements for all agency 
relationships.  As stipulated by the Code, the Authority is acting as an agent in 
situations when the Authority does not control the specified goods or services being 
provided by another party, before they are transferred to the customer.  All services 
are reviewed to determine who controls the right to the underlying goods or services 
and when this is not deemed to be the Authority, the transactions have been excluded 
from the financial statements. 

Page 200



  
 

45 

 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that mature in 90 days or less from the date of acquisition and that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s 
cash management. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimations, Errors and Prior Period 
Adjustments 
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to 
correct a material error.  Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not 
give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect 
of transactions, other events and conditions on the Authority’s financial position or 
financial performance.  Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless 
stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the 
prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by 
amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-
current assets during the year:  
 
 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there 

are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses 
can be written off; and 

 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.  
 

The Authority is not required to raise levy to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an annual 
contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement 
equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in 
accordance with statutory guidance (known as the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP)).  Depreciation, revaluation losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by 
the MRP in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction with the 
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference 
between the two. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



  
 

46 

 

 
Employee Benefits 
 
Benefits Payable During Employment  
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of 
the year-end.  They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave 
and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees and 
are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render 
service to the Authority.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any 
form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-
end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year.  The accrual is 
made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being 
the period in which the employee takes the benefit.  The accrual is charged to Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement in 
Reserves Statement so that holiday entitlements are charged to revenue in the 
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  
 
Termination Benefits  
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. They are 
charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the Authority can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits, or when the Authority recognises costs for a 
restructuring.  
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions 
require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the 
Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated 
according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove 
the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and 
replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any 
such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post-employment Benefits  
 
Employees of the Authority are members of a Local Government Pensions Scheme, 
administered by Merseyside Pension Fund.  This is a defined benefit pension scheme. 
 
The liabilities of the Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included 
in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an 
assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits 
earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee 
turnover rates, etc., and projections of projected earnings for current employees.  
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.  
 
The assets of Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value.  
 
 

Page 202



  
 

47 

 

The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:  
 
Service cost comprising: 
 
 Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 

earned this year.  These costs are allocated in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

 Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment 
or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years.  
The costs are debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.    

 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. the change during the period 
in the net defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time.  The net 
interest is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Remeasurements comprising: 
 
 The return on plan assets – (excluding amounts included in net interest above) 

charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. 

 Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation or because actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to 
the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

 Employer’s contributions paid to Merseyside Pension Fund – not accounted for 
as an expense. 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund 
Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund 
or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the 
relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means 
that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits 
and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to 
the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the 
year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 
measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund Balance of being required to 
account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are 
earned by employees.  
 
Discretionary Benefits  
 
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result 
of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the 
award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be 
identified:  
 

Page 203



  
 

48 

 

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events; 
and 

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes 
of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
 
The Authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets at fair 
value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset takes place 
either: 
 In the principal market for the asset, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 

asset. 
 
The Authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Authority takes into account 
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its 
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The Authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data is available making use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach 
that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow 
characteristics.  There are three main classes of financial assets measured at: 
 
 Amortised cost 
 Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

 
           The Authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. 

Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost. 
 

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet 
when the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured at fair value.  They are subsequently measured 

Page 204



  
 

49 

 

at their amortised cost.  Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for 
interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the 
effective rate of interest for the instrument.  For most of the financial assets held by the 
Authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the 
CIES is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Where the Authority has made loans at less than market rates (soft loans) a loss is 
recorded in the CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the 
interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower 
amortised cost than the outstanding principal.  Interest is credited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher effective 
rate of interest than the rate receivable from the lender, with the difference serving to 
increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet.  Statutory provisions 
require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest 
receivable for the financial year.  This is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Any gains or losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 
 
Expected Credit Loss Model 
 
The Authority recognises expected credit losses on all its financial assets held at 
amortised cost either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model 
also applies to lease receivables and contract assets.   
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that future cash flows may 
not take place because the borrower could default on their obligations.  Credit risk 
plays a crucial part in assessing losses.  Where risk has increased significantly since 
an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis.  Where 
risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis 
of 12-month expected losses. 
  
Financial Liabilities  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured 
at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest payable are based on the carrying amount 
of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  
 
For most of the borrowings that the Authority has, this means that the amount 
presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued 
interest); and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the CIES, regulations allow the 
impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  The Authority 
has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining on the loan 
against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid.  

Page 205



  
 

50 

 

The reconciliation of amounts charged to the CIES to the net charge required against 
the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 
Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third 
party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there 
is reasonable assurance that:  
 
 The Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and  
 The grants or contributions will be received.  
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future 
economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the form of the grant 
or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future 
economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are satisfied, 
the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue 
grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure 
(non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve.  Where it has been 
applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants 
Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have 
been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method. Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as goodwill and is not amortised. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least annually and 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash-
generating units monitored by management, usually at operating segment level or, if 
smaller, statutory company level. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill, an impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement. 
 

Page 206



  
 

51 

 

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit is taken into 
account when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the unit, or of an operation 
within it.  
 
Merseytravel has taken advantage of the option under the first time adoption provisions 
of The Code to use the brought forward value of goodwill as at 1 April 2009 as an 
appropriate approximation of fair value. 
 
Heritage Assets 
 
The Authority holds statues and artworks, which are held and maintained as a 
contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
Heritage assets are recognised and measured in accordance with the Authority’s 
accounting policies on property, plant and equipment.  However, some of the 
measurement rules are relaxed where it is not practicable to obtain a valuation at a 
cost which is commensurate with the benefits to users of the financial statements.  In 
these circumstances heritage assets are measured at historical cost (less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses). 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are 
controlled by the Authority (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected 
that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to 
the Authority.  Intangible assets are measured at cost and the balance is amortised 
over its useful life to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis.  An asset is tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired – any losses 
recognised are posted to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES). Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line 
in the CIES.  
 
Amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to 
have an impact on the General Fund Balance.  These entries are therefore reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted 
to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method.  Any excess over the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
is initially recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and is 
not amortised. After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least 
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired. 

 
Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
 
The Authority has material interests in companies and other entities which require it to 
prepare group accounts.  In the Authority’s own single-entity accounts, the interests in 
companies and other entities are recorded at cost, less any impairments. 
 

Page 207



  
 

52 

 

Inclusion in the Authority Group is dependent upon the extent of the Authority’s interest 
and power to influence an entity. An assessment of all the Authority’s interests is 
carried out each financial year to determine the relationships that exist and whether 
they should be included within the Authority’s group accounts. 
 
This assessment determines whether the entity is accounted for as: 
 
 A subsidiary – the Authority controls the entity and has the power to govern its 

financial and operating policies so as to benefit from its activities; or 
 An associate – the Authority has significant influence over the entity and has 

the power to participate in its financial and operating policies; or 
 Joint Operations – the Authority is party to the contractually and binding agreed 

sharing of control over the organisation such that strategic financial and 
operating decisions require the unanimous consent of all parties sharing 
control. 
 

Inventories and Long-term Contracts 
 
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value determined on a first in first out basis.  
 
Long-term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services with the consideration allocated to the performance 
obligations satisfied based on the goods or services transferred to the service recipient 
during the financial year. 
 
Leases 
 
Leases are classed as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or 
equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 
 
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and building elements are 
considered separately for classification. 
 
The Authority as Lessee 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance 
Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s 
inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower).  The asset 
recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial indirect 
costs of the Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset.  Premiums paid 
on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. 

 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 
 
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment 

– applied to write down the lease liability; and 
 A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 
 

Page 208



  
 

53 

 

Property, plant, and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for 
using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being 
charged over the lease term if this shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life. 
 
Statutory requirements mean that depreciation, revaluations and impairment losses 
are not a proper charge against the General Fund Balance.  Instead a prudent annual 
contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment. 
Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a 
revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction 
with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the 
difference between the two. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the 
leased property, plant or equipment.  Charges are made on a straight line basis over 
the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is 
a rent free period at the commencement of the lease). 

 
The Authority as Lessor 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant and 
equipment the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At 
the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  A 
gain, representing the Authority’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same 
line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal(i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long term 
debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 
 
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write 

down the lease debtor; and 
 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the CIES). 
 

The gain credited to the CIES on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the 
General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where the 
amount due in relation the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in 
future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred 
Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the future 
rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset 
is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point, the deferred capital receipts are 
transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 

Page 209



  
 

54 

 

Operating Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to 
the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES.  Credits are made on a straight-
line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of 
payments. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over 
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

 
Overheads and Support Services 
 
In line with best practice, charges for the cost of central support services are fully 
charged or apportioned to those that benefit from the supply of service using time 
recording and other appropriate methods. 
 
Property Plant and Equipment 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  
 
Recognition  
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure that 
maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits 
or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is 
incurred.  
 
Measurement  
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  
 The purchase price; and 
 Any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 

 
The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under 
construction.  
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, 
unless the acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a 
variation in the cash flows of the Authority).  In the latter case, where an asset is 
acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the 
asset given up by the Authority.  
 
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value 
and any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 
and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
unless the donation has been made conditionally.  Until conditions are satisfied, the 
gain is held in the Donated Assets Account.  Where gains are credited to the 

Page 210



  
 

55 

 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:  

 
 Infrastructure and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost; 
 Surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated 

at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective; and 
 All other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid 

for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  
 
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of 
current value.  
 
Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), 
depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for current value.  
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly 
to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value 
at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  Increases in valuations are 
matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  Gains 
might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services where they 
arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a service.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  
 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains)  

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 
only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Impairment  
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are 
estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where 
this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for 
the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 
 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains); or 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 

Page 211



  
 

56 

 

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

 
Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the 
systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An exception  
is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and 
assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  
 
Depreciation on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets is calculated by allocating 
the asset value over the period expected to benefit from their use on a straight-line 
basis.  All assets are assessed individually in relation to their asset lives for the purpose 
of calculating depreciation.  Conditions relative to each asset are considered in arriving 
at this determination. 
 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment asset has major component whose 
cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are 
depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would 
have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from 
the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Disposal and Non- Current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before 
reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to 
sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is 
posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of 
any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.  
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount 
before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or 
revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for 
Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.  
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for 
Sale.  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in 
the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is 
written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts from disposals 
(if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated 

Page 212



  
 

57 

 

for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.  
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital 
receipts and can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement England 
and Wales).  Receipts are appropriated to the Capital Receipts Reserve from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal 
or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Authority 
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the balance 
sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account 
relevant risks and uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year 
– where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be 
required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and 
credited back to the relevant service.  
 
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be 
recovered from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as 
income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received if the Authority settles the obligation. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be 
made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise 
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  Contingent 

Page 213



  
 

58 

 

assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential. 

 
Reserves 
 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, 
financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable 
resources for the Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions 
but that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as 
expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year.  Where the Authority has determined to meet the cost of this 
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact 
on the level of levy. 

 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable 
from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

 
2.  Critical Judgements 
 

In applying account policies set out in Note 1, the Authority had to make certain 
judgements about complex transaction or those involving uncertainty about future 
events, the critical judgements made in statements of accounts are: 

 
 The CA and Merseytravel have examined all its significant lease agreements 

to establish whether these should be classed as operational or finance 
leases.  Where the application of IAS 17 does not provide a definitive 
solution, judgement is applied in determining whether the lease is operating 
or financial.  Based on this assessment all Merseytravel’s leases have been 
assessed to be operational. 

 
 Group accounts: The Authority has a number of interests in other entities 

which fall within the group boundary.  Whilst some of these are deemed to 
be material and are therefore consolidated into group accounts, others are 
considered not sufficiently material to warrant full group account disclosures.  
To ensure there is sufficient visibility on these arrangements, narrative 
disclosures on these arrangements are included within Note 15. 

 

 
 

 

Page 214



  
 

59 

 

3.  Estimation and Uncertainty 
 

The statement of accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions 
made by the Authority about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are 
made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant 
factors.  However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual 
results could be materially different from assumptions and estimates. 
The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31st March 2022 for which there is a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 

  
 Pension benefits: the cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined 

using an independent actuarial valuation, involving the use of assumptions 
about discount rates, returns on assets, future salary increases, mortality 
rates and future pension increases.  Such assumptions are reviewed are 
each period end and determined jointly between the pension fund 
management and the actuaries.  Details can be found within Note 9. 

 
 Property revaluation: the LCRCA carries its non-infrastructure land and 

buildings at fair value. Periodically, external surveyors are used, and the most 
recent full independent survey was carried out as at 31 March 2019. Between 
independent surveys, desk top based annual reviews are carried out by 
qualified surveyors. Such valuations and any attached estimates are subject 
to some judgement. The carrying value of land and buildings at 31st March 
2022 was £93.1m. 

 
4. Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 
 

As at the Balance Sheet date there are a number of accounting standards that have 
been published but not yet adopted by the Code. 

i. IFRS 16 Leases (but only for those local authorities that have decided to adopt 
IFRS 16 in the 2022/23 year). 

ii. Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020. The annual IFRS 
improvement programme notes 4 changed standards:  

a. IFRS 1   (First-time adoption) – amendment relates to foreign 
operations of acquired subsidiaries transitioning to IFRS 

b. IAS 37   (Onerous contracts) – clarifies the intention of the standard 
c. IFRS 16 (Leases) – amendment removes a misleading example that is 

not referenced in the Code material 
d. IAS 41   (Agriculture) – one of a small number of IFRSs that are only 

expected to apply to local authorities in limited circumstances. 
iii. Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments 

to IAS 16). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 215



  
 

60 

 

5. Unusable Reserves 
  

  
   

The details of the movements in unusable reserves can be found in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 
 
Revaluation Reserve 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 
increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment (and intangible assets).  The 
balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 
 re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation, or 
 disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 

 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and 
for financing the acquisition, construction, or enhancement of those assets under 
statutory provisions.  The account is charged with the cost of acquisition, construction 
or enhancement, as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from 
the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).   
 
The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the 
costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.   
 
The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and 
Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to 
hold such gains. 

 
Pensions Reserve 

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority Group’s accounts for post-
employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the 
benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities 
recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 
resources set aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require 

Page 216



  
 

61 

 

benefits earned to be financed as the Authority through Merseytravel makes 
employer’s contributions to pensions funds or eventually pays any pensions for which 
it is directly responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore 
represents a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees 
and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them.  The Statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits 
come to be paid.   

 
Accumulated Absences Account 

  
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise 
arise on the Revenue Reserve Balance from accruing for compensated absences 
earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 
March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the Revenue Reserves 
Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

  
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

  
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of the Authority’s portion of council tax income and national non domestic 
rates income in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement as it falls due 
from council tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts due to the Authority from Billing Authorities.  

Page 217



  
 

62 

 

6. Usable and Earmarked Reserves 
 

LCRCA Group - Movements in Earmarked Reserves 
  

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in earmarked 
reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted 
back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2021/22. 
 

 
             
7.  Other Operating Expenditure 
 

  
  
8.  Financing and Investment Income  
  

  
 
9.  Pensions 
 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel makes contributions towards the cost of post-employment 
benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, 
the Combined Authority and Merseytravel has a commitment to make the payments 
(for those benefits) and to disclose them at the time that employees earn their future 
entitlement.   
 
Both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel participates in Merseyside Pension 
Fund administered locally by Wirral Council – this is a funded defined benefit final 

Balance 
1st April 

2020

Transfers 
Out 

2020/21

Transfers 
In 2020/21

Balance 
31st 

March 
2021

Transfers 
Out 

2021/22

Transfers 
In 2021/22

Balance 
31st 

March 
2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
LCRCA Single Entity  
Earmarked Reserves

172,673 (10,223) 3,689 166,139 (4,619) 7,077 168,597

Merseytravel Group 
Earmarked Reserves

55,312 (4,333) 3,407 54,386 0 602 54,988

LCRCA Group 
Earmarked Reserves

227,985 (14,556) 7,096 220,525 (4,619) 7,679 223,585

LCRCA General Fund 2,734 0 0 2,734 0 4,302 7,036

Merseytravel Group 
General Fund 3,219 0 1,410 4,629 0 0 4,629
Total General Fund 5,953 0 1,410 7,363 0 4,302 11,665
Total Usable Reserves 233,938 (14,556) 8,506 227,888 (4,619) 11,981 235,250

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

147 Pension administration costs 161
147 Total 161

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

8,651 Interest on Pension Liabilities 8,711
(6,584) Pension Interest on Plan Assets (6,675)
11,986 Interest Payable and Similar Charges 11,318
(2,536) Investment Income (2,384)

509 Expected Credit Loss 412
12,026 Total 11,382

Page 218



  
 

63 

 

salary scheme, meaning that Merseytravel and employees pay contributions into a 
fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment 
assets.  

 
 
Transactions Relating to Post Employment Benefits 

 
The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services to 
comply with the reporting requirements of IAS 19 in respect of defined benefits 
schemes. 
 

 
 

The following transactions are then recognised in the Movement in Reserves as 
adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under Regulation. 
 

 
  
 Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 
 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Merseytravel’s obligation 
in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

Net Cost of Service
8,958 Current service cost 12,140

Other Operating Expenditure
147 Administration expenses 161

Financing and Investments Income
2,067 Net interest expense 2,036

11,172 Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to the CIES 14,337

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(11,172)
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services

(14,337)

5,155 Employers contribution payable to the Scheme 5,498

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(418,880) Benefit obligation at end of the period (425,986)
319,471 Fair Value of plan assets at end of the period 348,523
(99,409) Deficit as at 31 March (77,463)

Page 219



  
 

64 

 

Reconciliation of the movement in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 
 

   
 

Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligations) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
277,498 Balance brought forward 31 March 319,471

6,584 Interest on plan assets 6,675
41,117 Remeasurement 27,004

(147) Administration expenses (161)
5,155 Employers contributions 5,498
2,108 Members contributions 2,299

(12,844) Benefits/ transfers paid (12,263)
319,471 Balance carried forward 1 April 348,523

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(366,355) Balance brought forward 31 March (418,880)
(8,958) Current service cost (12,140)
(8,651) Interest on pension liabilities (8,711)
(2,108) Member contribution (2,299)

(45,652) Remeasurement (liabilities) 3,781
12,844 Benefits/ transfers paid 12,263

(418,880) Balance carried forward 1 April (425,986)

Page 220



  
 

65 

 

As at 31 March the assets comprised: 
 

 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 

 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 
method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme liabilities have been assessed by Mercers, an independent firm of actuaries, 
estimates being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme.  The main 
assumptions used in their calculations are detailed in the table below. 
 

Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities

47,797 7,340 55,137 17 UK 52,050 5,848 57,898 17

75,882 34,622 110,504 35 Global 77,774 37,165 114,939 33

Bonds

3,862 0 3,862 1 UK Government 3,691 0 3,691 1

10,503 0 10,503 3 UK Corporate 10,294 0 10,294 3

25,222 0 25,222 8 UK Index Linked 30,371 0 30,371 9

63 1,679 1,742 1 Overseas Corporate 1,741 0 1,741 0

(40) -1,071 -1,111 0 Derivative Contracts 0  (1,183)  (1,183) 0

Property

0 14,647 14,647 5 UK Direct Property 0 18,654 18,654 5

603 5,698 6,301 1 UK Managed Property 394 5,919 6,313 1

0 7,508 7,508 2
Global Managed 
Property

0 8,610 8,610 2

   
Private Equity

0 5,598 5,598 2 UK 0 9,435 9,435 3

0 17,529 17,529 5 Global 36 21,668 21,704 6

Cash

0 0 0 0 Cash Instruments 0 0 0 0

7,701 0 7,701 2 Cash Accounts 6,182 0 6,182 2

Other

502 1,273 1,775 1 Private Equity UK 502 1,435 1,937 1

0 12,569 12,569 4 Private Equity Global 0 12,807 12,807 4

469 12,133 12,602 4 Infrastructure UK 0 15,498 15,498 4

0 9,452 9,452 3 Infrastructure Global 0 10,404 10,404 3

134 5,664 5,798 2 Opportunities UK 0 6,529 6,529 2

502 11,630 12,132 4 Opportunities Global 574 12,125 12,699 4

173,200 146,271 319,471 100 183,609 164,914 348,523 100

% of 
total

% of 
total

2020/21 2021/22

Page 221



  
 

66 

 

 
  

A sensitivity analysis has been provided by Mercers which provides an illustrative 
impact of marginal changes to the assumptions used in respect of the long-term 
discount rate, inflation and life expectancy.  The results of this sensitivity analysis are 
detailed below. 
 

 
  

Impact on the Authority’s Cashflows 
 

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at as constant and 
affordable rate as possible.  Merseyside Pension Fund has agreed a strategy with the 
scheme’s actuary which was approved by the Pensions Committee in March 2017.  
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.   

 
The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under 
the Public Pensions Act 2013.  Under the Act, the Local Government Pension Scheme 
in England and Wales and the other main existing public service schemes may not 
provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (or services after 31 March 
2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England and Wales).  
The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common framework, to 
establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other 
benefits to certain public servants.  
 
The Combined Authority and Merseytravel anticipate paying £3.928m in contributions 
to the scheme in 2022/23. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

LCRCA LCRCA Merseytravel Merseytravel

Base Assumptions

Rate of CPI inflation 3.20% 2.70% 3.40% 2.70%
Rate of increase in salaries 4.70% 4.20% 4.90% 4.20%
Rate of increase in pensions 3.30% 2.80% 3.50% 2.80%
Discount Rate 2.80% 2.20% 2.80% 2.10%

Mortality Assumptions

Life expectancy of male future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' time 22.4 22.6 22.4 22.6

Life expectancy of female future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' time 25.9 26.0 25.9 26.0

Life expectancy of male current pensioner aged 65 20.9 21.0 20.9 21.0
Life expectancy of female current pensioner aged 65 24.0 24.1 24.0 24.1

Central
+0.1% p.a. 
discount 

rate

+0.1% p.a. 
inflation

+0.1% p.a. 
pay growth

1 year 
increase in 

life 
expectancy

+1% change 
in 2021/22 
investment 

returns

-1% change in 
21/22 

investment 
returns

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Liabilities (425,986) (419,520) (432,553) (426,956) (439,009) (425,986) (425,986)
Assets 348,523 348,523 348,523 348,523 348,523 351,986 345,060
(Surplus)/ Deficit (77,463) (70,997) (84,030) (78,433) (90,486) (74,000) (80,926)

Projected service cost 
next year

11,481 11,178 11,792 11,481 11,868 11,481 11,481

Projected net interest 
cost for next year

2,114 2,002 2,304 2,147 2,485 2,017 2,211

Page 222



  
 

67 

 

10. Grant Income 

 

 

11. Grant Receipts in Advance 

The Authority Group has received a number of grants and contributions which have 
conditions attached to them.  These have not yet been recognised as income and will 
only be credited to the comprehensive income and expenditure statement once all 
conditions are met.  The balances at the year-end are as follows: 

Page 223



  
 

68 

 

 

  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(34,104) Gain Share (14,022)
(197) ERDF (251)
(180) ESF (232)

(16,471) DfT (26,666)
(796) Homelessness Grant (1,651)
(325) MHCLG Planning Delivery Grant (222)
(275) Households into Work (275)

(53,661) Low Carbon (17,412)
(11,598) Growing Places (10,974)
(30,533) Transforming Cities (54,589)
(10,482) Getting Building Fund (75)
(17,084) Additional Restrictions Grant 0
(4,594) Adult Education Funding (7,277)

(273) EU Exit Preparation Fund (273)
(10,033) Rolling Stock (6,829)

(107) Better Bus Area (107)
(1,114) Better Deal for Bus (2,012)

(252) Smart Ticketing 0
(847) Clean Bus Grant (765)

0 Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (11,113)
0 Brownfield Fund (17,942)
0 Sustainable Warmth Grant (28,503)
0 Lifetime Skills Grant (2,366)
0 Levelling Up Fund (794)

(1,513) Miscellaneous (3,550)
(194,439) Total (207,900)

Page 224



  
 

69 

 

12. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources by the Authority Group in comparison 
to those resources consumed or earned by the Authority Group in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how 
the expenditure is allocated between Services. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practice is 
presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 

 
 

An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been 
restated to reflect the new structure.

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
99,776 41,138 140,914 Place 12,524 76,832 89,355
3,360 152 3,512 Investment & Delivery 2,465 1,240 3,704
3,142 291 3,433 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 3,512 460 3,972
1,651 61 1,712 Corporate Services 1,041 57 1,098
1,459 514 1,973 Corporate Development & Delivery 1,568 198 1,765
2,938 522 3,460 Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 6,004 175 6,179

266 (23,047) (22,781) SIF Payments to Partners 13,477 26,299 39,776

112,590 19,631 132,221 Net Cost of Services 40,590 105,259 145,849
(106,540) (9,678) (116,218) Other Income and Expenditure (47,952) (99,028) (146,980)

6,050 9,953 16,003 Surplus or deficit (7,362) 6,232 (1,132)
(233,938) Opening Balance at 1 April (227,888)

6,050 Less/plus Surplus or Deficit in Year (7,362)
(227,888) Closing Reserves at 31 March (235,250)

2020/21 2021/22

P
age 225



  
 

70 

 

 

 

Note to EFA 2021/22 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the CIES 
Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes 

Net change for the 
Pensions 

Adjustments 
Other Differences Total Adjustments 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Place 72,375 4,457 0 76,832 
Investment & Delivery (56) 1,296 0 1,240 
Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 0 460 0 460 
Corporate Services 0 57 0 57 
Corporate Development & Delivery 0 198 0 198 
Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 0 175 0 175 
SIF Payments to Partners 26,299 0 0 26,299 
Net Cost of Services 98,617 6,642 0 105,259 
Other Income & Expenditure from the Funding Analysis (101,276) 2,197 51 (99,028) 
Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit 

(2,658) 8,839 51 6,232 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 226



  
 

71 

 

 
 
Note to EFA 2020/21 Restated 
 

 
 
An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been 
restated to reflect the new structure. 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the CIES
Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes

Net change for the 
Pensions 

Adjustments
Other Differences Total Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Place 38,451 2,481 206 41,138
Investment & Delivery 0 152 0 152
Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 0 73 218 291
Corporate Services 0 61 0 61
Corporate Development & Delivery 0 514 0 514
Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 0 522 0 522
SIF Payments to Partners (23,047) 0 0 (23,047)
Net Cost of Services 15,404 3,803 424 19,631
Other Income & Expenditure from the Funding Analysis (12,123) 2,214 231 (9,678)
Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and CIES 
surplus or deficit

3,281 6,017 655 9,953

P
age 227



 

72 

 

 

 

Adjustments for capital purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
service line, adjusts for the statutory charge for Minimum Revenue Provision and other 
income contributions that are not chargeable under proper accounting practice. 
 
Net Changes for Pension Adjustments 

 
Net changes for the removal of pension contributions and additions of IAS 19 
Employee Benefits pension related income and expenditure. For services this 
represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the Authority 
Group as allowed under statute and replaced with current service cost and past service 
cost. For financing and investment income this is the net interest on the defined benefit 
liability charged to the CIES. 
  
Other Differences 
 
These are the amounts debited or credited to the CIES and amounts payable/ 
receivable to be recognised under statute in respect of premiums and discounts and 
adjustments in respect of accumulating absences. 
 
Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 

 

  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £'000

Expenditure
46,998 Employee benefits expenses 52,234

517,440 Other services expenses 602,092
16,631 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 15,654
11,986 Interest payments 11,183

593,055 Total expenditure 681,163

Income

(60,400) Fees, charges and other service income (1,364)

(2,536) Interest and investment income (2,248)
(514,116) Government grants and contributions (678,683)
(577,052) Total income (682,295)

16,003
(Surplus) or deficit on the Provision of 
Services

(1,132)

Page 228



 

73 

 

 

 
13. Officers’ Remuneration 
 

Senior Officers’ Remuneration 
 

The table below details the remuneration of the directors of Merseytravel and the CA. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Salary

Employers 
Pension 

Contribution
Total 

Remuneration

2021/22 106 17 123

2020/21 203 34 237

2021/22 138 19 157

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 131 18 149

2020/21 128 17 146

2021/22 103 17 120

2020/21 112 19 132

2021/22 123 20 142

2020/21 112 19 130

2021/22 26 4 30

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 105 14 119

2020/21 103 14 117

2021/22 41 5 46

2020/21 163 22 186

2021/22 77 0 77

2020/21 102 0 102

2021/22 38 0 38

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 122 17 139

2020/21 87 14 101

Chief Executive/Director General 
Frank Rogers (i)
Resigned 30th September 2021         

Chief Executive  - Katherine Fairclough (ii) 
Appointed 28th June 2021

Executive Director of Corporate Services

Executive Director Of Corporate 
Development and Delivery

Interim Director of Integrated Transport (iii)                             
Resigned 31st March 2022

Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and 
Government Relations 

Executive Director Place (iv)                                      
Appointed 1st February 2022.

Monitoring Officer

Director of Commercial Development and 
Investment (v)   
Resigned 25th June 2021

Interim Director of Strategic Commissioning 
and Delivery (vi)                                                                                             
Realigned 29th November 2021 

Executive Director of Investment and 
Delivery (vii)                                              
Appointed 29th November 2021

Page 229



 

74 

 

 

Following an internal realignment during 2021/22 the following changes to Executive 
Directors of Merseytravel and LCRCA have been made:   

 
i. Chief Executive and Director General Frank Rogers resigned 30th September 

2021. 
ii. Katherine Fairclough was appointed Chief Executive on 28th June 2021, the 

responsibility for Director General was removed from the remit of Chief 
Executive. 

iii. Interim Director of Integrated Transport resigned 31st March 2022. 
iv. New  role  of Executive Director Place was created combining responsibilities 

for Place, Director General and Deputy Chief Executive,  was appointed 1st 
February 2022.  

v. Director of Commercial Development and Investment resigned 25th June 
2021 (see vii). 

vi. Director of Strategic Commissioning and Delivery post was removed 29th 
November 2021 (see vii). 

vii. Executive Director of Strategic Investment and Delivery post is a new role and 
brings together above two roles. This post was appointed 29th November 
2021. 

 
Employee Remuneration 

 
The number of employees (excluding directors) in receipt of remuneration for the year 
of £50,000 or more is detailed overleaf.  For the purpose of this note remuneration 
includes allowances, bonuses and severance pay but excludes employer’ pension 
contributions. 
 

 
2020/21 figures have been restated to adjust for banding width as per CIPFA 
Guidance. 

Remuneration Range
Restated 
2020/21 2021/22

£50,000 to £54,999 30 43
£55,000 to £59,999 21 19
£60,000 to £64,999 13 23
£65,000 to £69,999 5 7
£70,000 to £74,999 7 7
£75,000 to £79,999 1 4
£80,000 to £84,999 1 1
£85,000 to £89,999 7 1
£90,000 to £94,999 1 4
£95,000 to £99,999 2 2
£100,000 to £104,999 1 3
£105,000 to £109,999 0 1
£110,000 to £114,999 1 0
£115,000 to £119,999 0 0
£120,000 to £124,999 0 0
£125,000 to £129,999 0 0
£130,000 to £134,999 0 0
£135,000 to £139,999 1 1
£140,000 to £144,999 0 1
Total 91 117

Page 230



 

75 

 

 

 
Exit Packages 
 

 
 
14. Audit Fees 
 

The table overleaf discloses the fees paid to the Group’s external auditor, Mazars in 
respect of its external audit and inspection work for the LCRCA and Merseytravel.  
year.  The Merseytravel subsidiary companies’ external auditor is Langtons. 
 

  
 
15.  Related Party Transactions 
 

The Authority Group is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, 
bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence or to be controlled 
or influenced by the Authority Group. 

 
Central Government 

 
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the 
Authority Group as it is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which 
the Authority Group operates. A significant body of the funding received by the 
Authority Group comes from Central Government, which provide the majority of the 
Authority Group’s capital expenditure funding and Growth Deal funding provided as 
part of the Authority Group’s devolution deal.  In addition, the Authority Group receives 
the Special Rail Grant which is received by Merseytravel to support the operation of 
the local Merseyrail franchise.  Details on the funding received from the various 
government departments is detailed in note 6 of the single entity financial statements. 

  
 
 
 
 

£0 - £20,000 0 0 1 4 1 4 7 24
£20,001 - £40,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£40,001 - £60,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£60,001 - £80,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£80,001 - £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£100,001 -£150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
£150,001 - £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 1 0 1 4 1 4 7 24

21/22 
£'000

No. of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies

No. of other 
Departures agreed

Total No. of Exit 
Packages by Cost 

Band

Total Cost of Exit 
Packages in each 

Band

20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22
20/21 
£'000

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

55 External Audit fees in respect of LCRCA 51
38 External Audit fees in respect of Merseytravel 44
21 External Audit fees in respect of subsidiary companies 22

114 Total 117

Page 231



 

76 

 

 

Merseyside Local Authorities 
 

The Leaders/Mayor of the Merseyside local authorities and Halton all serve as 
Members to the LCRCA which has direct control over the Authority Group’s financial 
and operating policies.  Within their capacity as members of the Authority, in 
consultation with their respective local authorities, Members approve the level of the 
Transport Levy raised annually to support the transport functions of the Authority.   

 
The Authority Group operates a number of boards and committees below the Authority 
Group level, most notably the Transport, Overview and Scrutiny and Audit and 
Governance Committees.  These are comprised of Elected Members from the 
constituent local authorities as nominated by their Leaders.  During the year no works 
and services were commissioned from companies in which Members had an interest. 

 
Details of income, expenditure and balance sheet balances are detailed below:  
 

 
 

 
Entities controlled or significantly influenced by the Authority Group 
 
Liverpool Growth Platform 

The LCRCA nominate a majority of guarantors and the private/education/third sector 
provide a minority of guarantors through election at the LEP Board.  The LCRCA does 
exercise control over the Growth Platform however the results have not been 
consolidated on the grounds of materiality.  The net assets as at 31st March 2022 are 
£488k (£394k in 2020/21 and net surplus for the 2021/22 financial year is £488k (£11k 
deficit in 2020/21).  2020/21 figures have been updated to reflect the Liverpool Growth 
Platform audited accounts. 
 
LCRCA granted Liverpool Growth Platform a loan of £500k by agreement on 28 
October 2020.  This was a working capital float to maintain appropriate levels of 
liquidity as a result of delayed grant payments from other sources.  As the results of 
Liverpool Growth Platform are not consolidated this loan is recognised as a long term 
debtor in the single entity and the group financial statements. 
 

 
 

2020/21 2021/22
Total Total Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton St Helens Wirral

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
(105,932)  Income (109,565) (4,035) (11,087) (36,669) (20,519) (13,331) (23,924)

164,508  Expenditure 118,786 12,182 18,074 42,981 18,161 11,891 15,497

17  Debtors 46 46 0 0 0 0 0
(47,377)  Creditors (51,219) (4,070) (8,419) (29,629) (5,625) (2,080) (1,396)

1,095  Investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
(11,442)   Borrowings (9,153) 0 0 0 0 0 (9,153)

Liverpool City Region 
Authorities

2020/21 2021/22
Total Total
£000's £000's

(426) Income (131)
2,923 Expenditure 1,512

500 Investments 500

Liverpool Growth Platform

Page 232



 

77 

 

 

 

LCR Digital 

LCR Digital is a £30m joint venture, 50%-owned by the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority, in partnership with Northwest-based ITS Technology Group, who 
will lead the project, working alongside construction partner NGE, who are managing 
the build and roll out of the network. 
 
LCR Digital will help make the Liverpool City Region the most digitally connected area 
in the UK and ultimately lead to a £1 billion boost to the local economy. Work has now 
begun on a 212km full-fibre, gigabit-capable network infrastructure, capable of 
delivering speeds of 1,000mbps and beyond, that will help position the City Region at 
the head of the next digital revolution. 
 
The net assets held as at  31st March 2022 are £6.361m with net losses of £1.635m. 
The  2021/22 figures have been consolidated into the LCRCA group accounts. 
LCRCA granted LCR Digital a loan of £5.267m during 2021/22 and made investment 
of £4.008m. 
 

 

All entities within the group boundary are disclosed in Note 28. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020/21                             
£000's

LCR Digital
2021/22                                  
£000's

0 Income (78)
0 Losses on Investment 827
0 Investments 3,102
0 Debtor - Loan 5,267
0 Debtor - Loan Interest 156

Page 233



 

78 

 

 

16. Property Plant and Equipment 
 

Movement on Balances 2021/22 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 

   
  

Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
As at 1 April 2021 365,987 21,701 70,196 5,142 22,103 1,264 210,386 0 696,779
Additions 1,807 6,643 377 0 2,277 43 69,051 0 80,198
Reclassification 0 0 0 0 (58) 0 (155) 0 (213)
Derecognition disposals 0 0 0 0 67,594 0 (67,594) 0 0
As at 31 March 2022 367,794 28,344 70,573 5,142 91,917 1,308 211,688 0 776,766

As at 1 April 2021 95,590 617 2,500 1,182 7,713 2 0 0 107,603
Depreciation 10,422 750 1,946 197 1,901 1 0 0 15,218
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (23) 0 0 0 (23)
As at 31 March 2022 106,012 1,367 4,446 1,379 9,591 3 0 0 122,798

As at 31 March 2022 261,782 26,977 66,127 3,763 82,326 1,305 211,688 0 653,968
As at 31 March 2021 270,397 21,084 67,696 3,960 14,390 1,262 210,386 0 589,176

Depreciation and Impairment

Total

Net Book Value

Infra’ure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

Leasehold 
Property 

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery

Assets 
Under 

Const’n

Held for 
Sale

Fixtures & 
Fittings 

Leasehold 
Property

Surplus 
Assets

P
age 234



 

79 

 

 

 
 
Movement on Balances 2020/21  
 

 
  
 
 
 
 

Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
As at 1 April 2020 362,771 18,361 69,498 5,142 18,121 1,192 181,462 0 656,547
Additions 3,216 3,340 698 0 1,972 72 31,291 0 40,589
Reclassification 0 0 0 0 2,278 0 (2,367) 0 (89)
Derecognition disposals 0 0 0 0 (268) 0 0 0 (268)
As at 31 March 2021 365,987 21,701 70,196 5,142 22,103 1,264 210,386 0 696,779

As at 1 April 2020 83,450 0 595 985 6,565 1 0 0 91,595
Depreciation 12,140 617 1,905 197 1,416 1 0 0 16,276
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (268) 0 0 0 (268)
As at 31 March 2021 95,590 617 2,500 1,182 7,713 2 0 0 107,603

As at 31 March 2021 270,397 21,084 67,696 3,960 14,390 1,262 210,386 0 589,176
As at 31 March 2020 279,321 18,361 68,902 4,157 11,556 1,192 181,462 0 564,952

Surplus 
Assets

Assets 
Under 

Const’n

Held for 
Sale

Total

Depreciation and Impairment

Net Book Value

Infra’ure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

Leasehold 
Property 

(Restated) 

Vehicles, 
Plant and 

Machinery

Fixtures & 
Fittings 

Leasehold 
Property

P
age 235



 

80 

 

 

 
Depreciation 

 
The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 
depreciation: 

 
 Infrastructure assets useful lives are determined on acquisition and considered 

thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current maximum 
useful life is 72 years. 

 Freehold and Leasehold property useful lives are based on estimated 
remaining life    as provided by the valuer as part of the valuation process.  The 
maximum useful life in this category is 51 years. 

 Vehicles, plant and machinery useful lives are determined on acquisition and 
considered thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current 
maximum useful life is 20 years. 

 Vessels useful lives are based on estimated remaining life provided by the 
valuer as part of the valuation process.  The maximum useful life in this 
category is 8 years. 

 
Revaluations 

 
The Authority has a valuation process which ensures that all property plant and 
equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five 
years.  All valuations are carried out externally.  Valuations of land and buildings are 
carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in 
the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.   

 
The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values of property, plant 
and equipment are: 

 
 That no deleterious material was used in the construction of any property and 

that none has been subsequently incorporated. 
 That the properties are not subject to any unusual or especially onerous 

restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and that good titles can be shown. 
 That the properties and their values are unaffected by any matters which would 

be revealed by a local search or inspection of any register and that the use and 
occupation are both legal. 

 That inspection of those parts which have not been inspected would not cause 
alteration to the opinion of value. 

 No environmental assessment of the property (including its site) and 
neighbouring properties has been provided to or by the valuer and the valuer 
is not instructed to arrange consultants to investigate any matters with regard 
to flooding, contamination or the presence of radon gas or other hazardous 
substances.   

 
Infrastructure assets (gross book value £365.987m), short life plant machinery and 
vehicles (gross book value £27.245m) and assets under construction (gross book 
value £210.386m) are carried at historical cost.  The remaining categories of property, 
plant and equipment (gross book value £93.161m) are carried at current value with the 
last full valuation being undertaken at 31 March 2019.   
 
A full valuation exercise was undertaken at 31 March 2019.  In the 2019/20 financial 
year a desktop valuation was undertaken on 70% by value of the property portfolio.  

Page 236



 

81 

 

 

The percentage increase arising from this valuation exercise was applied across the 
remainder of the portfolio as an estimate of the movement in property values in the 
financial year. In the 2021/22 financial year an estimate of the movement in values was 
calculated making use of indices which were provided by the external valuers.  These 
estimates did not indicate a material movement and therefore the properties have not 
been revalued in the 2021/22 financial year.  
 

 Capital Commitments 
 
As at 31 March 2022, the Authority has entered into a number of contracts for the 
construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2022/2023 and future 
years budgeted to cost £240.457m.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2021 were 
£254.214m. 
 

 The major commitments are: 
 

 Rolling Stock - £76.606m 
 Headbolt Lane Gateway - £53.058m 
 Parkside Road - £23.800m 
 Festival Gardens - £16.630m 
 St Helens Southern Gateway - £8.738m 
 Glass Futures - £6.273m  

 
17. Intangible Assets 
 

 
 

Goodwill of £1.695m relates to the acquisition by Mersey Ferries Limited of The 
Beatles Story.  For impairment testing purposes, this goodwill has been allocated to 
the wholly owned subsidiary, which forms part of the Mersey Ferries Group.  This 
represents the lowest level within the LCRCA at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes. 

 
 
 

 

Goodwill on 
Consolidation

Licences Total
Goodwill on 

Consolidation
Licences Total

£’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost or valuation:

Opening balance:

2,803 2,308 5,111 Gross carrying amount 2,803 3,384 6,187

(1,108) (1,047) (2,155) Accumulated amortisation (1,108) (1,303) (2,411)

1,695 1,261 2,956 Opening net carrying amount 1,695 2,081 3,776

0 987 987 Additions 0 709 709

0 (256) (256) Amortisation 0 (337) (337)

0 89 89 Reclassification 0 0 0

0 0 0 Disposal 0 0 0

1,695 2,081 3,776 Net carrying amount at end of year 1,695 2,453 4,148

Comprising:

2,803 3,384 6,187 Gross carrying amount 2,803 4,093 6,896

(1,108) (1,303) (2,411) Accumulated amortisation (1,108) (1,640) (2,748)

1,695 2,081 3,776 1,695 2,453 4,148

2020/21 2021/22

Page 237



 

82 

 

 

 
Merseytravel has performed its annual impairment test as at 31 March 2022.  The 
recoverable amount of The Beatles Story is determined on a value in use basis using  
cash flow projections based on historical financial outturns and consideration of the 
likely impact of COVID-19. 

 
Some sensitivity analysis was then applied to these assumptions resulting in little 
change to the original values. The resultant calculation showed the value of implied 
goodwill was consistent with that shown in the group balance sheet and no impairment 
was required for 2021/22. 
 

18. Heritage Assets 
 

  
 

The Group holds a number of heritage assets which are primarily statues and artworks 
as detailed in the above table. 

The assets are not depreciated as depreciation charges are not required on heritage 
assets which have indefinite lives.  An impairment review is undertaken when the asset 
has suffered physical deterioration or breakage, or where new doubts arise as to its 
authenticity. 
 

19. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 
overleaf together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used 
by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Finance 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Council that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this 
note. 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

Statues of King George and Queen Mary 300 300
Day and Night sculpture 50 50
Obelisk at Kings Square 100 100
Art on the Network 194 194
Albert Dock monument 385 385
Bessie and Ken statues 69 69
Other heritage assets 63 63
Balance as at 31 March 1,161 1,161

Page 238



 

83 

 

 

 
 
20. Long Term Debtors  
 

 
 
21. Short Term Debtors 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22 2020/21
£’000 £’000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 453,934 425,157

Capital investment
PPE 80,198 40,590
Intangible assets 709 987
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital 
Under Statute

160,504 185,459

Investments 4,008 0
Loan Expenditure 7,267 4,024

Sources of Finance
Government grants and other contributions
Direct Revenue Contributions (4,819) (5,788)
Sums aside from revenue reserves (4,173) (4,942)
Use of capital receipts (246) 0
Minimum Revenue Provision (2,283) (7,568)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 526,202 453,934

Explanation of movements in year:
Increase/(Decrease) in underlying need to 
borrow

72,268 28,777

Increase/(Decrease) in Capital Financing 
Requirement

72,268 28,777

(168,897) (183,985)

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

               36,385 Loans                43,648 
1,845 Other Debtors                  1,625 

34,972 Chrysalis                34,972 
73,202 Balance as at 31 March 80,245

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

1,712 Trade Receivables 1,775
3,195 Prepayments 3,438

16,400 Other Receivable Amounts 25,066
21,307 Balance as at 31 March 30,279

Page 239



 

84 

 

 

22.  Short Term Creditors 
  

  
  
23.  Leases 
  

Authority as Lessee 
  

 
 
The expenditure charged in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement 
during the year in relation to these leases was: 

 

 
 
 Authority as Lessor 
  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(5,793) Trade Payables (2,901)
(1,197) Collection Fund (1,840)

(95,622) Accruals (120,313)
(1,419) Other Payables (1,894)

(104,031) Balance as at 31 March (126,946)

2020/21 2021/22

£’000 £’000
13,263 Not later than one year 11,540
20,961 Between one and five years 14,629
57,051 Over five years 53,376
91,275 Balance as at 31 March 79,545

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

13,490 Minimum lease payments 13,482
(10,646) Sublease payments receivable (11,020)

2,844 Total 2,462

2020/21 2021/22

£’000 £’000
(10,962) Not later than one year (9,246)
(10,924) Between one and five years (4,070)
(2,294) Over five years (1,649)

(24,180) Balance as at 31 March (14,965)

Page 240



 

85 

 

 

24. Provisions 
 

 
 

  

 
   

i) Insurance Related Provision – this provision represents the value of the 
remaining liability for all self-insured claims occurring in 2021/22 and all prior 
policy years. 
 

ii) Grant related Provision - £10.270m this provision represents the grant which is 
awaiting payment once the final grant condition is met. This grant is expected 
to be paid during 2021/22 

 
iii) Contractual Provision – this provision is retained during the contractual defects 

period. 
 
iv) Capital Expenditure – this is a provision which is retained in relation to the 

possible clawback of ERDF grants. 
           
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As at 31 March 
2021

Expenditure 
charged to 
provision in 

year

(Increase) / 
decrease in 
provision

As at 31 
March 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Insurance Related Provision  (546) 25 70  (451)

Grant Related Provision 0 0  (10,270)  (10,270)
Contractual Provisions  (1,128) 0 0  (1,128)
Government initiatives  (200) 0 0  (200)
Capital Expenditure  (1,046) 0 0  (1,046)
Corporation Tax Provision 145   (74) 71

Total  (2,775) 25  (10,274)  (13,024)

 

As at 31 March 
2021

As at 31 March 
2022

£’000 £’000

Short Term Provisions  (763)  (11,012)

Long Term Provisions  (2,012)  (2,012)
Total (2,775) (13,024)

Page 241



 

86 

 

 

  
25. Financial Instruments 
 

Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

 
 

Income and Expenses through the CIES 
 

 
 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Non Current Current Non Current

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial Assets at Amortised 
Cost:

          235,228 0 Investments            220,420               3,102 
18,112             73,202 Debtors 26,841 80,245
98,393 0 Cash & Cash Equivalents 68,774 0

351,733 73,202 Total Financial Assets 316,035 83,347

Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost:

(16,965) (323,612) Borrowing (15,791) (307,821)
(104,031) (6,000) Creditors (126,948) (5,700)

(120,996) (329,612) Total Financial Liabilities (142,739) (313,521)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
11,986 0 Interest Expense 11,318 0

0 (2,536) Interest Income 0 (2,384)

11,986 (2,536)
Net (Income)/Expense for the 
Year

11,318 (2,384)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

72,216 54,592
26,177 14,182
98,393 68,774

Short Term Deposits with Banks and Building Societies
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Bank Current Account

Page 242



 

87 

 

 

Analysis of Loans Outstanding 
 

 
 
Loans Maturing 
 

 
 
 
Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 

 
The Authority’s financial liabilities and financial assets are represented by loans, 
investments and long-term debtors which are carried on the Balance Sheet at 
amortised cost.  Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present value of 
the cash flows that take place over the remaining life of the instrument (Level 2 inputs) 
using the following assumptions: 
 
 For loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), premature repayment 

rates from the PWLB have been applied to provide the fair value under the 
PWLB debt redemption procedures;    

 For non-PWLB loans fair value estimates have been provided using both PWLB 
redemption and new PWLB certainty rate loan discount rates. 

 For loans receivable, prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to 
provide the fair value; 

 No early repayment or impairment has been recognised; and 
 For highly liquid or cash deposits which can be settled on demand and for trade 

receivable or payable, fair value is taken to be the carrying amount or billed 
amount. 

 
The fair values of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the Balance Sheet 
date are detailed below: 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
 (148,480)  (140,033)
 (180,656)  (174,426)
 (11,441)  (9,153)

 (340,577)  (323,612)

PWLB Debt
EIB Debt
Wirral MBC (transferred debt)
Total Loans Outstanding

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

16,965 Maturing within 12 months (15,791)
15,739 Maturing within 1 -  2 years (15,423)
45,991 Maturing within 2 to 5 years (44,021)
52,085 Maturing within 5-10 years (47,904)

209,797 Maturing in more than 10 years (200,473)
340,577 Total Loans Outstanding (323,612)

Page 243



 

88 

 

 

 
 
IFRS 9 Review 
 
An impairment review has been completed for all loans and debtors in accordance with 
IFRS9 , these have been included with in the balance sheet figures.  LCRCA have 
made 3 new loans within the financial period  for total of £7.77m for which no 
impairment has been made. There is £947k estimated credit loss held within the 
balance sheet. 
 
Loans 
 

 
 
 
Debtors 
 

 
 
 

 Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments 
 
 The LCRCA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  The key risks are: - 




Carrying 
Value

Fair 
Value

Carrying 
Value

Fair 
Value

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Financial Assets

0 0  Investment in Joint Venture        3,102        3,102 
235,228 235,260 Short term investments 220,420 219,810
98,393 98,393 Cash and cash equivalents 68,774 68,773

Financial Liabilities
 (148,480)  (221,068) PWLB Debt  (140,033) (194,283)
 (11,441)  (10,917) Wirral MBC  (9,153) (10,274)

 (180,656)  (160,944) EIB Debt  (174,426) (137,179)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22

£ 000's £ 000's
Opening Balance 39,927                                     76,032                                     
Loan made in year 36,750                                     7,767                                       
Loans Repaid in Year (645)  (1,808)
Closing Loan Value 76,032                                     81,991                                     

Expected Credit Loss  (70)  (570)

2020/21 2021/22

£000's £000's
Debtors 2,252                                       2,723                                       
Expected Credit Loss (470) (377)

Page 244



 

89 

 

 

 Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to 
the LCRCA;

 Liquidity risk - the possibility that the LCRCA might not have funds available to 
meet its commitments to make payments; and 

 Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the LCRCA as a 
result of changes in such measures as interest rates. 

 
 The LCRCA’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources 
available to fund services.  Risk management is carried out by the Resources 
Directorate, under policies approved by the LCRCA in its Treasury Management 
Strategy.   
 
Credit risk 

 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to the Authority’s customers.  The risk is minimised through the Treasury 
Management Strategy, which pays regard to the recognition and measurement of 
expected credit losses.  The Authority will recognise a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses, if applicable, on assets where cash flows are solely principal and interest 
(i.e. financial instruments measured at amortised cost or FVOCI). This does not apply 
where the counterparty is central government or another Local Authority.  
 
A credit loss review has been undertaken as above. 

 
Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they are rated 
independently with a minimum score of P1 and A3 (Moody’s) and/or F1 and A (Fitch’s), 
with weightings of the total amounted deposited in the highest rated categories.  The 
Authority has a policy of spreading its surplus balances over several institutions. 
 
Liquidity risk 

 
As the Authority has ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loans Board, 
there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments.  
There is a future risk that the Authority will be bound to replenish a proportion of its 
borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates, however this risk is several 
decades in the future and will be significantly covered by Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) balances.  Details of the maturity of debt are given earlier in this note. 

  
 

Market Risk 
 

Interest rate risk: The Authority is exposed to marginal risk in terms of its exposure to 
interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments.  Borrowings are not 
carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not 
impact on the CIES or MIRS.  However, changes in interest payable and receivable 
on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the CIES or MIRS.  
Movements in the fair value of fixed rate investments will be reflected in the MIRS. 

 
Price Risk: The Authority does not generally invest in equity shares, but the Group 
Accounts do reflect shareholdings in a number of subsidiaries. 

 
 

Page 245



 

90 

 

 

 
As the shareholdings have arisen in the acquisition of specific interests, the Group is 
not in a position to limit its exposure to price movements by diversifying its portfolio. 

 
Foreign exchange risk:  The Authority has no financial assets or liabilities, denominated 
in foreign currencies and thus has no exposure to loss arising from movements in 
exchange rates. 

 
In all cases, the carrying value of financial instruments is a reasonable approximation 
to fair value. 

 
 Hedging Instruments 
 

The Authority holds no financial instruments that could be classified as hedging 
instruments. 

 
 
26. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
 

The Department for Transport provides an annual Special Rail Grant to Merseytravel 
in support of the Merseyrail Electrics Network. This funding is subsequently paid by 
Merseytravel to the operator of the network, Merseyrail Electrics 2002 Limited (MEL). 
  
The funding paid and to be paid in support of the Merseyrail Electrics Network is under 
review following internal assurance processes undertaken by the Department for 
Transport which has highlighted a computational error which has led to MEL invoking 
contractual mechanisms to seek resolution to a number of issues concerning funding.   
 
Merseyrail Electrics Limited (MEL) has issued arbitration proceedings against 
Merseytravel.  Merseytravel denies the claims made and has consequently issued 
counter claims against MEL.  Legal proceedings are being progressed and an 
anticipated hearing date established for 2023.  Due to the ongoing nature of this matter 
and the uncertainty of outcome, further disclosure or quantification could be prejudicial. 

 
 
27. Note to the Cashflow Statement 
 

Cash Flow Statement Operating Activities 
 

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 

 
 

 
The surplus or deficit on provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
non-cash movements: 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(1,487) Interest Received (2,462)
12,290 Interest Paid 11,318

Page 246



 

91 

 

 

 
 

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
items that are investing and financing activities: 
 

 
 

Cash Flow Statement Investing Activities 
 

 
  

Cash Flow Statement Financing Activities 
 

 
 
 

28. CA Group Companies 
 
 Merseytravel 
 

The decisions of the Authority with respect to transport services across Merseyside 
are implemented by Merseytravel. The relationship between the Authority and the 
services provided by Merseytravel on behalf of the Authority are detailed in the 
narrative statement. Merseytravel’s activities are funded through capital and revenue 
grants from the Authority.  Details of material expenditure is detailed below: 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

16,532 Depreciation, amortisation and revaluation losses 15,555

148,516
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, provisions and pension 
liability

54,691

15,025 (Increase)/decrease in debtors (10,023)
111 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 96

0
Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus on the 
provision of services

190

180,184 Total 60,509

£’000 £’000

(12,122) Grants received for the financing of capital expenditure (44,253)

(12,122) Total (44,253)

2020/21 2021/22

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(46,543)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

(79,051)

(18,525) Purchases and proceeds of short term investments 14,808
(26,292) Other (purchases)/receipts from investing activities 34,201
(91,360) Total (30,042)

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
(16,910) Repayment of short and long term borrowing (16,965)
(16,910) Total (16,965)

Page 247



 

92 

 

 

 
 
 
Chrysalis 
 
In May 2017, the novation of the JESSICA Holding Funds from the HCA to the LCR 
CA and GMCA was completed.  The Urban Development Fund (UDF) covering the 
Liverpool City Region which has been novated to LCRCA is Chrysalis.  The £36m 
Chrysalis Fund finances property, regeneration and sustainability projects throughout 
the Liverpool City Region.  The novated sums have been reflected in the LCRCA’s 
single entity account through the CIES as grants and non specific grant income and 
reflected on the Balance Sheet as an earmarked reserve and a long term debtor with 
the UDF Chrysalis. 
 
On novation the CA became the limited partner with 100% shareholding in LCR 
Chrysalis Holdings (GP) Limited, the General Partner.  The principal activity of the 
company is to act as the General Partner for the limited partnership, LCR Chrysalis 
Holding Limited Partnership, whose principal activity is to oversee funds already 
committed into development finance projects across Merseyside to meet regeneration 
objectives.  On novation the funds became part of the CA’s Single Investment 
Framework to ensure the alignment of investments with the City Region’s growth plan.  
For the purposes of consolidation whilst LCRCA controls LCR Chrysalis Holdings (GP) 
Limited, the financial activity of this organisation is not deemed material and therefore 
not consolidated into the group accounts.  The partnership agreement in respect of 
LCR Chrysalis Holding Limited Partnership is such that the LCRCA does not exercise 
control over the partnership and therefore does not form part of the group. 
 

  
Liverpool City Region Urban Development Fund (LCR UDF) 

 
The LCR UDF is a £25m fund managed under the Strategic Investment Fund 
framework incorporated on 19th February 2019.  The Fund is backed by the 2014-2020 
ERDF England Operational Programme and is a new funding route to foster smart, 
sustainable and inclusive growth for the Liverpool City Region. 

 
The LCRCA has established a special purpose vehicle to deliver the LCR UDF, a 
separate legal entity fully owned by the LCRCA.  The special purpose vehicle is a 
limited partnership, LCR UDF Limited Partnership.  The two partners in the limited 
partnership are: 
 

 a private limited company incorporated by the LCRCA acting as the general 
partner LCR UDF (GP) Limited and; 

 the LCRCA, which is the limited partner in the partnership 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

94,034 Merseytravel Grant 91,646

14,099 Tunnels Operational Grant 15,233

1,189 Rolling Stock 204

73,252 Capital Grants REFCUS 111,063

2,091 General Expenditure 1,603

Expenditure

Page 248



 

93 

 

 

The activities and performance of the LCRCA limited partnership is overseen by the 
board of its General Partner.  The board is comprised of 3 directors, the LCRCA’s Chief  
 
Executive, Section 73 Officer and Director of Commercial Development and 
Investment. 
 
The GP Board is the ultimate decision maker having powers to approve investments 
and other matters in accordance with the Investment Strategy and considering the 
advice from relevant advisors. 

 
The funding agreement between the Secretary of State for Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government and LCR UDF Limited Partnership is such that 
the LCRCA does not have exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement 
with LCR UDF.  As a consequence, the LCRCA does not exercise control over the 
partnership and therefore the LCR UDF does not form part of the group. 
 
Mersey Tidal One Limited 
 
The company has never traded and has been dormant since its formation. 
 

  
The Growth Platform 

 
The Growth Platform was established on 9th May 2019 to help create jobs, build 
business, attract investment and to help young people in the Liverpool City Region.  
The LCRCA has majority ownership in the Holding company which is a company 
limited by guarantee.  The LCRCA nominate a majority of guarantors and the 
private/education/third sector provide a minority of guarantors through election at the 
LEP Board.  The LCRCA does exercise control over the Growth Platform however the 
results have not been consolidated on the grounds of materiality.  The net assets as 
at 31st March 2022 are £488k (£394k in 2020/21 as per audited accounts) and net 
surplus for the 2021/22 financial year is £93k (£13k deficit in 2020/21 as per audited 
accounts). 

 
Liverpool City Region Digital Limited 
 
Liverpool City Region Digital Limited was incorporated on 30th November 2020 and is 
a joint venture investment for the CA.  The CA holds 50% of the shareholdings and 
NGE Concessions SAS and ITS Technology Group Limited hold 25% each.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 249



 

94 

 

 

Merseytravel Group Companies 
 

 
 

Certain directors of Merseytravel are also directors of the above companies.  Whilst 
these individuals are paid a salary by Merseytravel, no additional remuneration is 
received in respect of these directorships. 

  
Under the relevant accounting standards all of the above fall to be classed as 
subsidiary undertakings and as such the financial performance of each should be 
consolidated into the group financial statements on an equity basis however as the 
financial performance of RTIG and Accrington Technologies is not considered material 
the financial performance has not been consolidated into the accounts. A summary of 
financial performance is detailed below: 
 
Accrington Technologies – during the last two financial years the company has not 
traded and has received no income and incurred no expenditure. As at 31 March 2022 
the company had net assets of £5k and reserves of £5k. 

 
Real Time Information Group (RTIG) - the disclosed profit after taxation for 2021/22 
was £10k (£12k in 2020/21). As at 31 March 2022 the company had net assets of £23k. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Name Parent Holding
Nature of 
Business

% Equity 
Interest

Mersey Ferries Ltd Merseytravel
Company 
limited by 
guarantee

Passenger 
transport

N/A

25 £1 ordinary 
shares

375  £1 5% 
non-

cumulative 
preference 

shares
Real Time 

Information Group 
Ltd

Merseytravel
1x £1 ordinary 

shares

Real Time 
Information 

systems
100%

Accrington 
Technologies Ltd

Merseytravel
500 £1 
ordinary 
shares

Smartcards 50.10%

The Beatles Story 
Ltd

Mersey 
Ferries Ltd

290,000 £1 
ordinary 
shares

Tourism 100%

Merseyside 
Passenger 

Transport Services 
Ltd

Merseytravel Leasing 100%

Page 250



 
 
 

95 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LCRCA SINGLE ENTITY ACCOUNTS 

 

 

Page 251



 
 
 

96 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 

 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the Authority analysed into 
‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’.  The Statement shows how the 
movements in year of the Authority’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices 
and the statutory adjustments required to return the amounts chargeable to the General Fund for the year.  The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory 
General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 

 
*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 

General 
Fund 

Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total 
Usable 

Reserves
Revaluation 

Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2021 2,734 166,139 168,873 333 (172,790) (7,345) (218) (241) (180,261) (11,388)

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) (65,535) 0 (65,535) 0 0 1,838 0 0 1,838 (63,697)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*
Pensions costs 2,455 0 2,455 0 0 (2,455) 0 0 (2,455) 0
Holiday pay 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 10,380 0 10,380 0 (10,380) 0 0 0 (10,380) 0
Net gain or loss on sale of non-current assets (56) 246 190 0 (190) 0 0 0 (190) 0
Difference in precept income 51 0 51 0 0 0 0 (51) (51) 0
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 227,705 0 227,705 0 (227,705) 0 0 0 (227,705) 0
Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (158,479) 0 (158,479) 0 158,479 0 0 0 158,479 0
Total adjustments to revenue resources 82,056 246 82,302 0 (79,796) (2,455) 0 (51) (82,302) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:
Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (2,283) 0 (2,283) 0 2,283 0 0 0 2,283 0
Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (4,819) 0 (4,819) 0 4,819 0 0 0 4,819 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (7,102) 0 (7,102) 0 7,102 0 0 0 7,102 0

Adjustments to capital resources
Capital Receipts 0 1,588 1,588 0 (1,588) 0 0 0 (1,588) 0
Use of capital receipts to finance capital expenditure 0 (246) (246) 0 246 0 0 0 246 0
Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (6) 6 0 0 0 0 0
Total adjustments to capital resources 0 1,342 1,342 (6) (1,336) 0 0 0 (1,342) 0

Transfer between reserves (5,039) 870 (4,169) 0 4,169 0 0 0 4,169 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2021/22 4,380 2,458 6,838 (6) (69,861) (617) 0 (51) (70,535) (63,697)

Balance as at 31st March 2022 7,114 168,597 175,712 327 (242,651) (7,962) (218) (292) (250,796) (75,084)

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

P
age 252



 
 
 

97 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

2020/21 Restated  

 

*Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 
 

General 
Fund 

Balance

Other 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Total 
Usable 

Reserves
Revaluation 

Reserve

Capital 
Adjustment 

Account
Pension 
Reserve

Accum. 
Absences 
Account

Collection 
Fund 

Adjustment 
Account

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

As at 1st April 2020 2,734 172,673 175,407 339 (141,522) (4,628) 0 (10) (145,821) 29,586

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) (40,962) 0 (40,962) 0 0 (1,262) 0 0 (1,262) (42,224)

Adjustments to the revenue resources*
Pensions costs 1,455 0 1,455 0 0 (1,455) 0 0 (1,455) 0
Holiday pay 218 0 218 0 0 0 (218) 0 (218) 0
Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 10,059 0 10,059 0 (10,059) 0 0 0 (10,059) 0
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 211,070 0 211,070 0 (211,070) 0 0 0 (211,070) 0
Difference in precept income 231 0 231 0 0 0 0 (231) (231) 0
Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES (174,097) 0 (174,097) 0 174,097 0 0 0 174,097 0
Total adjustments to revenue resources 48,936 0 48,936 0 (47,032) (1,455) (218) (231) (48,936) 0

Adjustments between revenue and capital resources:
Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (7,568) 0 (7,568) 0 7,568 0 0 0 7,568 0
Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (5,788) 0 (5,788) 0 5,788 0 0 0 5,788 0

Total adjustments between revenue and capital resources (13,356) 0 (13,356) 0 13,356 0 0 0 13,356 0

Adjustments to capital resources
Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 0 0 0 (6) 6 0 0 0 0 0
Total adjustments to capital resources 0 0 0 (6) 6 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer between reserves 5,382 (6,534) (1,152) 0 1,152 0 0 0 1,152 0

Net Increase/(Decrease) in 2020/21 0 (6,534) (6,534) (6) (32,518) (2,717) (218) (231) (35,690) (42,224)

Balance as at 31st March 2021 2,734 166,139 168,873 333 (174,040) (7,345) (218) (241) (181,511) (12,638)

Usable Reserves £'000 Unusable Reserves £'000

Total 
Reserves 

£'000

P
age 253



 
 
 

98 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 

 
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount 
to be funded from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with Regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost.  The 
taxation position is shown in the MiRS.   
 

 
An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been restated to reflect the 
new structure.  

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross Income Net Spend
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross Income Net Spend

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

180,389  (26,591) 153,798 Place 190,934  (65,742) 125,192

63,145  (59,633) 3,512 Investment & Delivery 67,801  (63,915) 3,886

4,878  (442) 4,436 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 5,997  (1,083) 4,914

2,881  (302) 2,579 Corporate Services 3,384  (627) 2,757

2,405  (160) 2,245 Corporate Development & Delivery 2,842  (515) 2,327

5,290  (5,294)  (4) Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 6,914  (5,200) 1,714

198,727  (221,507)  (22,780) SIF Payments to Partners 222,857  (183,081) 39,776

457,715  (313,929) 143,786 Net Cost of Service 500,729  (320,162) 180,566

38 Other Operating Expenditure 47

9,602 Financing and Investment Income 9,239 5

 (112,464) Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income  (124,317) 6

40,962 (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 65,535  

1,262
Remeasurement Gains/ Losses on Pension Assets/ 

Liabilities
 (1,838)

1,262 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
 (1,838)

42,224 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 63,697

 

Notes

2021/222020/21 Restated

P
age 254



 
 
 

99 

 

 

SINGLE ENTITY BALANCE SHEET 

 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet Date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Authority.  The net assets/(liabilities) of the Authority (assets less liabilities) 
are matched by the reserves held by the Authority.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  
The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Authority may 
use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any 
statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be 
used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category of reserves is those 
that the Authority is not able to use to provide services.  This category of reserves includes 
reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve) where 
amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves 
that hold timing differences in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments 
between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 255



 
 
 

100 

 

 

 

 
 
 
               

Katherine Fairclough     John Fogarty (CPFA) 
Chief Executive     Executive Director Corporate Services 
8 July 2022      8 July 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

SINGLE ENTITY CASHFLOW STATEMENT 

 

As at 31 March 
2021

As at 31 March 
2022

£’000 £’000

268,473 Property, Plant and Equipment 261,186 15

450 Heritage Assets 450

3 Intangible Assets 3

0 Investments in Joint Ventures 4,008 21

75,771 Long-term Debtors 82,627 16

344,697 Long-term Assets 348,274

235,228 Short-term Investments 220,420 21

82 Inventories 26

13,328 Short-term Debtors 17,663 17

98,360 Cash and Cash Equivalents 68,653 21

346,998 Current Assets 306,762

(16,965) Short-term Borrowing (15,791) 21

(168,333) Short-term Creditors (184,946) 18

(200) Provisions (10,469) 19

(180,832) Grant Receipts in Advance (196,385) 6

(366,330) Current Liabilities (407,591)

(1,046) Long-term Provisions (1,046) 19

(323,612) Long-term Borrowing (307,821) 21

(7,345) Pension Liability (7,962) 7

(6,000) Other Long-term Liabilities (5,700) 21

(338,003) Long-term Liabilities (322,529)

(12,638) Net Assets/(Liabilities) (75,084)

168,873 Usable Reserves 175,712 4

(181,511) Unusable Reserves (250,796) 3

(12,638) Total Reserves (75,084)

Note

Page 256



 
 
 

101 

 

 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority 
during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent 
to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or 
from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.  Investing activities represent the 
extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute 
to the Authority’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful 
in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
(40,962) Net deficit on provision of services (65,535)

156,826
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for non-cash movements

51,270

(89)
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of services 
for items which are investing and financing activities

(246)

115,775 Net cash inflows from Operating Activities (14,511)

(55,070) Investing activities 1,770

(16,910) Financing activities (16,965)

43,795
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

(29,706)

54,564 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st April 98,359

98,359 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31st March 68,653

Page 257



 
 
 

102 

 

 

NOTES TO THE PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1.  Accounting Policies 
 

The accounting policies as applied to the single entity are consistent with those applied 
at the group level. Full accounting policies are disclosed in note 1 of the group accounts 
pages 44-58. 
 

2. Changes Significant Judgments, Estimates and Uncertainties and Accounting 
Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 

 
Please refer to notes 2 - 4 in the group accounts pages 58-59. 
 

3. Unusable Reserves 
 

The movements in the unusable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 

 

 
  

Revaluation Reserve 
 

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 
increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment (and intangible assets).  The 
balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 
 re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation, or 
 disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 

 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and 
for financing the acquisition, construction, or enhancement of those assets under 
statutory provisions.  The account is charged with the cost of acquisition, construction 
or enhancement, as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from 

 2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

333 Revaluation Reserve 327
(174,040) Capital Adjustment Account (242,651)

(7,345) Pension Reserve (7,962)
(218) Accumulated Absences (218)
(241) Collection Fund Adjustment Account (292)

(181,511) Total (250,796)

Page 258



 
 
 

103 

 

 

the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The 
account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the costs 
of acquisition, construction, and enhancement.  The account also contains revaluation 
gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 

  
Pensions Reserve 

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority’s accounts for post-employment 
benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are 
earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to 
reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set 
aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to 
be financed as the Authority through Merseytravel makes employer’s contributions to 
pensions funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  
The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore represents a substantial shortfall 
in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Authority 
has set aside to meet them.  The Statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will 
have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of the Authority’s portion of council tax income and national non domestic 
rates income in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement as it falls due 
from council tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts due to the Authority from Billing Authorities. 

 

Page 259



 
 
 

104 

 

 

4. Usable and Earmarked Reserves 
 

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure 
plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2021/22. 
 
 

 
 

 

Balance at 
1st April 

2020

Transfers 
Out 

2020/21

Transfers   
In    

2020/21

Balance at 
31st March 

2021

Transfers 
Out 

202/22

Transfers    
In    

2021/22

Balance at 
31st March 

2022
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

General Fund (a) 2,734 0 0 2,734 0 4,381 7,115
Total General Fund Reserves 2,734 0 0 2,734 0 4,381 7,115
Infrastructure Reserve (b) 70,093 (9,034) 0 61,059 (4,169) 5,243 62,133
Capital Reserve (c) 24 0 0 24 0 0 24
Rail Financing Reserve (d) 40,893 (1,189) 0 39,704 (204) 0 39,500
Restructuring Reserve (e) 1,286 0 0 1,286 0 0 1,286
Grant/Contributions Unapplied 
Reserve (f)

14,273 0 0 14,273 0 0 14,273

Tunnels Reserve and Renewals 
Fund (g)

5,411 0 0 5,411 0 0 5,411

Other Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Rent Review Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Chrysalis (h) 34,972 0 0 34,972 0 0 34,972
Capital Receipts (i) 5,721 0 3,689 9,410 (246) 1,834 10,998
Oher Earmarked Reserves 172,673  (10,223) 3,689 166,139  (4,619) 7,077 168,597
Total 175,407  (10,223) 3,689 168,873  (4,619) 11,458 175,712

P
age 260



 
 
 

105 

 

 

(a) The general fund is general balances held to protect the LCRCA’s financial 
position from unforeseen events. 

(b) The infrastructure reserve has been created to support the strategic decisions 
of the LCRCA. 

(c) The capital reserve is used to support the funding of the capital programme. 
(d) The rail financing reserve has been created to support the delivery of a new 

rolling stock fleet. 
(e) The restructuring reserve is utilised to provide support to staffing cost 

implications of service transformation programmes. 
(f) The grants/contributions unapplied reserve represents capital grants that have 

been received but not yet utilised to support the delivery of the capital 
programme. 

(g) The tunnels reserve and renewals fund is used to support the tunnel’s capital 
programme.  It is the LCRCA’s policy that the tunnels reserve and renewals 
fund shall not be less than £2.5m.  In the event that funds fall below the £2.5m 
threshold, budgetary provision in the following year will be made to restore the 
level to £2.5m.   

(h) The Chrysalis reserve exists to earmark the funds that have been novated to 
the CA from the HCA/ EIB for use in accordance with the original terms of use. 

(i) The capital receipts reserve holds the receipts from the sales of capital assets 
and the repayment of loans provided to third parties for borrowing for capital 
purposes.  The capital receipts reserve may only be utilised for capital 
purposes. 

 
5. Financing and Investment Income 
 

  
  
  
  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

305 Interest on Pension Liabilities 427
(210) Pension Interest on Plan Assets (280)

11,985 Interest Payable and Similar Charges 11,318
200 Expected Credit Loss 371

(2,678) Investment Income (2,597)
9,602 Total 9,239

Page 261



 
 
 

106 

 

 

6. Grant Income 
 

The following grants and contributions have been credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement during the period.  
 

 
 

 
 
           

The Authority has received a number of grants and contributions that have conditions 
attached to them.  These have not yet been recognised as income and will only be 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement once all conditions 
are met.  The balances at the year-end are as follows: 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(47,354) DfT Transport Grants (37,743)
(113) DfT Cycling and Walking 0

(87,798) BEIS Local Growth Fund 0
0 Growing Places Fund (624)

(14,733) BEIS -Gain Share (38,984)
(6,969) Other Grants and Contributions (6,362)

(181) Brexit Readiness 0
(11,462) ERDF & ESF (7,652)
(17,323) Transforming Cities (30,196)
(10,346) Brownfield Fund (5,058)
(2,593) Getting Building Fund (23,407)

(27,968) Additional Restrictions Grant (25,201)
(102) Planning Delivery Fund (103)

(51,241) Adult Education (55,936)
(944) Households into Work (1,295)

(1,880) Homelessness (2,885)
0 Low Carbon (40,251)

(281,007) Total (275,697)

Credited to Services

£’000 £’000
(97,404) Transport Levy (97,404)

0 Halton Differential Levy (3,200)
(7,619) Mayoral Precept (7,595)
(1,000) Mayoral Capacity Grant (1,000)
(4,134) Gainshare Funding (4,020)
(2,219) MHCLG Sales, Fees  & Charges Scheme 0

(88) Capital Grants (11,098)
(112,464) Total (124,317)

2020/21
Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income

2021/22

Page 262



 
 
 

107 

 

 

 
  
7. Pensions 

 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Combined 
Authority makes contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits.  Although 
these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the Combined 
Authority has a commitment to make the payments (for those benefits) and to disclose 
them at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.  The Combined Authority 
participates in Merseyside Pension Fund administered locally by Wirral Council – this 
is a funded defined benefit final salary scheme, meaning that the Combined Authority 
and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance 
the pensions liabilities with investment assets.  

 
 Transactions Relating to Post Employment Benefits 
 
 The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services to 
comply with the reporting requirements of IAS 19 in respect of defined benefits 
schemes. 

 

2020/21 2021/22

£’000 £’000

(34,104) Gain Share (14,022)
(197) ERDF (251)
(180) ESF (171)

(16,278) DfT (27,264)
(796) Homelessness Grant (1,532)
(325) MHCLG Planning Delivery Grant (222)
(275) Households into Work (275)

(53,661) Low Carbon (57,035)
(11,598) Growing Places (10,974)
(30,533) Transforming Cities (54,337)
(10,482) Getting Building Fund (75)
(17,084) Adult Education Funding (7,277)
(4,594) Additional Restrictions Grant 0

(273) EU Exit Preparation Fund (273)
0 Brownfield Land Fund (17,942)
0 Life Time Skills Funding (2,366)
0 Community Renewal Fund (592)

(453) Miscellaneous (1,777)
(180,833) Total (196,385)

Grant Receipts in Advance

Page 263



 
 
 

108 

 

 

  
 
 The following transactions are then recognised in the Movement in Reserves as 

adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under Regulation.  
 

 
 
Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 

 
 The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Combined Authority’s 

obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

  
  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

Net Cost of Service
2,347 Current service cost 3,531

Other Operating Expenditure
38 Administration expenses 47

Financing and Investments Income
95 Net interest expense 147

2,480 Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to the CIES 3,725

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(2,480)
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services

(3,725)

1,025 Employers contribution payable to the Scheme 1,270

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
(18,963) Benefit obligation at end of the period (23,095)

11,618 Fair Value of plan assets at end of the period 15,133
(7,345) Deficit as at 31 March (7,962)

Page 264



 
 
 

109 

 

 

 
Reconciliation of the movement in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 

  

 
  

Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligations) 
 

 
            
  
 

  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

8,173 Balance brought forward 31 March 11,618
210 Interest on plan assets 280

1,375 Remeasurement 1,071
(38) Administration expenses (47)

1,025 Employers contributions 1,270
578 Members contributions 708
295 Benefits/ transfers paid 233

11,618 Balance carried forward 1 April 15,133

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000
(12,801) Balance brought forward 31 March (18,963)
(2,347) Current service cost (3,531)

(305) Interest on pension liabilities (427)
(578) Member contribution (708)

(2,637) Remeasurement (liabilities) 767
(295) Benefits/ transfers paid (233)

(18,963) Balance carried forward 1 April (23,095)

Page 265



 
 
 

110 

 

 

As at 31 March the assets comprised: 
        

 

 
 
 
 

Actuarial Assumptions 
 
 Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 

method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme liabilities have been assessed by Mercers, an independent firm of actuaries, 
estimates being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme.  The main 
assumptions used in their calculations are detailed in the table below: 

 

Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities

1,739 267 2,006 17 UK 2,259 254 2,513 17

2,760 1,259 4,019 35 Global 3,377 1,614 4,991 32

Bonds

140 0 140 1 UK Government 160 0 160 1

382 0 382 3 UK Corporate 447 0 447 3

917 0 917 8 UK Index Linked 1,319 0 1,319 8

63 0 63 0 Overseas Corporate 76 0 76 1

-40 0 -40 0 Derivative Contracts 0 -51 -51 0

Property

0 533 533 5 UK Direct Property 0 810 810 5

22 207 229 2 UK Managed Property 17 257 274 2

0 273 273 2 Global Managed Property 0 374 374 2

Private Equity

0 204 204 2 UK 0 410 410 3

0 637 637 5 Global 2 941 943 6

Cash

0 0 0 0 Cash Instruments 0 0 0 0

280 0 280 2 Cash Accounts 268 0 268 2

Other

18 46 64 1 Hedge Funds UK 22 62 84 1

0 457 457 4 Hedge Funds Global 0 556 556 4

17 441 458 4 Infrastructure UK 0 673 673 4

0 344 344 3 Infrastructure Global 0 452 452 3

5 206 211 2 Opportunities UK 0 283 283 2

18 423 441 4 Opportunities Global 25 526 551 4

6,321 5,297 11,618 100 7,972 7,161 15,133 100

2020/21 2021/22

% of 
total

% of 
total

Page 266



 
 
 

111 

 

 

  
  

A sensitivity analysis has been provided by Mercers which provides an illustrative 
impact of marginal changes to the assumptions used in respect of the long-term 
discount rate, inflation and life expectancy.  The results of this sensitivity analysis are 
detailed below. 
 

 
 

Impact on the Authority’s Cashflows 
 

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at as constant and 
affordable rate as possible.  Merseyside Pension Fund has agreed a strategy with the 
scheme’s actuary which was approved by the Pensions Committee in March 2017.  
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.   

 
 The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under 

the Public Pensions Act 2013.  Under the Act, the Local Government Pension Scheme 
in England and Wales and the other main existing public service schemes may not 
provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (or services after 31 March 
2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England and Wales).  

Base Assumptions

Rate of CPI inflation 2.70% 3.20%

Rate of increase in salaries 4.20% 4.70%

Rate of increase in pensions 2.80% 3.30%
Discount Rate 2.20% 2.80%

Mortality Assumptions

Life expectancy of male future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' 
time

22.6 22.4

Life expectancy of female future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years' 
time

26.0 25.9

Life expectancy of male current pensioner aged 65 21.0 20.9
Life expectancy of female current pensioner aged 65 24.1 24.0

2020/21 2021/22

Central
+0.1% p.a. 
discount 

rate

+0.1% p.a. 
inflation

+0.1% p.a. 
pay growth

1 year 
increase in 

life 
expectancy

+1% 
change in 

21/22 
investment 

returns

-1% change 
in 21/22 

investment 
returns

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Liabilities (23,095) (22,546) (23,658) (23,210) (23,744) (23,095) (23,095)
Assets 15,133 15,133 15,133 15,133 15,133 15,295 14,971
Surplus/ (Deficit) (7,962) (7,413) (8,525) (8,077) (8,611) (7,800) (8,124)
Projected service cost next 
year

3,184 3,085 3,284 3,184 3,294 3,184 3,184

Projected net interest cost for 
next year

206 197 221 209 224 201 210

Page 267



 
 
 

112 

 

 

The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common framework, to 
establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other 
benefits to certain public servants.  

 
The Authority anticipates making pension contribution payments of £1,232k in 
2022/23.  

 

Page 268



 
 
 

113 

 

 

8. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources by the Authority in comparison to those resources 
consumed or earned by the Authority in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how the expenditure is allocated between Services. 
Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practice is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 

 
 
  
An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment of services across Directorates.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators 
have been restated to reflect the new structure. 

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES

98,072 55,726 153,798 Place 71,982 53,210 125,192
2,904 608 3,512 Investment & Delivery 2,646 1,240 3,886

4,114 322 4,436 Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 4,454 460 4,914

2,506 73 2,579 Corporate Services 2,700 57 2,757
1,880 366 2,245 Corporate Development & Delivery 2,129 198 2,327

(210) 206 (4) Corporate Management & Corporate Costs 1,539 175 1,714

267 (23,047) (22,780) SIF Payments to Partners 13,478 26,298 39,776

109,534 34,253 143,786 Net Cost of Services 98,928 81,638 180,566
(103,000) 176 (102,824) Other Income and Expenditure (105,766) (9,265) (115,031)

6,534 34,429 40,962 Surplus or deficit (6,839) 72,373 65,535
(175,407) Opening Reserves Balance at 1 April (168,873)

6,534 Less/plus Surplus or Deficit in Year (6,839)

(168,873) Closing Reserves at 31 March (175,712)

Restated 2020/21 £'000 2021/22 £'000

P
age 269



 
 
 

114 

 

 

Adjustments in Respect of 2021/22   
 

 
 

Adjustments in Respect of 2020/21 Restated 
 

 

Adjustments from General 
Fund to arrive at the CIES

Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes

Net change for 
the Pensions 
Adjustments

Other Differences
Total 

Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Place 53,135 76 0 53,210

Investment & Delivery (56) 1,296 0 1,240
Policy, Strategy & Government 
Relations

0 460 0 460

Corporate Services 0 57 0 57

Corporate Development & 
Delivery

0 198 0 198

Corporate Management & 
Corporate Costs

0 175 0 175

SIF Payments to Partners 26,298 0 0 26,298

Net Cost of Services 79,377 2,261 0 81,638
Other Income & Expenditure 
from the Funding Analysis

(9,510) 194 51 (9,265)

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit

69,868 2,455 51 72,373

Adjustments from General 
Fund to arrive at the CIES

Adjustments for 
Capital Purposes

Net change for 
the Pensions 
Adjustments

Other Differences
Total 

Adjustments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Place 55,760 (34) 0 55,726

Investment & Delivery 0 608 0 608

Policy, Strategy & Government 
Relations

0 322 0 322

Corporate Services 0 73 0 73

Corporate Development & 
Delivery

0 366 0 366

Corporate Management & 
Corporate Costs

0 (12) 218 206

SIF Payments to Partners (23,047) 0 0 (23,047)

Net Cost of Services 32,713 1,322 218 34,253
Other Income & Expenditure 
from the Funding Analysis

(188) 133 231 176

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit

32,525 1,455 449 34,429

Page 270



 
 
 

115 

 

 

 
 
An organisational restructure took place in 2021/22 which resulted in the realignment 
of services.  Consequently the 2020/21 comparators have been restated to reflect the 
new structure. 

 
Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
service line, adjusts for the statutory charge for Minimum Revenue Provision and other 
income contributions that are not chargeable under proper accounting practice. 
 
Other Differences 
 
These are the amounts debited or credited to the CIES and amounts payable/ 
receivable to be recognised under statute in respect of premiums and discounts. 

 
Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

£’000 £'000
Expenditure

13,659 Employee benefits expenses 17,181
434,538 Other services expenses 475,138
10,060 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 10,380
11,985 Interest payments 11,318

470,242 Total expenditure 514,017

Income
(33,131) Fees, charges and other service income (45,870)
(2,678) Interest and investment income (2,597)

(393,471) Government grants and contributions (400,015)
(429,280) Total income (448,481)

40,962 (Surplus) or deficit on the Provision of Services 65,535

2021/222020/21

Page 271



 
 
 

116 

 

 

9. Mayoral Costs  
 

Included on the face of the CIES are the costs associated with the operation of the 
Mayor’s Office during 2021/22.  The table below provides a further breakdown of 
these costs. 

  

   
 
10. Audit Fees 
 

The table below discloses the fees paid to the Authority’s external auditor, Mazars in 
respect of its external audit and inspection work.   
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

93 Mayoral Allowance 89
479 Mayoral Office & Political Support Staffing Costs 279
10 Non Staff Cost 22

3,473 Net spend on Mayoral Priorities 2,798
4,055 Total 3,188

2020/21  2021/22
£’000  £’000

55 Audit of statutory accounts 51
55 Total 51

Page 272



 
 
 

117 

 

 

11. Officers’ Remuneration 
 
 Senior Officers’ Remuneration 
 

The table below details the remuneration of the senior leadership team of the 
LCRCA.  
 

 
 

i) The Chief Executive & Director General post provided services for both Merseytravel 
and the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.  The Chief Executive & Director 
General was formally employed by Merseytravel, and the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority is recharged 50% of his salary and other remuneration. The post 
holder resigned 30th September 2021 .  The Chief Executive post was realigned solely 
to LCRCA, and Director General responsibilities were allocated to the newly created 
Executive Director Place post. 

 
ii) The Chief Executive post is formally employed by LCRCA and the Director General 

remit has been removed. 
 

iii) Executive Director Place post combines previous Director of Integrated Transport and 
Director General responsibilities. This post is formally employed by Merseytravel and 
25% of salaries and other remuneration is recharged to LCRCA. 

 
iv) The Executive Director of Corporate Services is formally employed by LCRCA and 

Merseytravel is recharged 50% of his salary and other remuneration. 
 

Salary
Employers Pension 

Contribution Total Remuneration
£’000 £’000 £’000

2021/22 53 9 62

2020/21 102 17 119

2021/22 138 19 157

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 6 1 7

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 65 9 74

2020/21 64 9 73

2021/22 105 14 119

2020/21 103 14 117

2021/22 51 8 60

2020/21 67 11 78

2021/22 41 5 46

2020/21 163 22 186

2021/22 77 0 77

2020/21 102 0 102

2021/22 38 0 38

2020/21 0 0 0

2021/22 122 17 139

2020/21 87 14 101

Monitoring Officer 

Executive Director of Corporate 
Development and Delivery (v)

Director of Commercial Development & 
Investment (vi)                                 
Resigned 25th June 2021

Interim Director of Strategic 
Commissioning and Delivery (vii)    
Realigned 29th November 2021 

Executive Director of Investment and 
Delivery (viii)                                              
Appointed 29th November 2021

Executive Director of Policy, Strategy & 
Government Relations 

Executive Director  Corporate Services(iv)

  

Chief Executive & Director General (i)     
Resigned 30th Septemebr 2021

Chief Executive  (ii)                   
Appointed 28th June 2021

Executive Director Place and Director 
General (iii)                                      
Appointed 1st February 2022.

Page 273



 
 
 

118 

 

 

v) The Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery post provides services 
for both Merseytravel and Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and as such the 
salary is split 50/50 across both entities.  

 
vi) Director of Commercial Development and Investment resigned 25th June 2021. 

 
vii) Interim Director of Strategic Commissioning and Delivery appointed 16th November 

2020, this post was removed 29th November 2021 see viii. 
 

viii) Newly created post Executive Director of Investment and Delivery appointed 29th 
November 2021. This post is combines responsibilities of Director of Strategic 
Commissioning and Delivery post and Director of Commercial Development and 
Investment post. 

 
Employee Remuneration 

 
The number of employees (excluding directors) in receipt of remuneration for the year 
of £50,000 or more is detailed below. For the purpose of this note, remuneration 
includes allowances, bonuses and severance pay but excludes employer’s pension 
contributions.  
 

 
 
Figures for 2020/21 have been restated to reflect changes to banding sections. 
 
The Corporate Services function of the CA which comprises Legal, Procurement, 
Finance, Internal Audit and PMO, are services provided to both Merseytravel and the 
CA. The cost of these services is currently budgeted for within Merseytravel and 

Remuneration Range Restated 2020/21 2021/22
£50,000 to £54,999 8 19
£55,000 to £59,999 5 3
£60,000 to £64,999 5 6
£65,000 to £69,999 2 5
£70,000 to £74,999 5 3
£75,000 to £79,999 0 3
£80,000 to £84,999 1 1
£85,000 to £89,999 6 1
£90,000 to £94,999 0 3
£95,000 to £99,999 0 1
£100,000 to £104,999 0 1
£105,000 to £109,999 0 0
£110,000 to £114,999 1 0
£115,000 to £119,999 0 0

£120,000 to £124,999 0 0
£125,000 to £129,999 0 0
£130,000 to £134,999 0 0
£135,000 to £139,999 0 1
£140,000 to £144,999 0 0

Total 33 47

Page 274



 
 
 

119 

 

 

therefore staff are reflected within the Merseytravel accounts remuneration note. An 
appropriate proportion of these costs are recharged into the CA to reflect the costs 
associated with this function. 
 
Exit Packages 
 

 
 

12. Related Party Transactions 
 

The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies 
or individuals that have the potential to control or influence or to be controlled or 
influenced by the Authority. 

 
A comprehensive disclosure in respect of the LCRCA is included within the Authority 
Group accounts.  In the spirit of streamlining the accounts and avoiding repetition the 
detail is not presented here and readers of the accounts are referred to in note 15 of 
the group accounts.   

 
From a single entity perspective, the most significant related party for the LCRCA is 
Merseytravel. Details of the material expenditure with Merseytravel is included within 
note 28, CA Group Companies of the Authority Group accounts. 

  
13. Mersey Tunnels 
 

Operation of the Mersey Tunnels has been delegated by the Authority to Merseytravel. 
To meet the cost of operating the tunnels, Merseytravel is provided with a grant from 
the Authority which is in turn funded from tunnel tolls income. 

 
The Mersey Tunnels Act 2004 permits any operating surplus to be utilised by the 
Authority to achieve public transport policies in its local transport plan.  £5.243m on 
2021/22 was transferred into the transport infrastructure reserve and £4.169m was 
utilised to support transport capital projects in year. 

 
During the year there was no call on the Tunnels Reserve and Renewals Fund to 
support the Tunnels capital programme. The balance on the reserve as at 31 March 
2022 was £5.4m. 

£0 - £20,000 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 7
Total 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 7

No. of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies

No. of other 
Departures agreed

Total No. of Exit 
Packages by Cost 

Band

Total Cost of Exit 
Packages in each 

Band

20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22 20/21 21/22
20/21 
£'000

21/22 
£'000

Page 275



 
 
 

120 

 

 

14. Property Plant and Equipment 

 Movement on Balances 2021/22 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Infrastructure 
Assets

Freehold 
Property

Fixtures 
&Fittings  

Leasehold 
Property

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery

Surplus 
Assets

Assets Under 
Construction

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 April 2021 326,886 1,900 5,142 6,918 52 2,568 343,465

Additions 1,263 1 0 1,950 0 70 3,284

Disposals 0 0 0 (58) 0 (155) (213)

As at 31 March 2022 328,149 1,901 5,142 8,810 52 2,483 346,536

As at 1 April 2021 71,663 46 1,182 2,099 2 0 74,991

Depreciation 9,316 57 197 810 1 0 10,381

Disposals 0 0 0 (23) 0 0 (23)

As at 31 March 2022 80,979 103 1,379 2,886 3 0 85,350

As at 31 March 2022 247,170 1,798 3,763 5,924 49 2,483 261,186

As at 31 March 2021 255,223 1,854 3,960 4,819 50 2,568 268,473

Cost or valuation

Depreciation and Impairment

Net Book Value

P
age 276



 
 
 

121 

 

 

 

 Movement on Balances 2020/21 
 

 Infrastructure 
Assets 

Freehold 
Property 

Fixtures & 
Fittings 

Leasehold 
Property  

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets Under 
Construction 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cost or valuation 

As at 1 April 2020 324,332 1,605 5,142 5,707 52 651 337,489 

Additions 2,554 295 0 1,210 0 1,917 5,976 

As at 31 March 2021 326,886 1,900 5,142 6,918 52 2,568 343,465 

Depreciation and Impairment 

As at 1 April 2020 62,414 0 985 1,531 1 0 64,931 

Depreciation 9,248 46 197 568 1 0 10,060 

As at 31 March 2021 71,663 46 1,182 2,099 2 0 74,991 

Net Book Value 

As at 31 March 2021 255,223 1,854 3,960 4,819 50 2,568 268,473 

As at 31 March 2020 261,917 1,605 4,157 4,176 51 651 272,557 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 277



 
 
 

122 

 

 

Depreciation 
 

The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 
depreciation: 

 
 Infrastructure assets useful lives are determined on acquisition and considered 

thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current maximum 
useful life is 72 years. 

 Freehold and Leasehold property useful lives are based on estimated 
remaining life    as provided by the valuer as part of the valuation process.  The 
maximum useful life in this category is 28 years.  

 Vehicles, plant and machinery useful lives are determined on acquisition and 
considered thereafter as part of the annual impairment review.  The current 
maximum useful life is 20 years. 

 
 Revaluations 
 

The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all property plant and 
equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five 
years.  All valuations are carried out externally.  Valuations of land and buildings are 
carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in 
the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 

 
The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values of property, plant 
and equipment are: 

 That no deleterious material was used in the construction of any property and 
that none has been subsequently incorporated. 

 That the properties are not subject to any unusual or especially onerous 
restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and that good titles can be shown. 

 That the properties and their values are unaffected by any matters which would 
be revealed by a local search or inspection of any register and that the use and 
occupation are both legal. 

 That inspection of those parts which have not been inspected would not cause 
alteration to the opinion of value. 

 That the land and properties are not contaminated nor adversely affected by 
radon. 

 
Infrastructure assets (gross book value £328.149m), short life plant machinery and 
vehicles (gross book value £13.952m) and assets under construction (gross book 
value £2.483m) are carried at historical cost.  The remaining categories of property, 
plant and equipment (gross book value £1.953m) are carried at current value with the 
last full valuation being undertaken at 31 March 2019.   
 
A full valuation exercise was undertaken at 31 March 2019.  In the 2019/20 financial 
year a desktop valuation was undertaken on 70% by value of the property portfolio.  
The percentage increase arising from this valuation exercise was applied across the 
remainder of the portfolio as an estimate of the movement in property values in the 
financial year. In the 2021/22 financial year an estimate of the movement in values was 
calculated making use of indices provided by the external valuer.  These estimates did 
not indicate a material movement and therefore the properties have not been revalued 
in the 2021/22 financial year.  
 
 

Page 278



 
 
 

123 

 

 

Capital Commitments 
 

As at 31 March 2022, the Authority has entered into a number of contracts for the 
construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2022/23 and future 
years budgeted to cost £164.721m.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2021 were 
£92.530m. 

 
 The major commitments are: 
 

 Headbolt Lane Gateway - £53.058m  
 Parkside Road - £23.800m 
 Festival Gardens - £16.630m 
 St Helens Southern Gateway - £8.738m 
 Glass Futures - £6.273m  

  
15.  Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below 
together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used 
by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Finance 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Authority that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this 
note.  

  
 

 
 
 
 

2021/22  2020/21
£’000 £’000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 450,296 421,519

Capital investment  
PPE 3,284 5,976
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 227,705 211,070
Investments 4,008 0
Loan Expenditure 7,267 4,024

Sources of Finance  
Government grants and other contributions (158,479) (174,097)
Direct revenue contributions (4,819) (5,788)
Minimum Revenue Provision (2,283) (7,568)
Used of capital receipts (246) 0
Use of Reserves (4,169) (4,840)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 522,564 450,296

Explanation of movements in year:  
Increase/(decrease)  in underlying need to borrow 72,268 28,777
Increase/(decrease)  in Capital Financing Requirement 72,268 28,777

Page 279



 
 
 

124 

 

 

16.  Long Term Debtors 
 

  
 

The loan made to Merseytravel to fund the acquisition of the Beatles Story is repayable 
in annual instalments and will expire in 2032/33.  Principal repayments in 2021/22 were 
£178k (£170k 2020/21).  The loan is extinguished on consolidation into the group 
position.  

 
17. Short Term Debtors 
 

  
   
18. Short Term Creditors 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

2,569 Loan to Merseytravel for acquisition of the Beatles Story 2,382

0 LCR Digital 5,267

34,972 Chrysalis           34,972 
36,385 Loans           38,380 
1,845 Other Debtors 1,625

75,771 Balance as at 31 March 82,627

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

177 Trade Receivables 490
175 Prepayments 587

3,118 Group Debtors 4,217
1,580 Loans 1,746

956 Council Tax 1,548
7,270 Grants 8,738

52 Other 336
13,328 Balance as at 31 March 17,663

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(976) Trade Payables (801)
(92,366) Group Creditors (86,194)
(1,197) Collection Fund (1,840)

(73,249) Accruals (95,554)
(545) Other Payables (557)

(168,333) Balance as at 31 March (184,946)

Page 280



 
 
 

125 

 

 

 
 
 

19. Provisions 

 

 

The provisions held by the Authority are described below: 

i. Grant Provision - Liverpool Festival Gardens this provision represents the grant 
which is awaiting payment once the final grant condition is met. This is 
expected to be paid during 2022/23. 

ii. Capital Expenditure – this is a provision which is retained in relation to the 
possible clawback of ERDF grants. 

iii. Government Initiatives provision -  relates to Low Carbon credits which may be 
repayable. 

20. Leases 
 
 Authority as Lessee 
 

  
 

The expenditure charged in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement 
during the year in relation to these leases was: 

As at 31 
March 2021

Charge to 
provision in 

year

(Increase)/ 
decrease in 
provision

As at 31 
March 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Grant Provision 0 0 (10,270) (10,270)

Contractual Provisions  (136) 0 0 (136)

Government Initiatives  (200) 0 0 (200)

Capital Expenditure  (909) 0 0 (909)

Total  (1,245) 0  (10,270) (11,515)

 

As at 31 
March 2021

As at 31 
March 2022

£’000 £’000
Short Term Provisions  (200)  (10,469)
Long Term Provisions  (1,046)  (1,046)
Total  (1,246)  (11,515)

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

3,566 Not later than one year 3,558
14,263 Between one and five years 14,234
57,051 Over five years 53,376
74,880 Total 71,168

Page 281



 
 
 

126 

 

 

 

Authority as Lessor 
 

 
 
 

21.  Financial Instruments 

Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

 
 
Income and Expense through the CIES 
 

 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

3,566 Minimum lease payments 3,558
(722) Sublease payments receivable (1,096)
2,844 Total 2,462

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(1,119) Not later than one year  (1,119)
(3,691) Between one and five years  (3,103)
(1,654) Over five years  (1,124)
(6,464) Total  (5,346)

Current Non Current Current Non Current

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost:

           235,228 0 Investments            220,420 4,008
13,153              75,771 Debtors              17,077 82,627
98,360 0 Cash & Cash Equivalents              68,653 0

346,741 75,771 Total Financial Assets 306,150 86,635

Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost:

(16,965) (323,612) Borrowing (15,791) (307,821)

(90,728) 0
Amounts due to Merseytravel 
Group

(86,194) 0

(77,605) (6,000) Creditors (98,753) (5,700)

(185,298) (329,612) Total Financial Liabilities (200,737) (313,521)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial 
Assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
11,985 0 Interest Expense 11,318 0

0 (2,536) Interest Income 0 (2,462)

11,985 (2,536)
Net (Income)/Expense for 

the Year
11,318 (2,462)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

Page 282



 
 
 

127 

 

 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 
 

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
 

 
 

Note 25 to the group accounts provides a detailed analysis of loans outstanding and 
the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

 
22. Long Term Liabilities  

 

 
  
23. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
 
 The Authority has no contingent assets and liabilities. 
 
24. Note to the Cashflow Statement 
 
 Cash Flow Statement Operating Activities 
 
 The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
  

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

72,183 54,471

26,177 14,182
98,360 68,653

Short Term Deposits with Banks and Building Societies
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Bank Current Account

Carrying 
Value

Fair Value
Carrying 

Value
Fair Value

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Financial Assets

235,228 235,260 Short term investments 220,420 219,810
98,360 98,360 Cash and cash equivalents 68,653 68,652

Financial Liabilities
 (148,480)  (221,068) PWLB Debt  (140,033)  (194,283)
 (11,442)  (10,917) Wirral MBC  (9,153)  (10,274)

 (180,656)  (160,944) EIB Debt  (174,426)  (137,179)
 (90,728)  (90,728) Amounts due to Merseytravel  (83,658)  (83,658)

31 March 2021 31 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(6,000) Lease Incentive (5,700)
(6,000) Total (5,700)

Page 283



 
 
 

128 

 

 

  
 

The surplus or deficit on provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
non-cash movements and investing activities which are reported in the following 
notes: 

 

  
 

Cash Flow Statement Investing Activities 
 

 
 

Cash Flow Statement Financing Activities 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(1,133) Interest Received (2,462)
11,985 Interest Paid 11,318

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

10,060 Depreciation, amortisation and revaluation losses 10,381

150,909
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, provisions and 
pension liability

44,592

(4,205) (Increase)/decrease in debtors (3,949)
62 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 56

0
Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus on 
the provision of services

190

156,826 Total 51,270

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

(5,976)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

 (3,284)

(18,525) Purchases and proceeds of short term investments 10,800

(30,569) Other receipts/payments from investing activities  (5,746)
(55,070) Total 1,770

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

0 Cash receipt of long term borrowing 0
(16,910) Repayment of short and long term borrowing  (16,965)
(16,910) Total (16,965)

Page 284



 
 
 

129 

 

 

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities 
 

 
 
 

 

 01 April 2021
Cash receipt 
of long term 
borrowing

Repayment of 
borrowing

31 March 2022

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
PWLB Debt (148,480) 0 8,447 (140,033)
EIB Debt (180,656) 0 6,230 (174,426)
Wirral MBC (transferred debt) (11,441) 0 2,288 (9,153)
Total liabilities from financing activities (340,577) 0 16,965 (323,612)

 01 April 2020
Cash receipt 
of long term 
borrowing

Repayment of 
borrowing

31 March 2021

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
PWLB Debt (156,872) 0 8,392 (148,480)
EIB Debt (186,885) 0 6,229 (180,656)
Wirral MBC (transferred debt) (13,730) 0 2,289 (11,441)
Total liabilities from financing activities (357,487) 0 16,910 (340,577)

Page 285



 
 
 

130 

 

 

 

 GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS 

 
Accounting Policies 
Those specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied that specify how the 
effects of transactions and other events are to be reflected in the financial statements. 
 
Accruals 
The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not 
as money is received or paid. 
 
Agent/Agency 
Where the organisation is acting as an intermediary, as opposed to on its own behalf. 
 
Amortisation 
The accounting technique of recognising a cost or item of income in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement or the Movement in Reserves Statement over a period of 
years rather than when the initial payment is made. 
Its purpose is to charge/credit the cost/income over the accounting periods that gain benefit 
for the respective item. 
The technique is supported by relevant accounting policies and practices. 
 
Amortised Cost 
A method of determining the Balance Sheet carrying amount and periodic charges to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement of a financial instrument based on the 
expected cash flows of that instrument. 
 
Capital Expenditure 
Expenditure on the acquisition or enhancement of a non-current asset or capital advances 
and loans to other individuals or other third parties. 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
Introduced as a result of the Prudential Framework for Capital Accounting and measures the 
underlying need of the organisation to borrow for expenditure of a capital nature. 
 
Capital Receipts 
The proceeds from the sale of capital assets or repayment of capital advances. 
 
Carrying Amount 
The amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
Short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant changes in value. 
 
Cash Flows 
Inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents. 
 
 
 
 

Page 286



 
 
 

131 

 

 

 
Community Assets 
Assets that the Authority intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life 
and that may have restrictions on their disposal.  Examples include parks and public open 
spaces. 
 
Contingent Asset 
An asset arising from past events where its existence can only be confirmed by one or more 
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the organisation. 
 
Contingent Liability 
A condition which exists at the balance sheet date, where the outcome will be confirmed only 
on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events.  Where a 
material loss can be estimated with reasonable accuracy a contingent liability is accrued in 
the financial statements.  If, however, a loss cannot be accurately estimated or the event is 
not considered sufficiently certain, it will be disclosed in a note to the balance sheet. 
 
Creditors 
Financial liabilities arising from the contractual obligation to pay cash in the future for goods 
or services or other benefits that have been received or supplied. 
 
Credit Risk 
The possibility that one party to a financial instrument will fail to meet their contractual 
obligations, causing a loss to the other party. 
 
Current Replacement Cost 
The cost the organisation would incur to acquire the asset on the reporting date. 
 
Current Service Cost (Pensions) 
The increase in the present value of liabilities resulting from employee service in the period. 
 
Curtailment (Pensions) 
An event that reduces the expected years of future service of present employees or reduces 
for a number of employees the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future service.  
Curtailments include: 
 
(i)  termination of employees services earlier than expected, for example as a result of 

closing or discontinuing a segment of a business; and 
(ii)  termination of, or amendment to the terms of, a defined benefit plan so that some or 

all future service by current employees will no longer qualify for benefits or will qualify 
only for reduced benefits. 

 
Debtors 
Financial assets arising from the obligation to a future cash receipt for goods or services or 
other benefits that have been delivered or provided. 
 
Defined Benefit Plan 
A pension or other retirement benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.  Usually, the 
plan rules define the benefits independently of the contributions payable, and the benefits are 
not directly related to the investments of the plan.  The plan may be funded or un-funded 
(including notionally funded). 
 
 

Page 287



 
 
 

132 

 

 

 
Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) 
A method of valuation which provides the current cost of replacing an asset with its modern 
equivalent less deductions for all physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence. 
 
Depreciation 
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful life of a non-
current asset over its useful economic life. 
 
Discretionary Benefits 
Retirement benefits which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to 
award and which are awarded under the organisation's discretionary powers. 
 
Existing Use Value (EUV) 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between 
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction after proper marketing wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion assuming that 
the buyer is granted vacant possession of all parts of the property and disregarding potential 
alternative uses and any other characteristics that would cause its market value to differ from 
that needed to replace the remaining service potential at least cost. 
 
Fair Value 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm's length 
transaction, less, where applicable, any grants receivable towards the purchase or use of the 
asset. 
 
Financial Instrument 
A contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another.  The term covers both financial assets and financial liabilities and 
includes both the most straightforward financial assets such as trade receivables (debtors) 
and trade payables (creditors) and the most complex ones such as derivatives. 
 
Typical financial instruments are:- 
 
(i) Liabilities 

 Trade payables 
 Borrowings 
 Financial Guarantees 

(ii) Assets 
 Bank deposits 
 Trade receivables 
 Loans receivable 
 Investments 

 
Finance Lease 
A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-current 
asset to the lessee, with the asset then recognised the lessee’s Balance Sheet. 
 
Financing Activities 
Activities that result in changes to the size and composition of the principal, received from or 
repaid to external providers of finance. 
 
 

Page 288



 
 
 

133 

 

 

 
Going Concern 
An assumption that the functions of the Authority will continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 
 
Government Grants and Contributions 
Assistance in the form of cash or transfers of resources to an Authority in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operation of activities of the Authority. 
 
Heritage Assets 
The Heritage Assets are assets that are held by the organisation principally for their 
contribution to knowledge, understanding and appreciation of the Authority’s history and/or 
culture. 
 
Historical Cost 
Deemed to be the carrying amount of an asset as at 1 April 2007 or at the date of acquisition, 
whichever date is the later, and adjusted for subsequent depreciation or impairment (if 
applicable). 
 
IAS19 
This International Accounting Standard (IAS) is based on the principle that an organisation 
should account for retirement benefits when it is committed to give them, even if the actual 
giving will be many years into the future. 
 
Impairment 
A reduction in the value of a non-current asset below its carrying amount on the balance sheet. 
 
Infrastructure Assets 
A class of non-current assets that are inalienable.  Examples of infrastructure assets are 
bridges, roads and footpaths. 
 
Intangible Fixed Asset 
"Non-financial" fixed assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and are 
controlled by the organisation through custody or legal rights e.g. software licences. 
 
Interest on Plan Assets (Pensions) 
The annual investment return on the fund assets based on an average of the expected long-
term return. 
 
Interest on Plan Liabilities (Pensions) 
The expected increase during the period in the present value of liabilities as the benefits move 
one year closer to being paid. 
 
Inventories 
The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use or resale. 
 
Investing Activities 
The acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash 
equivalents. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
The possibility that one party will be unable to raise funds to meet its commitments associated 
with financial instruments. 

Page 289



 
 
 

134 

 

 

 
Market Risk 
The possibility that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
interest rates, market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, etc. 
 
Market Value 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between 
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction after proper marketing wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. 
 
Material/Materiality 
Omissions or mis-statements are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence 
the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the financial statements.  
Materiality depends on the size of the omission or mis-statement judged in the surrounding 
circumstances.  The nature or size of the item, or a combination of both, could be the 
determining factor. 
 
Net Book Value 
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their historical cost or 
current value less the cumulative amount provided for depreciation. 
 
Net Realisable Value 
The open market value of the asset in its existing use (or open market value in the case of 
non-operational assets), less the expenses to be incurred in realising the asset. 
 
Non-Current Assets 
Assets that yield benefits to the Authority and the services it provides for a period of more than 
one year. 
 
Non-Operational Assets 
Non-current assets held by an Authority but not directly occupied, used or consumed in the 
delivery of services, or for the service or strategic objectives of the Authority. 
 
Operating Activities 
Activities of the Authority that are not investing or financing activities. 
 
Operating Leases 
A lease that does not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-
current asset to the lessee.  The asset is recognised on the lessor’s Balance Sheet.  
Expenditure financed by operating leasing does not count against capital allocations. 
 
Past Service Cost/Gain (Pensions) 
The increase or reduction in the present value of liabilities arising from decisions in the period 
whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier periods. 
 
Plan Liabilities (Or Plan Defined Benefit Obligations) 
The liabilities of a defined benefit plan for outgoings due after the valuation date.  Plan liabilities 
measured using the projected unit credit method reflect the benefits that the employer is 
committed to provide for service up to the valuation date. 
 
Price Risk 
The risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices. 

Page 290



 
 
 

135 

 

 

 
Projected Unit Credit (Actuarial Cost) Method 
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the plan’s liabilities make allowance for 
projected earnings.  An accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation method in which the 
plan liabilities at the valuation date relate to:- 
 
(i)  the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased 

to be active members but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their 
dependants, allowing where appropriate for future increases; and 

(ii)  the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. 
 
The accrued benefits are the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether vested 
rights or not.  Guidance on the method is given in the Guidance Note GN26 issued by the 
Faculty and Institute of Actuaries.  Under this method, the current service cost will increase as 
members of the plan approach retirement. 
 
Provisions 
A liability of uncertain timing or amount. 
 
REFCUS (Revenue Expenditure Financed From Capital Under Statute) 
Expenditure that is classified as revenue in accordance with proper accounting practices, but 
which statute determines may be financed by Capital sources of funding. 
 
Related Parties 
Related parties are those individuals and entities that the Council either has the potential to 
influence or control (or be influenced or controlled by).  Related include central government, 
other bodies, its members and its chief officers. 
 
Related Party Transaction 
A related party transaction is the transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance of services 
by, to or for a related party irrespective of whether a charge is made.  Related party 
transactions include the provision of services to a related party. 
 
The materiality of related party transactions should be judged not only in terms of their 
significance to the Authority, but also in relation to its related party. 
 
Re-Measurement (Pensions) 
The changes in estimated assets and liabilities, assessed by the actuary and arising because: 
 
(i)  events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation 

(experience gains and losses); or 
(ii)  the actuarial assumptions have changed. 
 
Remuneration 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the disclosure of amounts paid to Officers 
and define remuneration as:- 
 
‘……..all amounts paid to or receivable by a person, and includes sums due by way of expense 
allowance (so far as those sums are chargeable to United Kingdom income tax), and the 
estimated money value of any other benefits received by an employee otherwise than in cash.’ 
 
 
 

Page 291



 
 
 

136 

 

 

 
Retirement Benefits 
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by 
employees that are payable after the completion of employment.  Retirement benefits do not 
include termination benefits payable as a result of either:- 
 
(i)  an employer's decision to terminate an employee's employment before the normal 

retirement date; or 
(ii)  an employee's decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits, 

because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by employees. 
 
Revenue Expenditure 
This is money spent on the day-to-day running costs of providing services and includes 
salaries, goods and services. 
 
It is usually of a constantly recurring nature and produces no permanent asset. 
 
Senior Employees 
Senior employees are defined under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, however 
within Liverpool City Region Combined Authority this is deemed to be the Statutory Post 
holders and Directors. 
 
Settlement (Pensions) 
An irrevocable action that relieves the employer of the primary responsibility for a pension 
obligation and eliminates significant risks relating to the obligation and the assets used to 
affect the settlement.  Settlement includes the transfer of scheme assets and liabilities relating 
to a group of employees leaving the Authority's scheme. 
 
Termination Benefits 
Amounts payable as a result of either: 
 
(i)  an employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal 

retirement date; or 
(ii)  an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. 
 
Useful Life 
The period over which the Authority will derive benefits from the use of a non-current asset. 

 

 

N TO THE ACCOUNTS 

Page 292



Audit Completion Report

P
age 293



01
02
03
04
05
06
07

Contents

Executive summary
Status of the audit
Audit approach
Significant findings
Internal control recommendations
Summary of misstatements
Value for Money

Appendix A: Draft management representation letter
Appendix B: Draft audit report
Appendix C: Independence
Appendix D: Other communications

Our reports are prepared in the context of the ‘Statement of Responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies’ and the ‘Appointing Person Terms of Appointment’ issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited.
Reports and letters prepared by appointed auditors and addressed to the Authority are prepared for the sole use of the Authority and we take no responsibility to any member or officer in their individual capacity or to any third party.
Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an international advisory and accountancy group. Mazars LLP is registered by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

2

P
age 294



Audit and Governance Committee
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
1 Mann Island
Liverpool
L3 1BP

22 November 2022

Dear Committee Members

Audit Completion Report – Year ended 31 March 2022
We are pleased to present our Audit Completion Report for the year ended 31 March 2022. The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit conclusions.

The scope of our work, including identified significant audit risks and other areas of management judgement, was outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum which we presented at the July. We have reviewed our Audit Strategy
Memorandum and concluded that the original significant audit risks and other areas of management judgement remain appropriate.

We would like to express our thanks for the assistance of your team during our audit.

If you would like to discuss any matters in more detail then please do not hesitate to contact me on 07795 506766.

Yours faithfully

Mark Dalton
Mazars LLP

Mazars LLP

1 St Peters Square
Manchester

M2 3DE

Mazars LLP – One St Peter’s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE
Tel: 0161 234 9200 – www.mazars.co.uk
Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at 30 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7AU.
We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861. VAT number: 839 8356 73

P
age 295

http://www.mazars.co.uk/


Section 01:
Executive summary

P
age 296



1. Executive summary

Principal conclusions and significant findings
The detailed scope of our work as your appointed auditor for 2021/22 is set out in the National Audit Office’s
(NAO) Code of Audit Practice. Our responsibilities and powers are derived from the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and, as outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, our audit has been conducted in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) and means we focus on audit risks that we have
assessed as resulting in a higher risk of material misstatement.

In section 4 of this report, we have set out our conclusions and significant findings from our audit. This section
includes our conclusions on the audit risks and areas of management judgement in our Audit Strategy
Memorandum, which include:

• Management override of controls;

• Net defined benefit liability valuation;

• Valuation of property, plant and equipment; and

• Group Financial Statement Consolidation process.

Misstatements and internal control recommendations
Section 5 sets out internal control recommendations and section 6 sets out audit misstatements and
unadjusted misstatements.

Value for Money

Section 7 outlines our work on the Authority’s arrangements to achieve economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources.

Status and audit opinion
We have substantially completed our audit in respect of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022.

At the time of preparing this report, there are matters remaining outstanding as outlined in section 2. We will
provide an update to you in relation to the matters outstanding through issuance of a follow up letter.

Subject to the satisfactory conclusion of the remaining audit work, we have the following conclusions:

5

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

Audit opinion
We anticipate issuing an unqualified opinion, without modification, on the financial
statements. Our proposed audit opinion is included in the draft auditor’s report in     
Appendix B.

Value for Money
We anticipate having no significant weaknesses in arrangements to report in relation to the  
arrangements that the Authority has in place to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.  Further detail on our Value for Money work is provided 
in section 7 of this report. It is expected that work will be completed in early 2023.

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)
We have not yet received group instructions from the National Audit Office in respect of our 
work on the Authority’s WGA submission. We are unable to commence our work in this area 
until such instructions have been received.

Wider powers
The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the elector, the 
opportunity to question us about the accounting records of the Authority and to consider any 
objection made to the accounts. Whilst we have had correspondence with a local elector 
and considered an objection to the Authority’s accounts, there are no matters to bring to the 
Committee’s attention. Further details are provided on page 16.  

P
age 297



Section 02:
Status of the audit

6

P
age 298



2. Status of the audit

Audit area Status Description of the outstanding matters

Infrastructure Assets  We are awaiting resolution of a sector-wide accounting issue relating to how local
government bodies account for infrastructure assets.

Income & Expenditure 
We are awaiting a reconciliation of the revised organisational structure as disclosed within
the CIES to the prior year audited accounts and an associated disclosure note within the
2021/22 accounts.

Pensions  We are awaiting our standard assurances from the auditor of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP)  We are awaiting the workings papers behind the calculation of the Authority’s MRP.

Capital commitments  We are awaiting evidence to support one item selected for sample testing.

Cashflow Statement  We are awaiting responses to queries raised.

Consolidation  We are awaiting on working papers to support the group consolidation and the group
boundary assessment

Value for Money  Our value for money work remains in progress. To date we have not identified any risks
of significant weaknesses in the Authority's arrangements.

Manager and Engagement 
Lead review  Our audit work is undergoing the final stages of Manager and Engagement Lead review.

Audit finalisation  We will finalise our audit procedures, including updating our post balance sheet events
review on receipt of the final signed accounts and letter of representation.

7

Our work is substantially complete and there are currently no matters of which we are aware that would require modification of our audit opinion, subject to the outstanding matters detailed below.

Likely to result in material adjustment or 
significant change to disclosures within 
the financial statements.

Potential to result in material adjustment 
or significant change to disclosures 
within the financial statements.

Not considered likely to result in material 
adjustment or change to disclosures within 
the financial statements. 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

We will provide the Audit and Governance Committee with an update in relation to these outstanding matters in a follow-up letter, prior to signing the auditor’s report. 

P
age 299



Section 03:
Audit approach

8

P
age 300



3. Audit approach

Changes to our audit approach
We provided details of our intended audit approach in our Audit Strategy Memorandum in July 2022. We have
not made any changes to our audit approach since we presented our Audit Strategy Memorandum.

Materiality
Our provisional materiality at the planning stage of the audit was set at £10m for the group and £9m for the
single entity using a benchmark of circa 2% of gross operating expenditure. Our final assessment of materiality,
based on the final financial statements based upon 2% of gross operating expenditure increased to £11.5m for
the group and £10m for the single entity.

Reliance on internal audit
We have liaised with internal audit to discuss the progress and findings of their work. However, we have not
placed any reliance on their work.

Use of experts
Management makes use of experts in specific areas when preparing the Authority’s financial statements. As set
out in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, we also used experts to assist us to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence on specific items of account.

9

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

Item of account Management’s expert Our expert

Defined benefit pension liability Mercer – Actuary for the 
Merseyside Pension Fund

PwC – Consulting actuary appointed 
by the National Audit Office.

Property, Plant and Equipment 
valuation

District Valuer Service – Property 
services

We used available third-party 
information to challenge the valuer’s 
key assumptions

Financial instrument disclosures. Link Asset Services

We reviewed the expert’s 
methodology in calculating the fair 
value disclosures to confirm the 
reasonableness of assumptions used

Item of account Management’s expert Our expert

Payroll Expenditure CGI

We obtained assurance by
understanding the processes and
controls that the Authority has in place
to assure itself that transactions are
processed correctly. Our testing
included sample testing of transactions
based on evidence available from the
Authority rather than the shared service
provider.

Service Organisations
The table below summarises the service organisations used by the Trust and our audit approach.

There are no matters to highlight from our consideration of the work of experts or service 
organisations

P
age 301



Review procedures
Desk top review of the component’s financial 
information prepared for group reporting purposes 
using the component materiality assigned

3. Audit approach

Group audit approach
Our approach to the group audit is set out below (subject to our ongoing work on consolidation and the Authority's group boundary assessment as highlighted 
on page 7).

Our Audit Strategy Memorandum provided details of our intended group audit approach, including our initial assessment of group materiality. The table below 
confirms the approach we have taken in auditing LCRCA’s consolidated financial statements

Group component Approach adopted Key points or other matters to report

Merseytravel

We have
• completed full-scope audit procedures on Merseytravel’s financial statements 

and
• reviewed the consolidation process and adjustments made by LCRCA in 

preparing group financial statements.

Subject to the satisfactory completion of the limited outstanding procedures on 
Merseytravel’s financial statements, our work has provided the assurance we sought 
in the above areas and has not highlighted any material issues to bring to your 
attention.

Full audit
Performance of an audit of the component’s financial 
information prepared for group reporting purposes 
using component materiality. This covered 99% of  
group revenues and 97% of group total assets.

Audit of balances and/or disclosures
Performance of an audit of specific balances and/or 
disclosures included in the component’s financial 
information prepared for group reporting purposes, 
using component materiality. This covered 1% of 
group revenues and 3% of group total assets

Specific audit procedures
Performance of specific audit procedures on the 
component’s financial information 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

10

P
age 302



Section 04:
Significant findings

11

P
age 303



12

4. Significant findings

Management override of controls Description of the risk
Management at various levels within an organisation are in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare 
fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Due to the unpredictable way in which such override could occur there 
is a risk of material misstatement due to fraud on all audits.

How we addressed this risk
We addressed this risk through performing audit work over:

• accounting estimates impacting amounts included in the financial statements;

• consideration of identified significant transactions outside the normal course of business; and

• journals recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in preparation of the financial statements.

Audit conclusion

We have completed our planned audit procedures. There are no issues to bring to the Committee’s attention.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

In this section we outline the significant findings from our audit. These findings include:

• our audit conclusions regarding other significant risks and key areas of management judgement outlined in the Audit Strategy Memorandum;

• our comments in respect of the accounting policies and disclosures that you have adopted in the financial statements. On page 16 we have concluded whether the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the financial reporting framework and commented on any significant accounting policy changes that have been made during the year;

• any further significant matters discussed with management; and

• any significant difficulties we experienced during the audit.

Significant risks

P
age 304



13

Net defined benefit liability 
valuation

Description of the risk

The net pension liability represents a material element of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority’s balance sheet. Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) is an 
admitted body of the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF).

The valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme relies on a number of assumptions, most notably around the actuarial assumptions, and actuarial methodology which 
results in LCRCA’s overall valuation.

There are financial assumptions and demographic assumptions used in the calculation, such as the discount rate, inflation rates and mortality rates. The assumptions should also 
reflect the profile of LCRCA’s employees, and should be based on appropriate data. The basis of the assumptions is derived on a consistent basis year to year, or updated to 
reflect any changes.

There is a risk that the assumptions and methodology used in valuing LCRCA’s pension obligation are not reasonable or appropriate to  LCRCA’s circumstances. This could have 
a material impact to the net pension liability in 2021/22.

How we addressed this risk

We addressed this risk through:

• Critically assessing the competency, objectivity and independence of the MPF’s Actuary, Mercers;

• Corresponding with the auditors of the Merseyside Pension Fund to gain assurance that the controls in place at the Pension Fund are operating effectively. This included the
processes and controls in place to ensure data provided to the Actuary by the Pension Fund for the purposes of the IAS19 valuation is complete and accurate;

• Reviewing the appropriateness of the Pension Asset and Liability valuation methodologies applied by the Pension Fund Actuary, and the key assumptions included within the
valuation. This will include comparing them to expected ranges, utilising information provided by PWC, consulting actuary engaged by the National Audit Office; and

• Agreeing the data in the IAS 19 valuation report provided by the Fund Actuary for accounting purposes to the pension accounting entries and disclosures in LCRCA’s financial
statements.

Audit conclusion

As highlighted in Section 2, our work on the valuation of the net defined benefit liability remains in progress. We will report the findings from our work in our follow up letter.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

4. Significant findings
Significant risks (continued)

P
age 305



14

Valuation of property plant and 
equipment

Description of the risk

The CIPFA Code requires that where assets are subject to revaluation, their year end carrying value should reflect the fair value at that date.

LCRCA has adopted a rolling revaluation model which sees all relevant assets revalued in a five year cycle.

The valuation of Property, Plant & Equipment involves the use of a management expert (the valuers), and incorporates assumptions and estimates which impact materially on the 
reported value. There are risks relating to the valuation process.

As a result of the rolling programme of revaluations, there is a risk that individual assets which have not been revalued for up to four years are not valued at their materially 
correct fair value. In addition, as the valuations are undertaken through the year there is a risk that the fair value of the assets is materially different at the year end.

How we addressed this risk

We addressed this risk through:

• critically assessed the valuer’s scope of work, qualifications, objectivity and independence to carry out LCRCA’s programme of revaluations;

• considered whether the overall revaluation methodology used by LCRCA is in line with industry practice, the CIPFA Code of Practice and LCRCA's accounting policies;

• critically assessed the appropriateness of the underlying data and the key assumptions used in the valuer’s report, using available third party evidence;

• assessed whether valuation movements are in line with market expectations by using information available from other sources;

• critically assessed the approach that LCRCA adopts to ensure that assets not subject to revaluation since the last full valuation are materially correct, including considering the 
robustness of that approach in light of the valuation information reported by LCRCA’s valuers; and

• obtained an understanding of the Authority’s approach to ensure assets revalued through 2021/22 are materially fairly stated at the year end.

Audit conclusion

With the exception of the national infrastructure accounting issue highlighted in section 2 we have completed our planned procedures, there are no matters to bring to the
Committee’s attention.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

4. Significant findings
Significant risks (continued)

P
age 306



15

Group Financial Statement
Consolidation Process

Description of the management judgement
LCRCA has made judgements around which of its investments and interests in other bodies it consolidates into the Group Financial Statements, and how it consolidates the 
transactions and balances into the Group.

How we addressed this management judgement

Our approach to auditing the Group Financial Statements has been detailed on page 10.

We have reviewed the judgements relating to the entities that are assessed for consolidation into the Group financial statements, and we have reviewed and tested the method 
of consolidation of the Group entities into the Group financial statements. 

Audit conclusion
As highlighted in Section 2, our work on the Group Financial Statement Consolidation process is in progress. We will report the findings from our work in our follow up letter.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

4. Significant findings
Key areas of management judgement

P
age 307



16

4. Significant findings

Qualitative aspects of the Authority’s accounting practices
We have reviewed the Authority’s accounting policies and disclosures and concluded they comply with the
2021/22 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, appropriately tailored to the Authority’s circumstances.

Draft accounts were received from the Authority on 18 July 2022 in advance of the statutory deadline.

Significant matters discussed with management
During the audit we maintained a regular dialogue with management. Among the matters discussed through
these conversations were:

Covid-19
We continue to discuss the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Authority’s operations and financial
statements.

Impact of the War in Ukraine
The ongoing situation in Ukraine has far-reaching consequences for public sector organisations. As part of our
audit we have discussed with management the impact of the war on the Authority’s operations, and whether
any disclosures are required in the Authority’s financial statements. We are satisfied there are no issues arising
which would require specific disclosures in the Authority’s financial statements.

Accounting for infrastructure assets
The Authority holds a material value of Infrastructure Assets within its Property, Plant and Equipment balance
on the balance sheet. During 2021/22 a national technical issue arose in respect of accounting for infrastructure
assets. Normal custom and practice for (highways) infrastructure assets is that derecognition does not affect
asset balances because the assets are expected to have been fully used up before the replacement
expenditure takes place; this does require that assets are properly depreciated in line with the requirements of
the Accounting Code. This issue arises in part because of limitations on historical information relating to when
the assets were first recorded on balance sheets in the early 1990s, and where there have been transfers of
assets because of local authority reorganisations. It is also extremely difficult to clearly identify the parts of the
assets which are being replaced.

Work is ongoing to provide a sector-wide resolution to the issue. As the infrastructure asset balance is material
to the Authority, we are unable to conclude our audit until a resolution is in place. We will update the Audit and
Governance Committee on the outcome as part of our follow-up letter.

Significant difficulties during the audit
During the course of the audit we did not encounter any significant difficulties and we have had the full co-
operation of management.

Wider responsibilities
Our powers and responsibilities under the 2014 Act are broad and include the ability to:

• issue a report in the public interest;

• make statutory recommendations that must be considered and responded to publicly;

• apply to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law; and

• issue an advisory notice under schedule 8 of the 2014 Act. 

We have not exercised any of these powers as part of our 2021/22 audit. 

The 2014 Act also gives rights to local electors and other parties, such as the right to ask questions of the 
auditor and the right to make an objection to an item of account. 

We have had correspondence with a local elector and considered an objection to an item of account within the 
Authority’s Financial Statements. We found no evidence to indicate that the item of account was contrary to law 
or that a report in the public interest was required.  

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 308



Section 05:
Internal control recommendations

17

P
age 309



5. Internal control recommendations

The purpose of our audit was to express an opinion on the financial statements. As part of our audit we have
considered the internal controls in place relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures to allow us to express an opinion on the financial statements but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control or to identify any significant deficiencies in their
design or operation.

The matters reported are limited to those deficiencies and other control recommendations that we have
identified during our normal audit procedures and that we consider to be of sufficient importance to merit being
reported. If we had performed more extensive procedures on internal control we might have identified more
deficiencies to be reported or concluded that some of the reported deficiencies need not in fact have been
reported. Our comments should not be regarded as a comprehensive record of all deficiencies that may exist or
improvements that could be made.

Our findings and recommendations are set out below. We have assigned priority rankings to each of them to
reflect the importance that we consider each poses to your organisation and, hence, our recommendation in
terms of the urgency of required action (using the adjacent categories).

Priority ranking Description Number of issues

1 (high) In our view, there is potential for financial loss, damage to 
reputation or loss of information. This may have implications 
for the achievement of business strategic objectives. The 
recommendation should be taken into consideration by 
management immediately.

None

2 (medium) In our view, there is a need to strengthen internal control or 
enhance business efficiency. The recommendations should 
be actioned in the near future. 

1

3 (low) In our view, internal control should be strengthened in these 
additional areas when practicable.

2

18

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 310



5. Internal control recommendations

Internal Control recommendations – Level 2

Description of deficiency 

Our audit identified an number of accruals which were not supported by the audit evidence provided. Actual information had been received prior to the production of the accounts although the accrual had not been 
adjusted to reflect this updated information.

Potential effects

There is a risk that income and expenditure is misstated.

Recommendation

The authority should enhance its current arrangements for reviewing accruals as they move closer to finalising their statutory accounts.

Management response

The Authority does have a process for checking accruals however our understanding is that the issue arises as a consequence of the delay between the publication of the accounts and the audit process. 
Management will look to review and enhance processes however this will be kept under review as the period between account closure and audit is realigned.

19

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 311



5. Internal control recommendations

Internal Control recommendations – Level 3

Description of deficiency 

Senior officers and Councillors are required to make annual declarations of interests for review and inclusion in the Authority's related party disclosure were relevant. At the start of the audit one such declaration 
had not been received (this was subsequently received by the end of the audit process).

Potential effects

There is a risk that related party interests may be omitted from the related parties note in the financial statements.

Recommendation

The Authority should strengthen its arrangements for the collection of year end declarations of related party interests to ensure all such returns from senior officers and members are received on a timely basis.

Management response

Agreed – detailed responses to follow

20

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 312



5. Internal control recommendations

Internal Control recommendations – Level 3

Description of deficiency 

Our audit of IT design and implementation identified that password configuration did not comply with best practices.

Potential effects

There is an increased risk of unauthorised access

Recommendation

The Authority should enforce special characters and uppercase characters in the password configuration settings to meet industry best practices. 

Management response

Agreed – detailed responses to follow

21

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 313



Section 06:
Summary of misstatements

22

P
age 314



Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement

Balance Sheet

Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000) Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000)

1 Dr: Expenditure (Employee costs) 1,125

Cr: Income (recharges) 1,125

An error was identified from agreeing the statement of accounts to the trial balance relating to the allocation of employee costs. A journal was incorrectly posted to correct an identified error, which resulted in 
an understatement of income and expenditure by £1.1m.

Total unadjusted misstatements 1,125               1,125

6. Summary of misstatements

23

Unadjusted misstatements

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

This section outlines the misstatements identified during the course of the audit, above the trivial threshold for adjustment of £300k.

The first table outlines the misstatements that were identified during the course of our audit which management has assessed as not being material either individually or in aggregate to the financial statements and does not
currently plan to adjust.

The second table outlines the misstatements that have been adjusted by management during the course of the audit.

P
age 315



6. Summary of misstatements

24

Adjusted misstatements

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

There were no adjusted misstatement above the trivial threshold.

P
age 316



6. Summary of misstatements

25

Disclosure amendments
The following disclosure errors have been updated in the revised version of accounts:

• Note 25 Prior Period Adjustments (PPA) – PPAs detailed in note 25 and affecting the main statements relating to the Sandon Loan (£1.25m) and Halton Levy (£3.2m) have been removed as these were not code
compliant.

• Note 6 Grant Income (Single Entity) - additional restrictions grants had been incorrectly stated by £7,277k. This should have been disclosed as “Adult Education Funding”

• Note 8 Expenditure and Funding Analysis - Adjustments in Respect of 2021/22 - an amount of £14,147k had been included within 'Other income and expenditure from the funding analysis which related to net cost of
services.

• Exit packages – an exit packages note, omitted in error, has been added to the single entity accounts.

In addition to the above, the Authority will need to update the LCRCA group accounts where appropriate.

A small number of minor presentational issues during our audit of the financial statements and these have all been amended by the Authority.

If any misstatements are identified on completion of the outstanding audit work highlighted in section 2, these will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in a follow-up letter.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 317



Section 07:
Value for Money

26

P
age 318



Approach to Value for Money
We are required to consider whether LCRCA has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources. The NAO issues guidance to auditors that underpins the work we are
required to carry out and sets out the reporting criteria that we are required to consider. The reporting criteria
are:

• Financial sustainability - How the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to
deliver its services

• Governance - How the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness - How the Authority uses information about its costs
and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services

At the planning stage of the audit, we undertake work to understand the arrangements that LCRCA has in place
under each of the reporting criteria and we identify risks of significant weaknesses in those arrangements.
Although we describe this work as planning work, we keep our understanding of arrangements under review
and update our risk assessment throughout the audit to reflect emerging issues that may suggest significant
weaknesses in arrangements exist.

The table overleaf outlines the risks of significant weaknesses in arrangements that we have identified, the risk-
based procedures we have undertaken, and the results of our work.

Where our risk-based procedures identify actual significant weaknesses in arrangements we are required to
report these and make recommendations for improvement. Where such significant weaknesses are identified,
we report these in the audit report.

The primary output of our work on LCRCA’s arrangements is the commentary on those arrangements that
forms part of the Auditor’s Annual Report. We intend to issue the Auditor's Annual Report in early 2023.

Status of our work 
We are yet to complete our work in respect of LCRCA’s arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2022.  At 
the time of preparing this report, we have not identified any significant weaknesses in arrangements that require 
us to make a recommendation, however we continue to undertake work on LCRCA’s arrangements.  

Our draft audit report at Appendix B outlines that we have not yet completed our work in relation to the 
LCRCA’s arrangements. As noted above, our commentary on LCRCA’s arrangements will be provided in the 
Auditor’s Annual Report in early 2023. 

7. Value for Money

27

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 319



Appendices

A: Draft management representation letter

B: Draft audit report

C: Independence

D: Other communications

P
age 320



Appendix A: Draft management representation letter

29

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

To be provided to us on client headed note paper

Mazars LLP
One St Peter’s Square
Manchester
M2 3DE

[Date]

Dear Mark

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority - audit for year ended 31 March 2022

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) for the year ended 31 March 2022 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to
whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 (the Code) and applicable law.

I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to
satisfy myself that I can properly make each of the following representations to you.

My responsibility for the financial statements and accounting information

I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Code and applicable law.

My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information

I have provided you with:

• access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other material;

• additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and

• unrestricted access to individuals within the Authority you determined it was necessary to contact in order to obtain audit evidence.

I confirm as Finance Director of Corporate Services that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware of this information.

As far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are unaware.

Accounting records

I confirm that all transactions that have a material effect on the financial statements have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. All other records and related information, including 
minutes of all Board and committee meetings, have been made available to you. 

P
age 321



Appendix A: Draft management representation letter (continued)

Accounting policies

I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in accordance with Code and International Accounting Standard 8 and consider these policies to faithfully represent the effects of transactions, other 
events or conditions on the Authority’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value

I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the Authority in making accounting estimates, including those measured at current or fair value, are reasonable.

Contingencies

There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that should be accrued where:

• information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the balance sheet date; and

• the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either or both the conditions specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may have 
been incurred at the balance sheet date.

There are no undisclosed contingent gains which should be disclosed.

All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the Authority have been brought to your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when 
preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to you and accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the Code and applicable law.

Laws and regulations

I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve known or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual or contingent consequences which may arise 
therefrom.

The Authority has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the accounts in the event of non-compliance.

30

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 322



Appendix A: Draft management representation letter (continued)

Fraud and error

I acknowledge my responsibility as Finance and Corporate Services Director for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud and error. 

I have disclosed to you:

• all the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud;

• all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Authority involving:
• management and those charged with governance;
• employees who have significant roles in internal control; and
• others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the Authority’s financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

Related party transactions

I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances, have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Code and applicable law.

I have disclosed to you the identity of the Authority’s related parties and all related party relationships and transactions of which I am aware.

Future commitments

I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities.

Subsequent events

I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Code and applicable law, require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

Should further material events occur after the date of this letter which may necessitate revision of the figures included in the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I will advise you accordingly.

31

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 323



Appendix A: Draft management representation letter (continued)

Covid-19

I confirm that the Authority has carried out an assessment of the potential impact of the Covid-19 Virus pandemic on the Authority, including the impact of mitigation measures and uncertainties, and that the disclosures in the 
Narrative Report fairly reflects that assessment.

Impacts of Russian Forces entering Ukraine

I confirm that I have carried out an assessment of the potential impact of Russian Forces entering Ukraine on the Authority, including the impact of mitigation measures and uncertainties.

Going concern

To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the Authority will not continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future. The period to which I have paid particular attention in assessing the appropriateness of the 
going concern basis is not less than twelve months from the date of approval of the accounts.

Unadjusted misstatements 

I confirm that the effects of the uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. All uncorrected misstatements are included in Appendix A

Yours faithfully

Finance and Corporate Services Director

32

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 324



Appendix B: Draft audit report

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 March 2022, which comprise  LCRCA and Group Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statements, the Authority and Group Movement in Reserves Statements, LCRCA and Group Balance Sheets, LCRCA and Group Cash Flow Statements, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2021/22.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of LCRCA and the Group as at 31st March 2022 and of  LCRCA ’s and the Group’s expenditure and income for the year then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our 
report. We are independent of LCRCA and Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Director of Corporate Services’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on LCRCA's ability to continue as a going concern 
for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Director of Corporate Services with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

33

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 325



Appendix B: Draft audit report (continued)

Other information 

The Director of Corporate Services' is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Governance Statement and information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Director of Corporate Services' for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts, the Director of Corporate Services' is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial 
statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The 
Director of Corporate Services' is also responsible for such internal control as the Director of Corporate Services' determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

The Director of Corporate Services is required to comply with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 and prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, on 
the assumption that the functions of LCRCA will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Director of Corporate Services' is responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for LCRCA 
and Group to prepare its accounts on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. Based on our understanding of the Authority, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to the Local Government Act 2003 (and associated regulations made under section 21), 
the Local Government Finance Acts of 1988, 1992 and 2012, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

34

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 326



Appendix B: Draft audit report (continued)

We evaluated the Director of Corporate Services' incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls) and determined that the principal risks were related to 
posting manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates  and significant one-off or unusual transactions. 

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to those identified risks, including non-compliance with laws and regulations (irregularities) and fraud that are material to the financial statements. Our audit procedures included but 
were not limited to:

• discussing with management and the Audit Committee the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations;

• communicating identified laws and regulations throughout our engagement team and remaining alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout our audit; and

• considering the risk of acts by LCRCA and the Group which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud. 

Our audit procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to:

• making enquiries of management and the Audit Committee on whether they had knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

• gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;

• discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and

• addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with management and the Audit Committee. As with any 
audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal controls.

We are also required to conclude on whether the Director of Corporate Services’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. We performed our work in accordance 
with Practice Note 10: Audit of financial statement and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom, and Supplementary Guidance Note 01, issued by the National Audit Office in September 2021.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

35

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 327

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


Appendix B: Draft audit report (continued)

Report on LCRCA’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

Matter on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if, in our view, we are not satisfied that LCRCA has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.

We have not completed our work on the Authority’s arrangements. On the basis of our work to date, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021, we have not identified any 
significant weaknesses in arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

We will report the outcome of our work on LCRCA’s arrangements in our commentary on those arrangements within the Auditor’s Annual Report. Our audit completion certificate will set out any matters which we are required to 
report by exception. 

Responsibilities of LCRCA

LCRCA is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources

We are required under section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy ourselves that LCRCA has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We 
are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of LCRCA’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Code of Audit Practice

We are required by the Code of Audit Practice to report to you if:

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;

• we make a recommendation under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or

• we exercise any other special powers of the auditor under sections 28, 29 or 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

36

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 328



Appendix B: Draft audit report (continued)

Use of the audit report

This report is made solely to the members of LCRCA, as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited 
Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the members of LCRCA those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the members of LCRCA, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Delay in certification of completion of the audit

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate until we have completed:

• the work necessary to issue our assurance statement in respect of LCRCA’s Whole of Government Accounts consolidation pack;

• the work necessary to satisfy ourselves that LCRCA has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

[Signature]

Mark Dalton– Key Audit Partner
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP

One St Peter’s Square
Manchester
M2 3DE

37

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 329



38

Appendix C: Independence

As part of our ongoing risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or perceived threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors.

We can confirm that no new threats to independence have been identified since issuing the Audit Strategy Memorandum and therefore we remain independent.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 330



Other 
communication Response

Compliance with 
Laws and 
Regulations

We have not identified any significant matters involving actual or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

We will obtain written representations from management that all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be 
considered when preparing financial statements have been disclosed.

External 
confirmations

We did not experience any issues with respect to obtaining external confirmations.

Related parties We did not identify any significant matters relating to the audit of related parties. 

We will obtain written representations from management confirming that:

a. they have disclosed to us the identity of related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions of which they are aware; and

b. they have appropriately accounted for and disclosed such relationships and transactions in accordance with the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework.

Going Concern We have not identified any evidence to cause us to disagree with managements assessment  that the Authority will be a going concern, and therefore we consider that the use of the going 
concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation of the financial statements.

39

Appendix D: Other communications

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 331



40

Appendix D: Other communications

Other 
communication Response

Subsequent events We are required to obtain evidence about whether events occurring between the date of the financial statements and the date of the auditor’s report that require adjustment of, or disclosure 
in, the financial statements are appropriately reflected in those financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

We will obtain written representations from management that all events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the applicable financial reporting 
framework requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

Matters related 
to fraud

We have designed our audit approach to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement due to fraud. In addition to the work 
performed by us, we will obtain written representations from management, and Audit and Governance Committee, confirming that

a. they acknowledge their responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud;

b. they have disclosed to the auditor the results of management’s assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud;

c. they have disclosed to the auditor their knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving:

i. Management;

ii. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

iii. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements; and

d. they have disclosed to the auditor their knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entity’s financial statements communicated by employees, former 
employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 332



Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 
and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 
expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 
Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

One St Peter’s Square
Manchester
M2 3DE

Mark Dalton, Director –Public Services
mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk

P
age 333



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes

	4 Audit Committee Function
	Enc. 1 for Audit Committee Function

	5 Internal Audit Update
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Update

	6 Annual Fraud Update
	Enc. 1 for Annual Fraud Update
	Enc. 2 for Annual Fraud Update
	Enc. 3 for Annual Fraud Update
	Enc. 4 for Annual Fraud Update
	Enc. 5 for Annual Fraud Update
	Enc. 6 for Annual Fraud Update

	7 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 2 for Risk Management Update

	8 LCRCA External Audit 21/22
	Enc. 2 for LCRCA External Audit 21/22
	Enc. 1 for LCRCA External Audit 21/22
	Slide Number 1
	Contents
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Slide Number 27
	Slide Number 28
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	Slide Number 33
	Slide Number 34
	Slide Number 35
	Slide Number 36
	Slide Number 37
	Slide Number 38
	Slide Number 39
	Slide Number 40
	Slide Number 41



